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Defendant U.S. Tobacco Cooperative Inc. (the “Cooperative”), by and through the
undersigned counsel, pursuant to Paragraph 24 of this Court’s Order Preliminarily Approving
Settlement (“Preliminary Approval Order”), Dkt. 63, hereby respectfully responds to the
objections to the Settlement (collectively, “Objections”).!

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Settlement provides constructive, reasonable and satisfying means of resolving years
of protracted, costly litigation, with tens of millions of dollars (no small sum for this Cooperative)
being paid for the benefit of class members rather than for the Cooperative’s otherwise-continuing
litigation defense. None of the objections to the Settlement addresses the substance of the claims
at issue or even purports to outline why or how class members might realistically hope to achieve
a better result through the end of trial and any appeal.

While asserting that the Settlement is inadequate, no objector soberly analyzes the actual
strength of their case on the merits, in light of operative facts and law; instead the objectors at best
offer wishful allusions to the Cooperative’s total assets. Their approach is thoroughly
misconceived: No rational assessment of a particular class-action suit against Google, for instance,
could soundly derive the projected, risk-adjusted recovery simply as a percentage of Google’s

$750+-billion market capitalization. Yet that is precisely the extent of the analysis that Mr. Sharp’s

' On December 20, 2017, the Cooperative filed its response to the objections of Melvin

M. McElveen, James A. Miles, James D. Miles, and Nellirea Miles (collectively, the “Miles
Objections™). See Dkt. 84, 123. On January 8, 2018, the Cooperative filed its response to the
objection of Robert Louis Worley. See Dkt. 90, 220. On January 10, 2018, the Cooperative filed
its response to the objection of Billy Alan Kirby, Jr. See Dkt. 91, 227. This Omnibus Response
is incorporated by reference in those submissions and addresses all other docketed objections,
including those objections postmarked after the Court’s December 20, 2017 objection deadline.
See Dkt. 198, 200, 201, 202, 203, 212, 223, 224.

The Cooperative will also be respectfully submitting, for the Court’s convenience, a hyper-
linked electronic copy of this Response and all supporting documents, in addition to the courtesy
hard copy required by this Court’s Practice and Procedures.
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lone putative expert, Dr. Harrison, now advances before this Court. As Dr. Harrison testified at
deposition yesterday, defending the analysis advanced in his declaration supporting Mr. Sharp’s
declaration, “If there’s a class action lawsuit brought against Google by shareholders seeking the
dissolution of Google,” he would on that basis “calculate the upper bound of the appropriateness
of any settlement by referring to the $120 billion” in shareholder equity, just as he has here with
the Cooperative’s so-called reserve. Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 110:8-111:22. Of course,
such a barebones calculus is utterly unhelpful here when it comes to assessing actual litigation
prospects against the Cooperative.
Once operative facts and law are duly considered, numerous and severe flaws in Plaintiffs’
claims become apparent. Among other things:
e All of the conduct at issue is expressly authorized by, inter alia, the North Carolina
statute that authorizes the Cooperative’s existence and operation, the Cooperative’s
Articles of Incorporation and by-laws, and the Cooperative’s marketing agreements
with its members.
e The “reserve” that underlies Plaintiffs’ overall claim is itself a false construct, as
the vast bulk of the “reserve” is comprised of illiquid assets that are indispensable

to the Cooperative’s ongoing, irreproachable day-to-day operations.

e The Cooperative’s good-faith decision-making is protected by law against second-
guessing by Plaintiffs or any other challengers.

e The Cooperative retained and accumulated the funds at issue over its lengthy
history, dating back over four decades, such that Plaintiffs’ claims are untimely.

e Pursuant to the stock certificates issued to each member by the Cooperative, the

maximum amount of damages available to any one Plaintiff is expressly capped at
$5 per member.

Complete failure of Plaintiffs’ entire case, with $0.00 recovery, is no mere theoretical
prospect. In fact, it is the empirical result of parallel litigation to date. When members of the class
brought a series of individual suits against the Cooperative in Georgia, seeking the same relief and

invoking the same theories that Plaintiffs do here, they lost on final judgment as to every one, as
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affirmed on appeal. See, e.g., Rigby v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 339 Ga.
App. 558, 794 S.E.2d 413 (2016) (“Rigby”). Even though Rigby is the only case attacking the
Cooperative’s reserve that has reached final judgment, and thus provides on-point, definitive
evidence of how similar suits are likely to fare, Mr. Sharp’s purported expert on the adequacy of
this settlement, Dr. Glenn Harrison, testified at deposition that he had not been informed about
Rigby, nor did he “want to know more about that case” to inform his opinions.? Similarly, sworn
testimony from objectors themselves confirms the weakness of their claims, including large gaps
and fundamental misunderstandings about their supposed legal and factual bases. Once critical
defects are accounted for, Plaintiffs’ likely recovery is likely to be much closer to $0.00 than it is

to the current Settlement of $24 million.’

As such, the Settlement amply satisfies Rule 23’s
requirement that it be fair, reasonable, and adequate. For the reasons set forth and substantiated
herein, the Cooperative respectfully submits that the Settlement provides generous, certain

recovery to the Class Members, pursuant to a fair distribution scheme, and that it should be finally

approved.

2 See Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 83:16-20; 85:2-8, 86:1-16.

3 Some objectors see a prior proposed settlement from a decade ago as a baseline indicator
that this Settlement is unfair. Their perspective is understandable but misconceived. The prior
proposal is an artifact of the past and thoroughly divorced from sound legal analysis today, as well
as from the fairness or adequacy of the Settlement as proposed. Judge Bullock, no less than the
parties, was well aware of the previous settlement figure when he conducted the mediation leading
to the Settlement. But the outdated proposal was no substitute, then or now, for rational, risk-
discounted analysis of what class members should actually expect to recover through continued
litigation. Indeed, the settlement figures under discussion a decade ago had little to do with the
facts and law as they existed then, let alone as they exist today. The earlier settlement was
proposed at a time when the federal price-support program for tobacco was just ending, when the
Cooperative was first exploring how to position itself in the modern marketplace, and when
political (as distinct from legal) considerations loomed large. In the years since, the Cooperative
has completed its transition to the post-price-support era and has made operational commitments
and investments that it must now sustain for the benefit of current and future tobacco growers. All
of this is further discussed and substantiated here. See infra Statement of Facts § E; Part VI.A.
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A few objectors and their counsel have nonetheless mounted a fierce campaign to prevent
the Settlement from being approved, largely in deference to the parallel case proceeding in North
Carolina state court, Lewis v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 05 CVS 188 (N.C.
Super. Ct.); Fisher v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 05 CVS 1938 (N.C. Super.
Ct.) (as consolidated, “Fisher-Lewis”). Without establishing why they should recover a greater
sum in court, however, representatives of the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs miss the mark. Neither they
nor their expert explain why the class’s legal claims have any real merit. Of course, the mere
desire of a (miniscule) subset of the class to pursue class-wide litigation in a different forum (with
different class counsel and fee structure) does not provide a good basis to disapprove the
Settlement for the benefit of class members. Under well-established case law, overlapping class
actions frequently proceed in parallel until one reaches final judgment. That some class members
hoped that Fisher-Lewis would result in a final judgment first does not mean this Settlement is
unfair or should not be approved. Nor does the fact that the Cooperative entered into the
Settlement with one set of named plaintiffs versus another mean that the Settlement is the product
of collusion. The Settlement was in fact mediated by a retired federal judge, after two days of
intensive, hard-fought, arm’s-length negotiation. Far from being the weaker set of plaintiffs, the
Plaintiffs here posed a greater threat than the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs in important respects,
including that these Plaintiffs sought to dissolve the Cooperative in its entirety, as opposed to
limiting themselves (as the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs have) to whatever portion of the Cooperative’s
retained funds is calculated to exceed a “reasonable” reserve.

Given the numerosity of the class and the common issues of law and fact, a class action is
the best way to resolve this case, as North Carolina courts have already ruled. With so much costly

litigation looming, this Settlement will provide definitive resolution of the Cooperative’s liability
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while ensuring a fair and reasonable payment that flows directly and efficiently to Plaintiffs
themselves, without still more of the Cooperative’s limited resources being drained by counsel for
either side. Final approval is the correct, lawful, and just result from the perspective of class
members themselves, as well as the Cooperative. The proof of that is in the substantive pudding
of the record and submissions now before this Court. The Cooperative respectfully urges this
Court to grant final approval and encourages all members of the class—thousands of whom have
already submitted claims—to continue participating in the Settlement and submitting their claims
in the months ahead.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Cooperative’s Organizing Documents Give Broad Authority To The
Board; Nothing Limited The Cooperative’s Purpose To Price Support

The Cooperative, originally known as the Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization
Corporation, was organized in 1946 pursuant to the North Carolina Cooperative Marketing Act,
N.C.G.S. § 54-129 et seq. The Cooperative Marketing Act gives marketing associations, including
the Cooperative, broad powers to “engage in amy activity in connection with the producing,
marketing, selling . . . processing . . . or utilization of any agricultural products produced or
delivered to it by its members and other farmers; or the manufacturing or marketing of the by-
products thereof,” to “borrow money,” and to “establish reserves and invest the funds . . . in
bonds or such other property as may be provided in the bylaws.” Id. § 54-151(1), (2), (5)
(emphasis added). The Cooperative’s Articles of Incorporation confirm its broad powers to
“engage in any activity in connection with the marketing, selling[,] processing, manufacturing],]
or utilization of flue-cured tobacco . . . or the manufacture or marketing of products or by-products

derived therefrom, or in the financing of any such activity,” and vest the Cooperative’s Board of
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Directors (“Board”) with authority to “enact and determine” its by-laws. Dkt. 123-8 (Articles of
Incorporation, Art. VII, Art. X) at SC 16256-57, 16259.
From the beginning, the Cooperative’s by-laws have correspondingly empowered the

99 ¢¢

Board to “conduct, manage and control the affairs and business of the association,” “[t]o make and
enter into agreements for the processing, manufacturing, warehousing . . . and marketing of the
tobacco handled by the association or the products or by-products derived therefrom, including the
leasing or purchasing of warehouses and other facilities,” and to borrow money “for any corporate
purposes.” Ex. A (1947 Bylaws, Art 111, § 1(a), (d), Art. XV) at SC-GA 10774, 10780.

Neither the stock certificates issued to each member by the Cooperative nor the marketing
agreements entered into by individual members and the Cooperative have ever purported to limit
the Cooperative’s purpose or powers. The stock certificate states that any producer who patronizes
the Cooperative can be a member. Dkt. 73-29 (Sample Stock Certificate). The Cooperative used
several versions of the marketing agreement over its history, but they all provide generally that the
grower agrees to sell tobacco to the Cooperative, and that the Cooperative agrees to receive,
handle, and sell it, “in accordance with terms of such program as [the Cooperative] may announce.”

Ex. DD (Sample Marketing Agreement).

B. The Cooperative Establishes A Reserve During The Tobacco Price Support
Program

From 1946 to 2004, the Cooperative administered the Tobacco Price Support Program, a
federal price-support program for flue-cured tobacco. See Declaration of Ed Kascuta dated Jan.
11, 2018, 9 12 (“Kacsuta Decl.”). Under this Program, tobacco growers agreed to limit their
production in exchange for a minimum price guarantee, backed by the federal government. Id. If
tobacco buyers, such as cigarette companies, did not purchase from farmers any of the tobacco

grown pursuant to quota, the Cooperative would purchase that tobacco at the guaranteed price and
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then market it to tobacco buyers. Id. To finance its purchases of tobacco, the Cooperative
borrowed from the Commodity Credit Corporation (“CCC”), an arm of the United States
Department of Agriculture (“USDA”). Id. Until 1982, the CCC’s loans were “nonrecourse” and
were collateralized only by the tobacco the Cooperative purchased in any given crop year. Id.
9 14. Consequently, the CCC bore losses for any crop years in which the Cooperative did not
resell tobacco above the guaranteed price; on the flip side, the CCC did not reap any benefits when
the Cooperative resold tobacco above the guaranteed price. See id. 4 15.

The Cooperative generally lost money on the purchase (using loans from the CCC) and
subsequent resale of tobacco during this time period, with the U.S. Treasury effectively picking
up the tab for the loss. Id. § 14. In none of those years were any of the Cooperative’s members
made to make up the shortfall between the guaranteed price they had been paid for their tobacco
and the lower price for which their tobacco was actually sold. See id. 4 13. For the 1967 through
1973 crop years, however, there was a felicitous anomaly insomuch as the Cooperative turned a
profit on the tobacco it purchased. /d. § 15. The Cooperative distributed a portion of those profits
to members in cash, but the Board elected to keep approximately $26.8 million as a reserve and
issued Capital Equity Credits redeemable at the Board’s discretion to growers in lieu of cash. /d.
99 16, 19. The Cooperative openly explained to its membership that it was electing to build the
reserve fund to “maintain the viability of [the Cooperative] during periods of limited receipts and
operations” and “prepare for rainy days.” Dkt. 73-4 (December 1975 Newsletter) at SC-GA3398;
see also Ex. B (February 1976 Letter to Members) at SMF00331 (“The uncertainty in connection
with the future of the tobacco program points up the wisdom and practical necessity of [the
Cooperative] maintaining a capital reserve to be used if needed to continue operations and to meet

other unforeseen emergencies.”). The Cooperative was and has always been expressly authorized
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to maintain a capital reserve pursuant to North Carolina law, the Cooperative’s Articles of
Incorporation, and the Cooperative’s by-laws. See N.C.G.S. § 54-151; Dkt. 123-8 (Articles of
Incorporation, dated as of June 1, 1946) at Art. VII(g); Ex. A (By-laws dated June 3, 1947) at Art.
XVI; see infra Part V.A. No member of the Cooperative challenged the establishment of the
reserve at that time. Declaration of Jimmy Hill, dated Jan. 11, 2018, 9 18. (“Hill Decl.”) .

In 1982, Congress enacted the No Net Cost Act in an attempt to protect taxpayers from
continuing losses under the Tobacco Price Support Program. Around that time, there was
significant opposition to the Program because of its high costs to the U.S. Government; supporters
of the Program responded to lobbying efforts to terminate the Program by developing the No Net
Cost Act legislation. Declaration of Randal R. Rucker, Ph.D., 4 23 (“Rucker Decl.”); Hill Decl.
9 17. The No Net Cost Act required tobacco farmers to pay an additional assessment (essentially,
a tax) on the tobacco they sold. Kacsuta Decl. 4 20. During the No Net Cost era, the Cooperative
collected those assessments. /d. 9 23. In doing so, however, the Cooperative served merely as the
middleman, collecting assessments on behalf of the CCC and holding those assessments in an
account maintained and controlled by the CCC; the Cooperative did nof retain those assessments
for its own use.* Id. Although originally only growers paid assessments, Congress soon amended
the No Net Cost Act to require that assessments also be paid by tobacco buyers (starting in 1986)
and importers (starting in 1993). See P.L. 97-218; P.L. 99-272; P.L. 103-66. The No Net Cost

Act also required that any net gains earned by the Cooperative in any given year be paid to the

4 From 1982 to 1985, the Cooperative held the assessments in a fund that it controlled and
issued certificates of retain and preferred stock to members. But this triggered tax burdens for the
Cooperative’s members, who had to report certificate receipts as income and pay taxes on it even
though the payment of cash patronage was effectively impossible. So, in 1985, the Cooperative
moved the money into an account controlled by the CCC, thereby eliminating the adverse income-
tax consequence and offsetting the adverse tax implications growers had suffered. Ex. C
(December 1985 Newsletter) at SC 09979; Kacsuta Decl. 9 21-22.
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CCC to cover losses from prior and subsequent years, thereby effectively eliminating the
Cooperative’s ability to pay patronage dividends. Kacsuta Decl. 420. The Cooperative continued
to administer the Tobacco Price Support Program during this time, always paying members the
full federally-guaranteed price for tobacco it received (less the assessment), even though it
regularly sold growers’ tobacco for less than the price paid to growers. See id. 9 23-24.

The funds held in the No Net Cost account could be used only for limited purposes, as set
forth in the No Net Cost legislation: under the original legislation, the No Net Cost assessments
could be used only to ensure that the CCC suffered no net losses under its loan agreements with
the Cooperative (P.L. 97-218); in 1983, the statute was amended to permit other uses, including
those approved by the United States Secretary of Agriculture (P.L. 98-180). The assessments in
the account—which were collected from growers, buyers, and importers alike, and whose use was
limited to purposes specified by federal law—did not belong to the Cooperative’s members. See
infra Part V.C.

In 1990—eight years after Congress enacted the No Net Cost Act—the CCC, at the
Cooperative’s request, agreed to use the assessments that had been collected from the 1982-1984
crop years to redeem the loans it had provided to the Cooperative to purchase the 1982 crop.
Kacsuta Decl. 9§ 24. The CCC then granted the remaining unsold tobacco from that crop year to
the Cooperative: in a June 1990 letter, the USDA wrote that, with the CCC’s approval, the
Cooperative “may retain the sales proceeds resulting from the sale of the remainder of the 1982
crop inventory once the 1982 loan account with CCC is closed.” Dkt. 217-2 (Jun. 8, 1990 letter)
at SC 08740 (emphasis added). The Cooperative sold that tobacco at a profit. Kacsuta Decl. § 24.

The CCC similarly agreed in 1992 to use money in the account (which had been collected in 1984
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and 1986 to redeem loans provided in 1983 and 1984)° to release unsold tobacco inventory from
the relevant crop years to the Cooperative. Id. q 26.

As it had done in 1975, the Cooperative elected to hold the approximately $110 million it
earned from the sale of such tobacco in reserve. Id. 9 24. The Cooperative promptly informed its
members of the decision, explaining that it would hold the funds in reserve because, if the Tobacco
Price Support Program were to disappear, “the Board of Directors would be in position with
surplus No Net Cost funds and reserves to operate a program to protect and stabilize the market
for flue-cured tobacco growers. Dkt. 123-18 (July 1990 Newsletter) at SC-GA3625 (emphasis
added). The Cooperative did not allocate these funds to the membership, but simply recorded
them on the stockholder’s equity portion of its balance sheet as “Additional Paid-In Capital.” Ex.
E (1993 Financial Statements) at SC 01308. Again, no member of the Cooperative challenged the
Board’s decision to hold these funds in reserve for future operations. Kacsuta Decl. q 27;
Declaration of Charlie Batten, dated Jan. 11, 2018, 9 18 (“Batten Decl.”).

C. The Cooperative Overcomes The End Of The Tobacco Price Support Program

During the Tobacco Price Support Program, the Cooperative acquired tobacco leaf (freshly
grown tobacco), processed it, and sold the processed leaf to tobacco manufacturers, but had no
other lines of business. /d. §32. In the late 1990s to early 2000s, the Cooperative’s Board became
increasingly aware that the Tobacco Price Support Program would likely be coming to an end, not
least because the No Net Cost Act had ultimately failed to protect taxpayers from losses and
because the subsidization of tobacco had drawn the ire of public-health advocates. See Hill Decl.

94 12; Declaration of Andrew Quinn Shepherd, dated Jan. 11, 2018, 99 14-15 (“Shepherd Decl.”)

> The assessments used to pay off the 1983-1984 loans consisted of the No Net Cost
assessments from 1984, and a special “crop excess Graham-Rudman-Hollings (GRH) assessment”
that Congress had imposed in 1986. Ex. D at SC 08650.
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Because the market for flue-cured tobacco was declining, especially domestically, the Board
understood that the Cooperative would need to establish alternative lines of business in order to
continue to serve flue-cured tobacco growers and to continue buying their crop each year.

Even before Congress terminated the Program, the Board considered ways of supporting
its members once federal price support for tobacco disappeared. See Shepherd Decl. 9 14-17.
Anticipating the Program’s end, the Board decided in June 2004, after receiving management’s
recommendation and deliberating extensively, to purchase a tobacco manufacturing and
processing facility located in Timberlake, North Carolina. Kacsuta Decl. 9 34; Shepherd Decl.
9 17. The Cooperative’s 2004 Annual Report specifically explained to members that it decided to
purchase the Timberlake facility because it “must promote and sell [its] own products if [it]
want[ed] to continue producing tobacco’; this facility would enable the Cooperative to become “a
full service marketing cooperative” that would be able to produce and sell “tobacco strips, cut rag,
puffed stems, and cigarettes under one roof.” Dkt. 123-17 (2004 Annual Report) at page 5.

In October 2004, Congress enacted the Fair and Equitable Tobacco Reform Act
(“FETRA”), thereby ending the Tobacco Price Support Program, precisely as long foreseen by the
Cooperative and its Board. FETRA provided flue-cured tobacco growers, including the
Cooperative’s members, with a significant “buyout”—that is, payments—financed by cigarette
manufacturers. Hill Decl. 4 27; Shepherd Decl. 4 20. The upshot was that tobacco growers each
received buyouts pegged to their respective quotas; depending on quota size, these buyouts were
often quite large, even as high as millions of dollars. Hill Decl. § 27; Rucker Decl. § 24.

Separate from the substantial buyouts, FETRA included a provision requiring the CCC to
call its remaining loans. Kacsuta Decl. § 29. As required, in March 2005, the CCC called those

loans, took possession of the remaining funds in the No Net Cost account held by the Cooperative,

11
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 23 of 129



and took possession of the tobacco the Cooperative had purchased using the CCC’s loans. /d. The
CCC sold some of that tobacco and applied the funds from the No Net Cost account to help cover
outstanding loan balances. /d. Certain No Net Cost funds, on the order of $7 million, were routed
by the CCC to the Cooperative specifically for the Cooperative to distribute directly to growers,
and the Cooperative proceeded to do precisely that without controversy or complaint. /d. 9 30.
The CCC then ceded the remaining tobacco to the Cooperative pursuant to FETRA, 7 U.S.C.
§ 519. Id.° In a 2005 letter to the Cooperative, the USDA specifically stated that “[o]nce this
tobacco has been transferred to the [Cooperative], the [Cooperative] may utilize these lots of

tobacco in_any manner that it desires.” Dkt. 123-16 (2005 Letter to Lioniel Edwards) at SC

016058(emphasis added). The Cooperative booked this tobacco as an inventory asset and as
“Contributed Capital” on its balance sheet, and ultimately sold it for approximately $81 million
dollars. Kacsuta Decl. 9 29.

In early 2005, the Board considered distributing capital to members. Hill Decl. 99 31-33.
After receiving management’s recommendation that it not distribute funds, and after duly
considering a motion to distribute funds, however, the Board decided to retain capital so that it
could be strategically deployed to support tobacco growers and the flue-cured tobacco industry in

the post-FETRA era, when federal subsidies and federal support are no longer available. /d. 4 34.

®  The amount of tobacco that was retained by the CCC versus transferred to the

Cooperative was determined according to a formula in the FETRA legislation. 7 U.S.C. § 519.
The assessments and tobacco inventory given to the CCC upon FETRA was not sufficient to
compensate the CCC for the net losses it had incurred in administering the price-support program.
These losses were only compensated through assessments imposed on cigarette manufacturers. 7

U.S.C. §§ 518d, 518e, 519.
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D. The Cooperative Executes A Successful Post-FETRA Strategy

Throughout its existence, the Cooperative has sought to (1) maintain and increase the price
of tobacco; (2) increase the amount of tobacco that it purchases, by boosting larger market demand;
and (3) best position itself to pay patronage dividends to its membership. Kacsuta Decl. 9 31.
These are the Cooperative’s goals because its membership benefits when the price of tobacco is
relatively high and when there is consistent demand for tobacco products. /d. 44 53-54. To achieve
these goals, the Cooperative has made a number of strategic business decisions (in addition to the
Timberlake acquisition). Among those decisions were:

e The Cooperative sought to expand demand for flue-cured tobacco by seeking
customers overseas, most notably in Japan and in China, which is now the
Cooperative’s biggest customer. Id. § 35.

e The Cooperative launched its own cigarette brand, “1839.” Id. q 36.

e The Cooperative acquired Premier Manufacturing and the cigarette brands
“Wildhorse,” “First Class,” “Shield,” and “Ultra Buy,” thereby enabling it to sell
more tobacco grown by members in its own products and to take advantage of a
valuable exemption to the Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement (“MSA™).” Id.
919 36-37.

e The Cooperative acquired two new distribution subsidiaries to permit better
distribution of its products. Id. 9 38.

e The Cooperative constructed a new green tobacco storage facility, increasing the
yield it could generate from members’ tobacco. Id. § 40.

e The Cooperative acquired King Maker Marketing, Inc. and the cigarette brands
“Ace,” “Hi-Val,” “Gold Crest,” and “Checkers,” continuing to sell member-grown
tobacco in cigarettes that were previously manufactured in India and to take
advantage of additional tax exemptions associated with the MSA. Id. § 36.

7 The MSA, an agreement between cigarette companies and forty-nine state attorneys

general, charges cigarette manufacturers a tax per carton of cigarettes. The Cooperative’s brands
are permanently exempted from that tax obligation unless their market share exceeds a certain
percentage of the total market, thereby allowing the Cooperative to realize a greater profit on the
sale of cigarettes. Kacsuta Decl. 4 37.
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Many of these decisions—particularly the acquisitions—are necessarily costly, and the
Cooperative has used its funds, supplemented with additional debt, to pursue and sustain them. /d.
9 45. By comparison, the large tobacco manufacturers the Cooperative competes against have
resources that dwarf those of the Cooperative. Id. 4 51. The Cooperative remains hard pressed,
therefore, to compete effectively on market terms while making maximum, strategic use at all
times of its available funds. /d.

Once the CCC stopped offering loans to purchase tobacco, the Cooperative lost its
financing for purchasing millions of pounds of tobacco from its members. /d. 4 42. Given the
considerable lag between when the Cooperative buys tobacco from members and then sells it,
which can take three years or longer, the Cooperative required substantial upfront financing. /d.
To obtain the financing necessary to allow it to purchase greater quantities of green tobacco from
members, the Cooperative acquired a line of credit from a private bank. /d. § 43. Currently, the
Cooperative may borrow up to $195 million against this line of credit at favorable interest rates.
Id. To secure its favorable interest rates, however, the Cooperative must keep substantial cash-on-
hand and investments to serve as collateral, lest it default. Id. 9 44. As such, the Cooperative is
obliged to deploy reserve funds to collateralize the line of credit and maintain compliance with its
financing agreements. Id. 9 44-45.

At present, the profitable consumer-products business effectively subsidizes the
Cooperative’s unprofitable purchases of green leaf and sales of processed leaf. The latter is what
directly benefits member-growers by enabling them to grow a greater volume of tobacco, and to
obtain a better price for it, than they otherwise would. Id. q§ 47; Rucker Decl. ] 49-51. In
particular, the Cooperative makes a concerted effort to set an early, higher price for flue-cured

tobacco, thereby raising the market price for both members and non-members alike. Kacsuta Decl.
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9 54. The Cooperative can afford to pay these higher prices to growers only thanks to the profits
it earns through the non-leaf businesses. Kacsuta Decl. § 50; Rucker Decl. 9 46-47. Similarly,
the Cooperative is able to maintain and to grow its profits from the non-leaf business only thanks
to its aggressive efforts to market its products, its leafs, and flue-cured tobacco internationally.
Kacsuta Decl. 9 35, 51.

The Cooperative’s post-FETRA strategy has demonstrably worked. The Cooperative is
meeting its stated goals. Because of the consumer-products side of the business, the Cooperative
has been able to distribute patronage dividends to its members throughout recent years. Id. 99 55-
56. The Cooperative paid $24.3 million in cash patronage dividends from 2011-2016 (and issued
a similar amount in equity credits). Id. § 56. Continuing to deliver and to maximize the annual
patronage dividend for growers—while maintaining a sustainable business—remains a top priority
for the Cooperative and its Board. /d. The Cooperative also offered the 1967-1973 Capital Equity
Credit Holders the opportunity to redeem their Credits for cash. /d. § 57. The Cooperative opened
the first redemption period in 2011, and thereafter continually opened redemption periods through
2017. Id. Despite opening these redemption periods for six years, only $5.5 million of these
Credits were redeemed. /d.

For all of its demonstrated success, the Cooperative still faces difficult decisions about how
it can best serve current and future growers of flue-cured tobacco consistent with its limited
resources and challenging market decisions. /d. 4 52. In particular, the Cooperative and its Board
in today’s era must decide how to allocate contracts among members who consistently want to
deliver more tobacco than the Cooperative can afford to purchase each year. Id. § 53. In making
agonizing decisions about such matters, the Cooperative and its Board are mindful of the need to

operate sustainably, so that the Cooperative can continue its mission for the benefit of future
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generations of growers. Id. § 52. Consistent with that imperative, one way to accommodate
growers’ excess demand for the Cooperative’s contracts is—in simple terms—by trimming
contract poundage across the board, or across wide swaths of growers. 1d.q 53. Another way is
by altogether dropping low-performing growers. Id. Needless to say, these decisions are not easy
for the Cooperative or its Board. The less resources the Cooperative has available, however, the
more it needs to make them. /d. What the Cooperative strives to do is to continue to grow the
overall market for its tobacco products so that it can sell them profitably, and on that basis increase
the total poundage of annual leaf it can contract to buy from growers. Id. 4 53.

E. The Cooperative’s Current Financial Position

As of April 30, 2017, the Cooperative had approximately $522 million in assets, $173
million in liabilities, and $349 million in shareholders’ equity. Ex. F (2017 Financial Statements)
at USTC-FL000874. The Additional Paid in Capital, Capital Equity Credits, and Contributed
Capital—the funds that Plaintiffs and objectors claim must be distributed—are entries on the
stockholders’ equity portion of the balance sheet. /d.; Kacsuta Decl. § 69. They do not reflect
cash on hand at the Cooperative, and they are not reserves. Kacsuta Decl. 99 68-69.

Rather, the Cooperative holds only approximately $11.5 million in “cash and cash
equivalents,” as shown on the asset side of the balance sheet. Id. 4 71; Ex. F at USTC-FL000874.
The Cooperative’s remaining assets consist of $52 million in accounts receivable (i.e., monies
owed the Cooperative on tobacco it has already sold and delivered); $129.6 million in inventories
(mainly tobacco that conservatively will take years to sell); $40.6 million in property, plant, and
equipment (primarily the Timberlake facility); and $156.5 million in intangible assets. Kacsuta
Decl. 949 72-75. Notwithstanding their status on the balance sheet, none of these assets could be
profitably liquidated. /d. The remaining material asset—3$129.5 million in investments in interest-

bearing obligations—collateralizes the line of credit. Id. § 71. Selling these assets would require
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the Cooperative to attempt to renegotiate its credit agreement, which would under the best of
circumstances result in higher financing costs and inure to the detriment of its members. Any
diminishment of the assets would reduce the amount of money that the Cooperative could borrow
and, consequently, reduce the amount of tobacco it could purchase from members. /d.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Fisher-Lewis Action

In January 2005, a few months after FETRA was enacted, Dan Lewis (among others),
represented by Shipman & Wright (currently co-counsel to Plaintiffs here), brought suit in North
Carolina Superior Court (the “State Court”), challenging the Cooperative’s decision-making
respecting its reserve funds.® The following month, Kay Fisher (among others), represented by
Philip Isley and Alan Runyan, brought a similar suit.” Both cases asserted that the Cooperative
must distribute reserve funds.

The Cooperative engaged in settlement negotiations with the Lewis plaintiffs. Dkt. 73
(Opposition to Intervention Motion) at 6-7. The Fisher plaintiffs, however, expressed no interest
in settlement. After voluntary discovery and extensive negotiation, the Cooperative and the Lewis
plaintiffs reached a proposed settlement that was submitted to the State Court for approval in
September 2005 (the “2005 Settlement”). The 2005 Settlement contemplated a payment by the
Cooperative on the order of $76.8 million in cash distributions (i.e., redemption of the Capital
Equity Credits and payment of a $50 million cash settlement fund) and book allocations of the

Additional Paid-In-Capital and retained earnings, based on the Cooperative’s status at the time

8 See Lewis v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 05 CVS 188 (N.C. Super.
Ct.).

? See Fisherv. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 05 CVS 1938 (N.C. Super.
Ct.).
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FETRA was ending and the premium the Board placed on appeasing former growers to the fullest
possible extent. See Hill Decl. 99 33-36. Upon objections from the Fisher plaintiffs (represented
by Isley and Runyan), the State Court denied preliminary approval “without prejudice” and
concluded that the Fisher plaintiffs “shall be entitled to undertake discovery on the merits of the
proposed Settlement.” Dkt. 70-2 (May 9, 2006 Order) at 4-5. Thereafter, the parties engaged in
further discovery and conducted multiple-day settlement conferences in 2008, but they were
ultimately unsuccessful. Shipman & Wright withdrew as counsel for the Lewis plaintiffs in
September 2007 due to disagreements with co-counsel.

The Lewis and Fisher plaintiffs subsequently consolidated and filed an amended and
consolidated complaint. At its core, the consolidated Fisher-Lewis complaint, like the one here,
seeks distribution from the Cooperative’s reserve. The Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs moved to certify a
class, which motion was granted in 2014 and affirmed by the North Carolina Supreme Court in
December 2016. Dkt. 73-8 (Dec. 21, 2016 North Carolina Supreme Court Class Certification
Decision). Since then, litigation in Fisher-Lewis has proceeded in the State Court pursuant to the
operative Case Management Order.

B. The Speaks Action

This Action was filed in October 2012 by Teresa Speaks and eight other plaintiffs,
challenging the same conduct and seeking the same funds at issue in Fisher-Lewis. Although it
challenged the same conduct, this Action posed a bigger threat to the Cooperative in significant
ways. First, unlike the plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis, the Plaintiffs in this Action made a demand on
the Cooperative’s Board, thereby endeavoring to obviate a potential affirmative defense that had
been prominently raised—specifically, that the Fisher-Lewis theories are in whole or in part
foreclosed as derivative. Dkt. 64 (Amended Class Action Complaint) 4] 6; see also Dkt. 73-8 (Dec.

21, 2016 North Carolina Supreme Court Class Certification Decision) at 11-12. Second, the
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Plaintiffs here sought dissolution, a more drastic remedy that stood to enhance their negotiating
leverage and raise their ceiling on damages. Dkt. 64 (Amended Class Action Complaint) 9 97-
102. The Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs did not seek to intervene in this Action at the time, nor did they
raise any concerns about this parallel action for some five subsequent years.

This Action was stayed pending resolution of class certification in Fisher-Lewis. When
Fisher-Lewis was remanded to the trial court in early 2017, the Cooperative and Plaintiffs here
discussed the implications of the North Carolina Supreme Court’s affirmance, agreed that this case
was not moot, outlined potential next steps, and in turn began to discuss exploring a possible
resolution of the case through settlement. The Parties agreed to engage The Honorable (Ret.)
Frank W. Bullock, Jr. as a neutral mediator.!® Prior to the mediation, which took place on May
11-12, 2017, each Party submitted mediation statements to Judge Bullock and the Cooperative
voluntarily produced documents to the Plaintiffs as requested.

As a courtesy, the Cooperative informed the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs on or around April 20,
2017 that the Parties in this Action planned to mediate. The Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs did not ask to
participate. On May 5, 2017, prior to the mediation, counsel to the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs instead
sent a letter to Plaintiffs’ counsel here. Specifically, Bob Cherry wrote to Gary Shipman: “If we
have not heard from you by 5 pm on Monday, May 8, 2017 that either the mediation will not occur
as scheduled or that it will go forward but just as to the individual interests of the Speaks Plaintiffs,
we will assume your intent to mediate all claims that fall within the Speaks putative class

designation.” Dkt. 73-20 (May 5, 2017 letter from B. Cherry) at 3-4. Three days later, Mr.

10 Judge Bullock served for 24 years on the Middle District of North Carolina and now
practices at Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP. See Womble Bond Dickinson, “Judge Frank
W. Bullock, Jr.” https://www.womblebonddickinson.com/uk/people/judge-frank-w-bullock-jr
(last visited Jan. 3, 2018).
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Shipman made clear that the mediation in this Action would in fact proceed as planned and stated:
“I am sure that you are aware and have researched the impact, if any, of class certification in the
state court Lewis case and a competing putative class action in Federal Court, a dynamic which is
not unique . . . suffice it to say that [it] is our firm belief that both the Lewis case and the Speaks
case are free to proceed until there is a final judgment in one of them.” Dkt. 73-21 (May 8, 2017
letter from G. Shipman) at 3.

Before the mediation, the Cooperative provided these letters to Judge Bullock.
Furthermore, before the mediation took place, the Parties met with Judge Bullock to discuss the
letters and the parallel Fisher-Lewis case, including its history and the terms of the 2005
Settlement. The Parties also submitted to Judge Bullock competing mediation statements setting
forth their positions, legal analyses, and rationales. Over the course of two intensive days, the
Parties then hashed out what began as starkly divergent positions and worked hard, with Judge
Bullock’s supervision and guidance, to explore reasonable middle ground. See Hill Decl. q 4;
Shepherd Decl. § 3. Towards the end of the second day, the Parties reached agreement in principle
on a settlement whose terms are described in this Court’s preliminary approval order and further
detailed below.

The Parties promptly reported to this Court, as well as the State Court, that an initial
settlement had been reached, and that the Parties were continuing to finalize its terms and hoping
soon to submit a proposed settlement for preliminary approval. Dkt. 52 (June 5, 2017 Motion for

Status Conference); Dkt. 73-22 (June 9, 2017 Status Report to the State Court); Dkt. 73-23 (June
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22,2017 Status Report to the State Court). On September 7, 2017, Plaintiffs moved for preliminary
approval,!! which the Court granted on September 13, 2017. Dkt. 63.

On September 15,2017, Dan Lewis, a named plaintiff in Fisher-Lewis, moved to intervene
in this case and urged the Court to vacate the Preliminary Approval Order. Dkt. 70. Among other
things, Mr. Lewis argued that the Settlement was not fair or adequate in light of prior settlement
offers from 12 years ago, and chastised the Parties’ “failure” to “adequately inform the Court” of
these outdated settlement proposals (as well as settlement offers that never went anywhere). Dkt.
70-1 (Memorandum in Support of Intervention Motion), at 12-13. This Court considered the
motion on an expedited basis (consistent with impending notice expenditures and deadlines) and
denied it, finding that intervention was not timely given that Mr. Lewis had known about this
Action for years and about the Settlement for months: “This court refuses to endorse a wait-and-
see strategy designed to disrupt a preliminary settlement at the eleventh hour.” Dkt. 82 at 2-4. The
Court also found that the intervention motion “lack[ed] merit.” Id. at 4.

The Court set a hearing for January 19, 2018 to consider final approval of the Settlement,
and required class members who disapproved of the Settlement terms to either object or opt-out
by December 20, 2017. Dkt. 63, 77.

C. Efforts In Fisher-Lewis To Disrupt The Settlement Case

While seeking to intervene in this Court, the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs opened another line of
attack in the State Court, filing on September 22, 2017 a “Motion to Show Cause [or for]
Sanctions,” Dkt. 73-25, claiming that the Cooperative’s mediation and settlement proposal in this

case violated North Carolina’s Rules of Professional Conduct, as well as the State Court’s Case

! Plaintiffs submitted an amended motion for preliminary approval on September 8, 2017
to reflect non-substantive changes. Dkt. 60.
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Management Order. That motion amounted to a collateral attack on proceedings in this Court,
going so far as asking the State Court to order the Cooperative to “withdraw any offer made to any
person or attorney other than class counsel [in State Court] to resolve the claims in this case,” and
to “prohibit [the Cooperative] from participating . . . in providing notice” for the Settlement. Dkt.
73-25 at 15.'2 By written order on October 13, 2017, the State Court denied the requests for
contempt and sanctions, but ordered the Cooperative to produce communications that it and its
counsel had with opposing counsel in this case. The State Court also found—contrary to the
Cooperative’s submissions—that the Cooperative could not communicate with members of the
Fisher-Lewis class (which, as discussed below, is co-extensive with the class in this proceeding),
without violating Rule 4.2 of the North Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct.!* Dkt. 123-2.
This ruling has ever since hampered the Cooperative’s ability to answer in good faith basic factual
inquiries from current and former tobacco growers (and their loved ones) who seek simply to
understand this Settlement and to obtain information helpful to claims submissions (although this
role has been served well by the efforts of the Claims Administrator and opposing counsel). When

the Cooperative recently sought relief from the State Court’s order simply to the extent of being

12 Fisher-Lewis was reassigned to the Honorable A. Graham Shirley on October 5, 2017,
following recusal by the prior judge.

13 As the Cooperative submitted to the State Court, its communications with opposing

counsel here should not be deemed to violate Rule 4.2°s proscription against contacting
represented parties without the presence of counsel. Alternatively, even if contact with opposing
counsel could be construed as contact with represented parties—and it should not be—the
American Bar Association has made clear that, in the class-action context, an attorney-client
relationship sufficient to implicate Rule 4.2 does not arise “until the class has been certified and
the time for opting out by a potential member of the class has expired.” ABA Formal Op. 07-
445 (emphasis added). North Carolina’s Rules are directly derived from the ABA Model Rules.
See North Carolina State Bar, “Rules of Professional Conduct,” http://www.ncbar.gov/for-
lawyers/ethics/rules-of-professional-conduct (last visited Jan. 6, 2018). Because the opt-out
period in Fisher-Lewis continued through October 27, 2017, the Cooperative’s May-September,
2017 mediation and settlement discussions could not possibly have violated Rule 4.2.
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able to supply basic membership information in response to inquiries, that request was opposed by
counsel for Fisher-Lewis and denied.

The Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs returned to the State Court on November 28, 2017, submitting
a “Motion for Rule 23(c) Review of Compromise,” urging the State Court to review the Settlement
as pending before this Court and to hold that it is “not approved,” at least for purposes of achieving
preclusion. Dkt. 123-3 (subject to seal); Dkt. 124 (filed under seal with the Court). The
Cooperative has opposed this request in written submissions and at hearing before the State Court,
which, as of the date hereof, has not issued a ruling.

D. Terms Of The Settlement

The Settlement defines the proposed settlement class of Plaintiffs as follows:
All individuals, proprietorships, partnerships, corporations, and other
entities that are or were shareholders and/or members of U.S. Tobacco at
any time during the Class Period, without any exclusion, including any
heirs, representatives, executors, powers-of-attorney, successors, assigns,

or others purporting to act for or on their behalf with respect to U.S.
Tobacco and/or the Settled Claim. Dkt. 60-1 at 7.'4

The Settlement Class includes approximately 800,000 members and extends to all current
and former members of the Cooperative, as well as their heirs, assigns, representatives, efc., across
the United States. Under the Settlement, the Cooperative agreed to pay $24 million into a
Settlement Fund over a five-year period: (1) 75% of the Fund will initially fund “Group 1,” to be
allocated to claimants on a pro rata basis according to the number of pounds they marketed and
sold to the Cooperative (subject to a $15,000 cap per claimant); and (2) 25% of the Fund (plus any
remaining funds carried over from Group 1) will fund “Group 2,” to be allocated to claimants on

a pro rata basis according to the number of years in which the claimant marketed and sold flue-

14 Capitalized terms not defined otherwise herein have the meanings given them in the

Settlement Agreement. Dkt. 60-1.
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cured tobacco. Id. at 12-14. Claimants will be paid the total allocation amounts from both Group
1 and Group 2.

The Settlement provides for a release of all claims by the Settlement Class against the
Cooperative related to any of the conduct or matters at issue in this Action. Id. at 24. By its
express terms, the Settlement will not go into effect until and unless Fisher-Lewis is dismissed or
enjoined. /d. at 8. As this Court has recognized, it has long been clear to all concerned, including
the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs and their counsel, that preclusion of Fisher-Lewis and any other parallel
class action would be a necessary precondition to the Cooperative funding any class-action
settlement. Id.; Dkt. 63 (September 13, 2017 Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement).

The Parties, with the Claims Administrator—Rust Consulting (“Rust”)—have developed
a detailed protocol setting out the procedure Rust will use to verify claims, determine allocation,
and distribute payments to authorized claimants, consistent with the Settlement terms. Dkt. 217-
6 (Supplemental Stinehart Declaration) at 9-10.

E. Notice Program
The Parties provided notice of the Settlement to known and potential class members. Dkt.
63 (September 13, 2017 Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement) at 6-7; Dkt. 217-5 (January 5,
2018 Wheatman Declaration). The Notice Program was designed to provide constitutionally
adequate notice and builds in complementary components in order to maximize its nationwide
reach and prominence:
e Direct Mail Notice in the form of Postcard Notices mailed pursuant to the

Cooperative’s historical membership records and research to identify or confirm
present mailing addresses;

e Paid Media Notice through national and local publications—including internet,
print, and television advertising; and

e Earned Media coverage through a press release.
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Dkt. 58-1 (September 7, 2017 Wheatman Declaration) at 5; Dkt. 217-5 (January 5, 2018
Wheatman Declaration) at 2.

As Dr. Wheatman attests, each element of the Notice Program approved by the Court was
implemented. Dkt. 217-5 at 2-3. Dr. Wheatman concludes that the Notice Program achieved each
of the planned objectives, reaching at least 70% of the Class Members. /Id. at 10. She further
opines that the three-part notification program affords the best notice practicable under the
circumstances pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Id. at 10-11.

F. Coordinated Submission Of Objections Led By Fisher-Lewis Plaintiffs

The Court has received 72 Objections to the Settlement, most of which are substantially
similar. These Objections make clear that plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis and their counsel have
sponsored the objection campaign in this Action, while, as explained above, the Cooperative has
been prevented from communicating with members of the class (even when fielding basic
inquiries). The Objections largely replicate the same points, often in identical language, if not on
identical forms, and, as such, are less distinct than the docket might otherwise suggest:

e An objection initially filed by Pender Sharp, Dkt. 92,' is copied nearly word-for-
word, in full or partially, by an additional 11 objectors, Dkt. 127, 137, 144, 145,
149, 156, 163, 175, 186, 196, 221.

e Chandler Worley, a named plaintiff in Fisher-Lewis, filed an objection, Dkt. 100,
on a template form (presumably provided by counsel in Fisher-Lewis) that was used
by an additional 17 objectors, Dkt. 101, 104, 107, 109, 111, 114, 115, 139, 174,
198, 200, 201, 202, 203, 212, 223, 224. Mr. Worley is a brother of Chandler and
Alford Worley, who are both named representative in Fisher-Lewis, as well as
Dennis Worley, who is among class counsel in Fisher-Lewis.

e Members of the Vick family (E. Jerome Vick, Diane V. Vick, Charlotte D. Vick,
and Lynwood J. Vick) filed an objection on behalf of Vick Family Farms

15 Mr. Sharp filed two objections. Dkt. 92, 192. The Cooperative notes that the
Preliminary Approval Order does not include provisions for filing multiple sets of objections and
questions the propriety of Mr. Sharp’s second objection even while responding in full.
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Partnership through counsel, Dkt. 162, which was copied nearly word-for-word by
other objectors, Dkt. 187, 190.

e Pender Sharp filed two objections, the second of which was submitted by and
through the same set of counsel who now serve as class counsel in Fisher-Lewis.
Dkt. 192.

e 18 pro se objectors filed objections stating that they anticipated class counsel in
Fisher-Lewis would file an objection and incorporating their argument. Dkt. 100,
101, 104, 107, 109, 111, 114, 115, 139, 174, 198, 200, 201, 202, 203, 212, 223,
224,

Although they are not among the named plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis, it bears noting that Mr.
Sharp and Mr. Vick are key players there:
e Mr. Sharp was deposed in Fisher-Lewis and testified that he participated in an
initial meeting with class counsel in early 2005, along with Mr. Vick and other
farmers, acting as a “cheerleader” for the case. Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 70-

80.

e Named plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis testified that Mr. Sharp and Mr. Vick asked them
to sign on as a named plaintiff. Ex. H (K. Hill Deposition) at Tr. 9-10.

e Mr. Sharp and Mr. Vick sent a letter to other farmers in 2005, after Fisher-Lewis

was filed, to explain the purpose of the lawsuit and to collect signatures. Ex. G
(Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 115-25.

Class counsel in Fisher-Lewis, acting as Mr. Sharp’s counsel for his objections, also
procured declarations from the Commissioners of Agriculture of three states, Dkt. 192-6, 192-13,
192-14, while simultaneously preventing Cooperative personnel from communicating with the
North Carolina Commissioner, Steven Troxler, based on the State Court’s order the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs obtained addressing the Cooperative’s communications with class members. See Dkt.
192-10 (October 13, 2017 State Court Order). While Commissioner Troxler is himself a class
member and is privately represented by Fisher-Lewis counsel to that extent, it is worth noting that

he has not objected to the settlement or opted out in his individual capacity.
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G. The Instant Sharp Objection

Notably, Mr. Sharp, who is one of the ringleaders in Fisher-Lewis and as a lead objector in
this Action, is not even a member of the class. His objection is submitted on behalf of himself
individually and on behalf of Sharp Farms, Inc. Dkt. 192, at 1. Although our attempt to depose
Mr. Sharp specifically for present purposes met with objections by the Fisher-Lewis counsel here
appearing on his behalf, see Ex. I (Jan. 4, 2018 email from P. Isley to K. Forst, et al.), Mr. Sharp
has testified under oath in Fisher-Lewis that (1) he was never individually a member of the
Cooperative;'® and (2) he has never been a shareholder of Sharp Farms, Inc. and rather his father
and brother have “always been the only two shareholders.” Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 14-
15. Because the available evidence shows that Mr. Sharp is not a class member, he has no standing
to object in this Action,!” and the Cooperative is respectfully requesting, as reflected in a separate
motion to strike, that the Court strike his objections and deny his request to appear at the final
fairness hearing. Dkt. 92, 192. Nevertheless, while reserving its rights and incorporating by
reference its relevant motion to strike as filed in parallel, the Cooperative herein responds to Mr.
Sharp’s objections in full.

H. The Cooperative’s Successful Defense In Rigby

In addition to the North Carolina litigation in federal and state court, the Cooperative also

faced five identical actions in Georgia Superior Court (each joined by a series of individual

16 Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 17 (Q: “Have you ever individually been a member of
[the Cooperative]? A: “Not individually.”).

17 See Dkt. 63 (Preliminary Approval Order) at 8 (stating that “/a/ny Settlement Class
Member who has not submitted a timely request for exclusion from the Settlement Class and who
wishes to object to the fairness, reasonableness, or adequacy of the Settlement may, but need not,
submit comments or objections regarding the proposed Settlement . . . .””) (emphasis added).
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plaintiffs), including the lead case captioned Rigby v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization
Corp., No. 07 C 236 (Ga. Super. Ct.) (“Righy”).!*

Just like the Plaintiffs in this Action and the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs, the Georgia plaintiffs
alleged claims that all sought, at bottom, to either dissolve the Cooperative or obtain a significant
distribution from its reserve on the theory that the Cooperative impermissibly retained funds.

Of all the lawsuits related to the Cooperative’s retention and use of its reserve, Rigby is the
only one that has been litigated to final judgment. The Cooperative there won a total victory.
Between 2012 and 2015, the Cooperative obtained judgments in its favor disposing of every claim
brought by the Righy plaintiffs.!” Among other things, the Georgia court sided with the
Cooperative and rejected the Rigby plaintiffs’ claims that they were entitled to a judicially-
mandated distribution from the Cooperative in any form or fashion—ruling, inter alia., that the
plaintiffs’ claims related to the Cooperative’s failure to distribute the reserve funds were time-
barred. Final dismissal has been affirmed by the Georgia Court of Appeals, Righy v. Flue-Cured
Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., 339 Ga. App. 558, 794 S.E.2d 413 (2016), reconsideration

denied (Nov. 18, 2016), cert denied (June 5, 2017), and the Georgia Supreme Court denied

8 The other cases are Swain v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C
237 (Ga. Super. Ct.); Altman v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 238 (Ga.
Super. Ct.); Griffis v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 240 (Ga. Super.
Ct.); and Lee v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop. Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 239 (Ga. Super. Ct.).
These actions, which were filed in 2007, were not class actions but rather brought by
approximately two dozen plaintiffs in total, in their individual capacities.

19 Dkt. 73-13 (June 15, 2012 Order on Motion for Summary Judgment); Dkt. 73-14
(October 18, 2012 Order on Motion to Dismiss); Dkt. 73-15 (January 3, 2013 Order on Motion to
Dismiss or for Summary Judgment); Dkt. 73-16 (March 28, 2014 Georgia Court of Appeals
Decision); Dkt. 73-17 (July 13, 2015 Order on Motion for Summary Judgment).
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certiorari.?’ A series of individual suits in Georgia that were lined up behind Righy have also been

dismissed. Ex.J (Voluntary Dismissals).?!

% % %

All of the objections—including Mr. Sharp’s objections (brought through class counsel in
Fisher-Lewis), the Commissioners’ affidavits, and the pro se objections—recite the same
arguments as to why this Settlement is not fair, reasonable, and adequate. Among their recurring
themes are that (1) the Court lacks subject-matter jurisdiction; (2) this Court should defer to Fisher-
Lewis; (3) the value of the Settlement is inadequate; (4) the outdated 2005 Settlement proves that
this Settlement is unfair; (5) the Settlement was the product of collusion; (6) the distribution of
funds is unfair to certain class members; (7) the claims administration process does not adequately
identify class members; (8) the scope of the release is overbroad; and (9) the members have
received insufficient notice. The objectors further argue—seemingly without regard for their
irreconcilable support of class certification in Fisher-Lewis—that this class cannot be certified
under Rule 23 because (1) there are intra-class conflicts; (2) a class action is not a superior method
to resolve this dispute; and (3) class counsel is inadequate. Finally, certain of the named plaintiffs
in Fisher-Lewis seek to effectuate a purported class-wide opt-out by all members of the certified
class in Fisher-Lewis.

For the reasons set forth below, the objectors’ contentions lack merit, and this Settlement

should be finally approved as fair, reasonable, and adequate.

20 Dkt. 73-18 (November 3, 2016 Georgia Court of Appeals Decision); Dkt. 73-19 (June
5, 2017 Denial of Certiorari Petition by Georgia Supreme Court).

2l The Georgia plaintiffs filed voluntary dismissals without prejudice. On December 11,

2017, the Cooperative filed a motion to vacate the voluntary dismissals and enter dismissal with
prejudice in each of the remaining cases, which motions are currently pending. See Ex. K.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

A class action “may be settled, voluntarily dismissed, or compromised only with the court’s
approval.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e). The Court may approve a settlement binding absent class
members “only after a hearing and on a finding that it is fair, reasonable, and adequate.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 23(c); see In Re Jiffy Lube, 927 F.2d 155, 158-59 (4th Cir. 1991); Scardelletti v. Debarr,
43 Fed.Appx. 525, 528 (4th Cir. 2002). To determine the proposed settlement’s adequacy, the
Court must consider “(1) the relative strength of the plaintiffs’ case on the merits, (2) the existence
of any difficulties of proof or strong defenses the plaintiffs are likely to encounter if the case goes
to trial, (3) the anticipated duration and expense of additional litigation, (4) the solvency of the
defendants and the likelihood of recovery on a litigated judgment, and (5) the degree of opposition
to the settlement.” In re Jiffy Lube, 927 F. 2d at 159. To determine the settlement’s fairness, the
Court must consider “(1) the posture of the case at the time settlement was proposed; (2) the extent
of discovery already completed; (3) the circumstances surrounding the settlement negotiations;
and (4) the experience of counsel” in the substantive legal area to which the litigation pertains.
1d.; Scardelletti, 43 Fed. Appx. at 528.

“The most important factor in evaluating the adequacy of a class action settlement is the
relative strengths of plaintiffs’ case and the existence of any defense or difficulties of proof.”
Horton v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., 855 F. Supp. 825, 831 (E.D.N.C. 1994)
(emphasis added); see also Flinn v. FMC Corp., 528 F.2d 1169, 1173 (4th Cir. 1975) (similar).

Indeed, the proposed terms of a class action settlement “can be inadequate only in light of the
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strength of the case presented by the plaintiffs.” Flinn, 528 F.2d at 1173 (quoting City of Detroit
v. Grinnell Corp., 495 F.2d 448, 455 (2d Cir. 1974)).2?

The fairness hearing provides an opportunity for the court to hear from objectors, develop
the record, and render a fully informed decision as to the settlement. The fairness hearing should
not, however, become a “trial or a rehearsal of the trial” on the merits of the underlying claims.
Flinn, 528 F.2d at 1173 (quoting Levin v. Miss. River Corp., 59 F.R.D. 353,361 (S.D.N.Y. 1973)).
Transforming the fairness hearing from a consideration of the proposed settlement to a mini-trial
“would defeat the very purpose of the compromise to avoid a determination of the sharply
contested issues and to dispense with expensive and wasteful litigation.” Id. (quoting Levin, 59
F.R.D. at 361). Thus, in determining that a settlement is “fair, reasonable, and adequate,” the court
need not “reach any dispositive conclusions on the . . . unsettled legal issues in the case.” Id.
While objectors should be granted “leave to be heard, to examine witnesses and to submit evidence
on the fairness of the settlement to objectors, it is entirely in order for the trial court to limit its
proceedings to whatever is necessary to aid it in reaching an informed, intelligent, and reasonable

decision.” 1d.

22 The Fourth Circuit reviews the final approval of a class action settlement for abuse of
discretion, see Scardelletti, 43 Fed. Appx. at 528, and will not “substitute [its] ideas of fairness for
those of the district judge,” Flinn, 528 F.2d at 1173. In reviewing for abuse of discretion, the
Fourth Circuit has explained that the “most important” factor for review is “whether the trial court
gave proper consideration to the strength of the plaintiffs’ claims on the merits.” Id. (citing
Grinnell, 495 F.2d at 455).

31
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 43 of 129



ARGUMENT
I. THIS COURT HAS SUBJECT-MATTER JURISDICTION

Mr. Sharp argues that this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this dispute. Dkt. 192, at 1-5.
But this Court has both federal-question jurisdiction and diversity jurisdiction, and none of Mr.
Sharp’s other quasi-jurisdictional arguments has merit.

A. This Court Has Federal Question Jurisdiction (28 U.S.C. § 1331)

To begin with, this Court has federal-question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and Mr.
Sharp does not even argue to the contrary. The Sixth Circuit has held that federal subject-matter
jurisdiction exists under these precise circumstances in Lay v. Burley Stabilization Corp., 312 F.
App’x 752, 755-56 (6th Cir. 2009). There, members of a burley tobacco cooperative brought suit
alleging that they were entitled to funds the cooperative acquired during the No Net Cost Act era
and “the proceeds [the cooperative] received or will receive when it sells the tobacco CCC released
to it under FETRA.” Id. at 755. The district court in Lay explained that, as here, “plaintiffs
effectively [sought] to liquidate and distribute all [of the cooperative’s] assets and to dissolve the
cooperative.” Lay v. Burley Stabilization Corp., No. 3:07-cv-259, 2007 WL 3120800, at *3 (E.D.
Tenn. Oct. 23, 2007). On appeal, the Sixth Circuit flatly rejected plaintiffs’ argument that the court
“lack[ed] jurisdiction on the basis that their claims do not rest on federal law,” 312 F. App’x at
755, reasoning that the claim of entitlement “to the proceeds from the sale of loan pool tobacco
‘pursuant to FETRA”’ . . . present[ed] a substantial question of federal law” sufficient to vest the
Court with jurisdiction, id. (citing City of Chicago v. Int’l Coll. of Surgeons, 522 U.S. 156, 164
(1997) (emphasis added); see also id. (“the [No Net Cost Act] and FETRA created members’
claims, which require resolution of substantial issues under federal law.”). This conclusion

followed even though the members “had cast their claims as state law causes of action.” Id.
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Just as in Lay, Plaintiffs seek funds derived at least in large part from the No Net Cost Act
and FETRA, Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.), 9 14-15, 29, 95, and seek distribution of assets along with
the Cooperative’s dissolution, id. Y 86-102. As Lay recognizes, resolution of this dispute
necessarily requires the Court to determine whether 7 U.S.C. § 519(b) requires or prevents a
distribution of funds. Consequently, this case present “a substantial question of federal law” and
necessarily falls within this Court’s jurisdiction, irrespective of whether the complaint formulates
its counts under state law.*?

B. This Court Also Has Diversity Jurisdiction Pursuant To CAFA (28 U.S.C.
§ 1332(d))

Mr. Sharp’s contention that this Court lacks diversity jurisdiction is also wrong. In fact,
this case would readily fall within this Court’s diversity jurisdiction under the Class Action
Fairness Act (“CAFA”), even if it did not pose a federal question, which it in fact does.

Mr. Sharp questions that straightforward conclusion only by invoking the “internal affairs”
exception to diversity jurisdiction under CAFA, but that limited exception does not apply. Dkt.
192 at 1-2; see 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(9)(B). Congress enacted CAFA to expand federal jurisdiction
over class actions. Because “CAFA’s language favors federal jurisdiction,” the circuits have held
that, once the party seeking federal jurisdiction shows the existence of prima facie jurisdiction
under CAFA, the party challenging the federal court’s exercise of jurisdiction bears the burden of

demonstrating that an exception applies. Evans v. Walter Indus., Inc., 449 F.3d 1159, 1163 (11th

23 This Court clearly and undisputedly has supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining
claims in the Amended Complaint. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a); see Bullard v. Snipes, No. 3:16-cv-61-
FDW, 2017 WL 5759942, at *5 (W.D.N.C. Nov. 28, 2017) (“The district courts have supplemental
jurisdiction over claims that are so related to the claims over which the court has original
jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United
States Constitution.”).
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Cir. 2006).>* Here, the prima facie case for CAFA jurisdiction is undisputed—the class includes
countless members who are not citizens of North Carolina and the amount in dispute well exceeds
$5,000,000, as reflected in the Settlement. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). Because Mr. Sharp
challenges jurisdiction based only on the internal-affairs exception, he bears the burden of showing
that the exception applies. But he has not come close to carrying that burden.

The internal-affairs exception provides that original jurisdiction under CAFA “shall not
apply to any class action that solely involves a claim . . . that relates to the internal affairs or
governance of a corporation or other form of business enterprise and that arises under or by virtue
of the laws of the State in which such corporation or business enterprise is incorporated or
organized.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(9)(B) (emphasis added). “Congress did not define ‘internal
affairs’ but neither did it signal a departure from that term’s ordinary meaning” as defined by the
Supreme Court. LaPlant v. Nw. Mut. Lif. Ins. Co., 701 F.3d 1137, 1139-40 (7th Cir. 2012); see
also S. Rep. 109-14, at *45 (CAFA internal affairs exception “intended to refer” to Supreme
Court’s definition). The Supreme Court has defined “internal affairs” as “matters peculiar to the
relationships among or between the corporation and its current officers, directors, and
shareholders.” Edgar v. MITE Corp., 457 U.S. 624, 645 (1982) (emphasis added). Further,
Congress intended that the internal affairs exception “be narrowly construed.” S. Rep. 109-14, at
*45 (“[T]The Committee intends that [the internal affairs] exemption be narrowly construed.”).

This suit cannot possibly fall within the internal-affairs exception because it does not

“solely involve[]” a claim relating to the “internal affairs” of the Cooperative. Most obviously, it

24 See also Greenwich Fin. Servs. Mortg. Fund 3 LLC v. Countrywide Fin. Corp., 603
F.3d 23, 26 (2d Cir. 2010); Kaufman v. Allstate New Jersey Ins. Co., 561 F.3d 144, 153 (3d Cir.
2009); Serrano v. 180 Connect, Inc., 478 F.3d 1018, 1024 (9th Cir. 2007); Hart v. FedEx Ground
Package Sys. Inc., 457 F.3d 675, 680 (7th Cir. 20006); Frazier v. Pioneers Americas LLC, 455 F.3d
542, 546 (5th Cir. 2006).
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goes well beyond “current officers, directors and shareholders,” Edgar, 457 U.S. at 645, by
questioning prior decades of conduct and authority and by seeking recovery on behalf of former
members who ceased patronizing the Cooperative decades ago, as well as on behalf of heirs and
assigns around the country who never had anything to do with the Cooperative yet invoke alleged
rights and entitlements external to it. Indeed, Plaintiffs’ case encompasses a breach-of-contract
theory—whereby the Cooperative allegedly violated its contractual obligations by failing to
distribute funds, including as to former members and as to heirs and assigns who were never
members of the Cooperative and have had nothing to do with the Cooperative for decades yet
assert rights under the auspices of external contracts and obligations. The Complaint specifically
alleges that, upon joining the Cooperative, members “entered into a contract appointing [the
Cooperative] as . . . agent with respect to the sale of tobacco.” Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) q 21.
Plaintiffs further allege that the Cooperative “is required . . . to properly and equitably allocate
their capital equity credits to its members on an annualized basis” pursuant to this contract. Id.
926. And they expressly fault the Cooperative’s conduct specifically relative to former members
who had long ago ceased patronizing the Cooperative. E.g., id. 4 32. In these respects, Plaintiffs’
case rests upon external contracts and commitments relative to which the Cooperative supposedly
violated its obligations by failing to distribute funds. Id. 9§ 72(c) (common questions include
“[w]hether [the Cooperative], by and through its corporate officers and agents, have intentionally
and/or negligently breached the Plaintiffs’ contractual rights and interest . . . .”). Only by asserting

rights under the auspices of external relationships that allegedly have vitality outside of the
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Cooperative as currently constituted and managed do the Plaintiffs’ class and claims extend to
former members as well as heirs and assigns who were never members of the Cooperative.?
Were the above not itself dispositive, this Action also necessarily implicates and requires
resolution of distinct questions of federal law that do not govern the “relationships” between and
among the Cooperative, its Board, and its members. Cf. Edgar, 457 U.S. at 645. As discussed,
the suit seeks to adjudge the Cooperative’s right, e.g., to retain funds that Congress granted to it
through FETRA. This determination quite obviously calls for an interpretation of federal law—
including, whether 7 U.S.C. § 519(b) (the statutory section under which the CCC entrusted the
ceded tobacco to the Cooperative) enables the Cooperative’s members to demand distribution of
FETRA’s fruits. Lay, 312 F. App’x at 755. So too does Plaintiffs’ declaratory-judgment claim,
which asks this court to adjudicate, among other things, whether class members are “entitled to an
allocation and distribution of any funds presently held by [the Cooperative] beyond those
reasonably necessary to fund [its] current activities.” Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) 4 82. Plaintiffs’ class
allegations confirm that their suit raises this question of “federal . . . statutes.” Id. 4 72(c) (common
questions include “[w]hether [the Cooperative], by and through its corporate officers and agents,
have intentionally and/or negligently breached the Plaintiffs’ contractual rights and interest and
property rights in violation of . . . federal and state statutes’) (emphasis added). Mr. Sharp cannot
credibly deny the important role that FETRA, No Net Cost Assessments, and federal law play in
this case, for his own objection teems with invocations of those and, in particular, with legal

authority that he cites as construing and applying them. See Dkt. 92 4 1 (discussing the end of the

25 In fact, Mr. Sharp’s counsel have argued that the claims in the parallel, duplicative

Fisher-Lewis case are not barred by the business-judgment rule precisely because they involve
contract claims—a position that is facially inconsistent with Mr. Sharp’s argument that this suit
falls outside federal jurisdiction because it is strictly confined to internal affairs of the corporation
itself. See Dkt. 123-4 (Nov. 28, 2017 Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Law) at 2-3.
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Tobacco Price Support Program (e.g., FETRA) and the Federal No Net Cost program); Dkt. 192
at 17 (claiming a dispute concerning the “proceeds of the Fair and Equitable Tobacco Reform Act”
and No Net Cost “monies”); id. at 11 (alleging intra-class conflict on basis of No Net Cost
payments); id. at 15 (citing Kentucky state court case, Congleton v. Burley Tobacco Growers
Coop, for its analysis and application of FETRA). Because this suit implicates federal law as well
as external contracts and relationships that well transcend the “matters peculiar to the relationships
among or between the corporation and its current officers, directors, and shareholders,” Edgar,
457 U.S. at 645, the internal-affairs exception—confined to cases solely involving such affairs—
cannot apply.

Courts have carefully limited application of the internal-affairs exception by evaluating
whether state corporate governance law (that is, the law of a corporations internal affairs) is the
“sole” body of law implicated by claims in a class action suit. In LaPlant, for example, Judge
Easterbrook rejected plaintiffs’ claims that a class action should be remanded to state court under
the exception in a case that required the “interpretation of contracts” to determine plaintiffs’ rights.
LaPlant, 701 F.3d at 1140. Even though the contract at issue—an annuity contract—provided a
quasi-“ownership” interest in the defendant, the court reasoned that the disputes would “be
resolved under insurance law, rather than the [state] Corporations Act.” Id. Similarly, in Krueger
v. Northwestern Mut. Life Ins. Co., No. 1:10-CV-00128-SPM, 2010 WL 4677382 (N.D. Fla Nov.
9, 2010), the district court sustained its jurisdiction over a removed class action in which holders
of annuities sought to compel dividend payments from the defendant. The court rejected plaintiffs’
internal-affairs exception challenge to CAFA because it was “not clear that solely Wisconsin law
would apply to the claims asserted by Plaintiff on behalf of putative class members.” Id. at *2

(emphasis added). Here too, as described above, Plaintiffs’ claims will be resolved, at least in
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significant part, by operation of contract law (not just corporate law) and also by federal law (e.g.,
FETRA).2

Mr. Sharp’s authorities are not to the contrary. In Mansfield v. Edisto Electric Cooperative,
Inc., the court held only that a federal law arguably impacting a cooperative’s ability to pay
patronage in certain circumstances did not completely preempt state corporate causes of action,
and that the existence of conflict preemption solely as a federal defense to the state corporate claim
did not pull the suit outside the internal-affairs exception. 2010 WL 11531441, at *7 (D.S.C. Mar.
30, 2010). That case differs from this one, however, in fundamental respects: this Complaint
facially, directly, and necessarily implicates federal law and federal allocations to the Cooperative;
it also runs into a direct, complete preemption defense insomuch as the United States Government
expressly vested discretion over FETRA funds in the Cooperative, as against any competing
private claim, see infra Part V.A.1(c), and it necessarily goes beyond “matters peculiar to the
relationships among or between the corporation and its current officers, directors, and
shareholders,” Mansfield at *7 (quoting In re Textainer P’ship Sec. Litig., No. C 05-0969 MMC,
2005 WL 1791559, at *4 (N.D. Cal. July 27, 2005)), particularly by questioning prior eras and
seeking recovery on behalf of former shareholders as well as persons who were never themselves
shareholders. See supra Procedural Background § D. Indeed, by reaching back decades (rather
than confining itself to the Cooperative’s current composition, operations and affairs), this case

(like Fisher-Lewis) very clearly calls for consideration of such things as timeliness and statutes of

26 See also Johnson v W2007 Grace Acq. I, Inc., No. 13-2777,2014 WL 12514892, at *4
(W.D. Tenn. July 28, 2014) (internal affairs exception did not apply because complaint included
claim under home state securities law rather than just corporate law); Genton v. Vestin Realty
Mortg. 11, Inc., ., No. 06cv2517-BEN (WMC), 2007 WL 951838, at *2 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 9, 2007)
(internal affairs exception did not apply because suit involved interpretation of foreign state’s law).
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limitations well removed from corporate internal affairs. See Procedural Background § D; see
infra Part V.A, Mr. Sharp’s other cases fail to address the internal-affairs exception entirely,?’ fail
to address CAFA at all,?® and are otherwise unpersuasive.?

In sum, the critical role federal legislation plays in this litigation combined with the equally
critical role played by external and past parties, conduct and relationships should forestall any
doubt as to diversity jurisdiction. This class action is not the rare one that “solely involve[s] a
claim” of the Cooperative’s internal corporate governance as it exists today. Accordingly, Mr.
Sharp cannot demonstrate that the internal-affairs exception to CAFA applies.

C. This Court Should Not Relinquish Its Jurisdiction Under Colorado River
Abstention

Mr. Sharp’s abstention argument is similarly unpersuasive: the Court should not abstain
from exercising jurisdiction in favor of Fisher-Lewis under the Colorado River doctrine. Dkt. 192

at 3-4.

27 See Brady v. Denton County Elec. Co-op, Inc., No. 4:09-CV-130, 2009 WL 3151177,
at *4-6 (E.D. Tex. Sept. 28, 2009) (local controversy exception); Ferrell v. Express Check Advance
of SC LLC, 591 F.3d 698, 707 (4th Cir. 2010) (absence of minimal diversity).

28 See Guaranty Trust Co. v. N.Y., 288 U.S. 123 (1933); Heine v. Streamline Foods Inc.,
805 F. Supp. 2d 383, 390 (N.D. Ohio 2011); Classic Coffee Concepts, Inc. v. Anderson, No. 06
CVS 2941, 2006 WL 3476598 (N.C. Super. Dec. 1, 2006).

2 Classic Coffee Concepts, Inc., No. 06 CVS 2941, 2006 WL 3476598 (N.C. Super. Dec.
1, 2006), and Heine v. Streamline Foods Inc., 805 F. Supp. 2d 383, 390 (N.D. Ohio 2011), held
only that that under local state law, the internal-affairs doctrine prohibited the Court from
dissolving a Delaware corporation. Rogers v. Guaranty Trust Co. v. N.Y., 288 U.S. 123 (1933)
affirmed a New York district court’s decision declining to exercise jurisdiction to dissolve a New
Jersey corporation—not that it lacked power to do so. None of that speaks to federal jurisdiction
under CAFA. In any event, to the extent Plaintiffs in this case ask this Court to order dissolution
of a North Carolina entity, that is a power that federal courts possess over corporations
incorporated in the state where they sit. Cf. Delco Store No. 152, Inc. v. Woodward, 175 F.3d 1014
(Table) (evaluating on the merits whether plaintiff was entitled to dissolution under North Carolina
law).
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“[T]he general rule [is] that our dual system of federal and state governments allows
parallel actions to proceed to judgment until one becomes preclusive of the other.” Chase Brexton
Health Servs., Inc. v. Maryland, 411 F.3d 457, 462 (4th Cir. 2005). Although Colorado River
permits a court to abstain from exercising jurisdiction over a “duplicative” suit, courts “must apply
Colorado River abstention ‘parsimoniously.”” vonRosenberg v. Lawrence, 849 F.3d 163, 167 (4th
Cir. 2017). The Court’s “task is not ‘to find some substantial reason for the exercise of federal
jurisdiction . . .; rather, the task is to ascertain whether there exist exceptional circumstances, the
‘clearest of justifications,’ that can suffice under Colorado River to justify the surrender of that
jurisdiction.”” Id. (quoting Moses H. Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Cosntr. Corp., 460 U.S.
1,25-26 (1983)).

A six-factor test informs a federal court’s decision whether to abstain from exercising
jurisdiction due to the presence of a duplicative state-court suit. /d. at 168 (quoting Chase Brexton,
411 F.3d at 463-64.) “A court must look at these factors holistically, ‘with the balance heavily
weighted in favor of the exercise of jurisdiction.”” Id. (quoting Moses H. Cone, 460 U.S. at 16)
(emphasis added). “The Colorado River doctrine does not give federal courts carte blanche to
decline to hear cases merely because issues or factual disputes in those cases may be addressed in
past or pending proceedings before state tribunals.”” Chase Brexton, 411 F.3d at 465 (quoting
New Beckley Min. Corp. v. Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am., 946 F.2d 1072, 1074 (4th
Cir. 1991)).

Here, Mr. Sharp—who essentially argues that abstention is appropriate because this case
overlaps with Fisher-Lewis and involves state law claims—has not carried this heavy burden.
Indeed, Mr. Sharp has done little more than repeat the arguments Mr. Lewis made (through the

same counsel) in failing to ward off preliminary approval. The case for abstention has only
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weakened now that this Court has stood by its preliminary approval, Dkt. 82, notice has been
funded and effectuated, and the date for a final judgment has dawned. To the extent that Mr. Sharp
or anyone else wanted to urge a stay, on grounds of abstention or otherwise, they should have been
doing so long before now, as this Court previously noted. At this point, the advanced stage of this
litigation combined with the heavy expenditure of resources on preliminary approval counsel
dispositively against eleventh-hour abstention.

Nor does any of the established factors support abstention. To begin with, Mr. Sharp does
not even attempt to argue that the subject matter of the state litigation involves a res or that this
forum is inconvenient. Thus, “[c]onsideration of the first and second factors . . . does not provide
any support for abstention.” Chase Brexton, 411 F.3d at 465. Mr. Sharp asserts that the third
factor—the “desirability of avoiding piecemeal litigation”—counsels in favor of abstention
because the “[s]tate court is set to determine the matter finally by trial in 2018,” and the
“inevitabl[e] appeal” of a decision from this Court will “create questions of jurisdiction and full
faith and credit.” Dkt. 192 at 4. But there is in fact no prospect of “piecemeal litigation” because
resolution of this suit will preclude Fisher-Lewis. Especially considering that a precondition of
Colorado River abstention is that the suits are duplicative—with “substantially the same parties
litigat[ing] substantially the same issues in different forums”—the res judicata effect of a final
judgment here should be beyond serious contest. Viewed properly, this factor weighs against

abstention.>?

30" If accepted, Mr. Sharp’s argument would permit Colorado River abstention any time a
defendant faces both state and federal class actions. This is inconsistent with both the purpose of
CAFA and “basic principles of federalism and comity, [which] permit multi-forum litigation to
proceed without inference from courts supervising parallel litigation.” McLaughlin on Class
Actions § 6.29 (13th ed. 2016).
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Mr. Sharp next argues that the fourth factor—the “relevant order in which the courts
obtained jurisdiction and the progress achieved in each action”—supports abstention. This is
incorrect. Although Fisher-Lewis was filed first, it has proceeded only through class-certification,
not even through merits discovery, and is not approaching a final judgment; indeed, discovery
disputes are currently pending while the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs appear to be reinventing their case
and their claims in ways that go back on their prior representations in Fisher-Lewis. E.g., Ex. L
(Nov. 27,2017 email from M. VanderBrink) (refusing to make plaintiffs available for depositions);
Dkt. 123-4 (Fisher-Lewis Motion for Partial Summary Judgment conceding that “this direct action
will seek no relief for mismanagement of [CJooperative assets” to avoid dismissal as a derivative
action). Lest there be any doubt, Mr. Sharp’s putative expert Dr. Harrison (borrowed from Fisher-
Lewis), has confirmed that case has at best been frozen in stasis, if not moving backwards: Despite
being retained years ago in Fisher-Lewis, Dr. Harrison attests that he still has not “undertaken any
analysis to determine what portion of the cooperative's quote/unquote reserve is reasonable,” such
that plaintiffs there might claim recovery of the remainder pursuant to any operative theory. Ex.
CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 102:20-23. In this case, by contrast, all that remains for this Court
is final approval of a settlement entitling claimants to be paid, following comprehensive notice,
ventilation of the proposed terms, and construction of an appropriate factual record.

Mr. Sharp also asserts that the fifth factor—“whether state law or federal law provides the
rule of decision”—provides support for abstention because state law provides the rule of decision.
As discussed, however, this suit poses important questions of federal law, including the impact of
FETRA and the operation of the Tobacco Price Support Program. See supra Part 1. This case also
involves a sweeping federal declaratory-judgment claim and express invocation of federal law.

Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) 4 82. Mr. Sharp should appreciate these points, for his objection provides
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ample proof of them— repeatedly relying upon his account of No Net Cost assessments as handled
by federal law. See Dkt. 92 9] 1; Dkt. 192 at 11, 17.

Finally, Mr. Sharp asserts that “the adequacy of the state proceeding to protect the parties’
rights” counsels in favor of abstention. His sole argument in support is the State Court has certified
a class. But that is not a touchstone for Colorado River abstention. Indeed, established law and
practice permit class actions to proceed in parallel until final judgment is reached in one of the
cases. See Adkins v. Nestle Purina PetCare Co., 779 F.3d 481, 484 (7th Cir. 2015), 779 F.3d at
484 (parallel suits are “free to proceed . . . without reference to proceedings in the other court”).
Mere certification of a class does not vest the State Court with exclusive jurisdiction, nor does not
make this Court less competent to decide the issues now before it. Were that not enough, Mr.
Sharp’s invocation of this factor obliges the Cooperative to note a constitutional defect that has
been pressed in Fisher-Lewis but left unaddressed: The notice attending class certification and
inviting opt-outs ostensibly did not come close to satisfying established demands of due process
under the U.S. Constitution. After the Cooperative detailed as much at length, Dkt. 73-10 (April
14, 2017 Response and Objection to Notice Plan); Dkt. 73-11 (June 16, 2017 Reply to Responses
and Objection); Dkt. 73-12 (June 22, 2017 Sur-Reply to Notice Plan), the State Court in Fisher-
Lewis summarily affirmed the proposed notice plan without holding a hearing, demanding
meaningful specifics from plaintiffs’ counsel, or offering anything beyond rote approval of a
barebones notice plan. Dkt. 70-3 (July 7, 2017 Order Approving Notice Plan). As a result, absent
class members are right now facing notice deprivations and corresponding prejudice in the state-
court proceedings, just as the Cooperative faces real, persisting risk that any judgment in its favor
may later be challenged on due-process grounds by class members absent there. This persisting

constitutional problem should itself foreclose abstention.

43
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 55 of 129



For all of these reasons, Colorado River abstention is inappropriate here—indeed, even
less appropriate here than it is in the standard context parallel class-action litigation in which
continuing exercise of federal jurisdiction is the established norm.>!

D. Plaintiffs In This Proceeding Are Not Barred From Prosecuting This Class
Action By Virtue Of Opting-Out Of The State Court Class

Objectors assert without authority that “[i]ndividuals who opt-out of an existing certified
class action may not pursue a class action covering the same or similar issues but are instead
limited to litigating individually.” Dkt. 192 at 3. That is wrong. As a threshold matter, Plaintiffs
filed this lawsuit before opting-out of the class in Fisher-Lewis. Moreover, a plaintiff who opts
out of a class action is barred from pursuing a parallel class action only after the original action

has been litigated to final judgment. See Wai Hoe Lieu v. Cohen & Slamowitz, LLP, 265 F. Supp.

31" For the same reason that this Court should not relinquish jurisdiction under Colorado River,
it should not elect to “decline to exercise jurisdiction” pursuant to the “Permissive Home State”
exception in CAFA—28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(3). See Laws v. Priority Trustee Servs. of N.C., L.L.C.,
No. 3:08-CV-103, 2008 WL 3539512, at *6 (W.D.N.C. Aug. 11, 2008). First, this statutory
exception (even when applicable) is entirely discretionary, stating that a “district court may, in the
interests of justice and looking at the totality of the circumstances, decline to exercise jurisdiction”
under CAFA. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(3) (emphasis added). Second, it applies only to a “class action
in which greater than one-third but less than two-thirds” of the class members and the defendant
“are citizens of the State in which the action was originally filed.” Id. This action does not so
qualify. The class here is nationwide, extending across multiple generations, and no objector has
put forth any evidence so much as suggesting that the requisite percentage of class members
(inclusive of heirs and assigns, and former members who long ago moved on from farming)—
today well afield from historical data concerning initial tobacco producers—might be citizens of
North Carolina. Mr. Sharp’s expert, Dr. Harrison, states that the Cooperative’s “1982-2004
records” indicate that “64.7% of the growers resided in North Carolina,” Dkt. 192-7, but entirely
fails to evaluate the current composition of the class, which, through the inclusion of “heirs” and
“assigns” necessarily extends beyond the original geographic location of the Cooperative’s
historical members. Indeed, that is why the Notice Program in this case was designedly nationwide
in reach. See infra Part VI.LF. Objectors have not come close to making the requisite showing to
establish this exception applies. Last, as just assessed under the Colorado River framework, none
of the six factors that must be assessed under the exception (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(3)(A)-(F))
counsels in favor of discretionary surrender of jurisdiction.
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3d 260, 271-79 (E.D.N.Y. 2017) (barring opt-out plaintiffs in state court action from proceeding
with parallel federal class action because federal action was commenced after the state court action
achieved a preclusive settlement); see also Harper v. Trans Union, LLC, No. CIV.A. 04-3510,
2005 WL 697490, at *1 n.3 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 24, 2005) (“Rule 23 does not explicitly bar opt-outs in
one class action from bringing a subsequent class action and it may be that allowing the opt-outs
[in the subsequent action] to proceed as a class will further the purposes of Rule 23 (i.e., to provide
for judicial economy in the litigation of similar claims.”)). Indeed, adopting Mr. Sharp’s
position—that one who opts out of a class action in a state court cannot file a parallel class action
in federal court (or vice versa)—would defy widespread recognition that class actions can and
should proceed in parallel. See, e.g., Adkins, 779 F.3d at 484 (“Parallel state and federal litigation
is common.”); see also infra Part II. Because this suit was filed before any class was certified in
Fisher-Lewis, let alone before there were any “opt-outs” or any “final judgment,” continued
prosecution of it should be unassailable. See Newberg on Class Actions § 10:33 (5th ed. 2017)
(“Newberg”) (“Class certification alone . . . has no formal effect on litigation elsewhere, which
means that multiple courts could, in theory, certify class actions concerning the same events.”).

I1. FISHER-LEWIS DOES NOT BAR OR OTHERWISE INHIBIT THIS
SETTLEMENT OR THE COURT’S JURISDICTION

The Objectors further suggest that this lawsuit should in various respects yield to Fisher-
Lewis. Indeed, several objectors request that this Court reject the proposed Settlement here in

favor of an undefined (and nonexistent) settlement in Fisher-Lewis.>?

As the Cooperative has
explained in previous submissions, and for the reasons described below, the existence of a parallel

suit involving a certified class should pose no impediment to this Court exercising its jurisdiction

32 See infira Part VIA.
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and approving the Settlement before it. See Dkt 73 at 27-30 (Opposition to Motion to Intervene);
Dkt. 123 at 5-7 (Response to Miles Objections).

First and foremost, parallel litigation in the state and federal courts, including in the class-
action context, is common and proper. This case and Fisher-Lewis have proceeded in parallel
since the original Complaint was filed on October 31, 2012. Dkt. 1. This circumstance is not
unusual. It does not limit this Court’s exercise of its jurisdiction and authority, or the rights and
obligations of the Parties, including the right to mediate and settle pending litigation. Because
“[p]arallel state and federal litigation is common,” “[e]ach court is free to proceed in its own way
and in its own time, without reference to proceedings in the other court.” Adkins, 779 F.3d at 484
(quoting Kline v. Burke Constr. Co., 260 U.S. 226, 230 (1922)). In particular, “the pendency of
an action in the state court is no bar to proceedings concerning the same matter in the Federal
court having jurisdiction.” Alliance Int’l Inc. v. Todd, No. 5:08-CV-214-BR, 2008 WL 2859095,
at *4 (E.D.N.C. July 22, 2008).>?

These principles of federalism apply with no less force to class actions. See McLaughlin
on Class Actions § 6.29 (13th ed. 2016) (“McLaughlin) (“It is not uncommon for the same
transaction or events giving rise to a legal claim to spawn multiple class actions in different
jurisdictions, in both federal and state court forums. Absent extraordinary circumstances, basic
principles of federalism and comity permit multi-forum litigation to proceed without interference
firom courts supervising parallel litigation.”) (emphasis added). Those rules do not change when

a class is certified—in fact, it would be a “misunderstanding” to conclude that the mere

33 See also Gannett Co. v. Clark Const. Grp., Inc., 286 F.3d 737, 741 (4th Cir. 2002) (“As
has been reiterated time and again, the federal courts have a virtually unflagging obligation to
exercise the jurisdiction given them.”); New Beckley Mining Corp. v. Int’l Union, United Mine
Workers of Am., 946 F.2d 1072, 1073 (4th Cir. 1991) (“[T]he existence of proceedings in state
court does not by itself preclude parallel proceedings in federal court.”).
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“certification of a class in one suit somehow forestalls other related cases.” Newberg § 10:33.
And a “court supervising a class action settlement has the power to approve a release that
extinguishes not only the claims alleged in the complaint, but also all claims arising out of the
same transaction or factual predicate underlying the claims in the settled action.” McLaughlin
§ 6:29 (citing Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Epstein, 516 U.S. 367, 379 (1996)); see also
infra Part VLE.

Objectors cite no authority for their errant proposition that federal courts must defer to a
state court’s resolution of a parallel class action litigation because the state court case was the first
filed, or the first to be certified. Mere certification of a class in one parallel proceeding does not
foreclose other proceedings. To the contrary, “[a] common misunderstanding is that certification
of a class in one suit somehow forestalls other related cases; in fact, only the preclusive effect of

a final judgment can formally achieve that end and a decision simply certifying a class is not

itself a final judgment” Newberg § 10:33 (emphasis added). The principles governing final
judgments are such that “multiple courts could, in theory, certify class actions concerning the same
events.” Id.

The proceedings in this case and Fisher-Lewis are in harmony with these legal principles.
As such, the Objectors’ preference for Fisher-Lewis—coordinated by counsel there—adds nothing
to Mr. Lewis’s unsuccessful, untimely bid to undo preliminary approval and affords no good

ground for denying final approval.
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III. THE FISHER-LEWIS PLAINTIFFS’ CLASS-WIDE OPT-OUTS ARE INVALID
AS A MATTER OF LAW

Several individuals—named Plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis**—purport to exclude all class
members in the class certified in the State Court from this Settlement. Even looking beyond the
fact that more than 2,300 of those class members have already filed claims in this Settlement, the
Fisher-Lewis objectors have no legal right and no legal authority to speak for anyone other than
themselves. Black-letter law and this Court’s preliminary approval order preclude their instant
maneuver, which threatens to render moot this Court’s grant of preliminary approval and its
rejection of the prior bid by Mr. Lewis and his counsel to intervene for the sake of disabling class-
wide approval. Dkt. 192, at 19-20.

A. Group Opt-Outs Are Prohibited As A Matter of Due Process

Courts in the Fourth Circuit and around the country have uniformly held that class members
cannot opt out on behalf of other putative class members. See, e.g., Sloan v. Winn Dixie Raleigh,
Inc.,25 F. App’x 197, 198 (4th Cir. 2002) (“Class representatives cannot opt out on behalf of other
putative class members.”). The right to opt-out of class action “is an individual one and should
not be made by the class representative or the class counsel.” Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp., 150 F.3d
1011, 1024 (9th Cir. 1998); Berry Petroleum Co. v. Adams & Peck, 518 F.2d 402, 412 (2d Cir.
1975) (“[O]pting out of a class action, like the decision to participate in it, must be an individual
decision.”); see also Phillips Petroleum Co. v Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 810-13 (1985) (“[W]e hold
that due process requires at a minimum that an absent plaintiff be provided with an opportunity to

remove himself from the class by executing and returning an “opt out” or “request for exclusion”

3% Linwood Scott, Jr., Dkt. 132, Cray Milligan, Dkt. 133, Orville Wiggins, Dkt. 160,
Alford James Worley Jr., Dkt. 176, Whitney King, Dkt. 179, Kyle Cox, Dkt. 183, Daniel Lewis,
Dkt. 184, Ralph Renegar, Dkt. 188, Richard Renegar, Dkt. 188-1, and Harold Wright, Dkt. 199.
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form to the court.”) (emphasis added); Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 156, 173 (1974)
(discussing due process requirements in the context of class notice, and stressing that “each class
member shall be advised that he has the right to exclude himself from the action . . . .””) (emphasis
added).

Objectors attempt to distinguish the litany of cases holding that class opt-outs are
prohibited by arguing that the rule bars group opt-outs only when a parallel class has not already
been certified. See Dkts. 132, 133, 160 at 1; Dkt. 192 at 20. Plaintiffs cite no authority for this
proposition because there is none. Rather, as the Ninth Circuit wrote in Hanlon:

“There is no class action rule, statute, or case that allows a putative class plaintiff

or counsel to exercise class rights en masse, either by making a class-wide objection

or by attempting to effect a group-wide exclusion from an existing class. Indeed,

to do so would infringe on the due process rights of the individual class members,

who have the right to intelligently and individually choose whether to continue in

a suit as class members. Additionally, to allow representatives in variously

asserted class actions to opt a class out without the permission of individual class
members ‘would lead to chaos in the management of class actions.””

Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1024 (citation omitted)) (emphasis added). As the Second Circuit also noted,
“[t]he only way to avoid such chaos is to require that opting out of a class action, like the decision
to participate in it, must be an individual decision.” Berry Petroleum Co., 518 F.2d at 412.
Precisely because chaos, confusion and violation of individual due process rights threaten to result
from any class-wide opt-out, Hanlon and other courts have held that group opt-outs have all agreed
that such opt-outs cannot be effective.

The problems resulting from any group opt-out are starkly illustrated here. The individuals
who are purporting to opt-out the entire Fisher-Lewis class are doing so notwithstanding that five
of the named representatives from Fisher-Lewis have made their own contrary election to remain
part of this class, as demonstrated by their decision not to file opt-outs. Specifically, Archie Hill,

C. Monroe Enzor, Jr., George Abbot, Robert C. Boyette, and Kendall Hill—each named plaintiffs
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in Fisher-Lewis—have evidenced their own decision (despite obvious, concerted efforts by Fisher-
Lewis counsel to round up opt-outs) to remain in this class and to embrace the terms of the potential
settlement. In other words, certain named representatives in Fisher-Lewis are effectively
purporting to opt-out on behalf of other named representative in Fisher-Lewis who have made
their own contrary decisions to opt-in. Any such theory of group opt-outs is not only invalid, but
incoherent.

As evidenced by the more than 2,300 claims filed as of this date, the many more expected
during the post-settlement claims administration period and the comparatively low numbers of
opt-outs and objections, the vast majority of the class members consider the Settlement to be fair,
reasonable, and adequate. If the purported group opt-outs here were given effect, this would
elevate their judgment and decision over the individual due process rights of other class members
and would deprive this Court of its ability to determine the fairness, adequacy, and reasonableness
of this Settlement. No statute, case, local rule, or order of this Court supports these attempts to
execute an end-run around the final judgment rule and to deny thousands of Class Members their
opportunity to recover from this Settlement. Any class-wide opt-out has been and remains
prohibited.

B. Group Opt-Outs Are Expressly Prohibited By This Court’s Preliminary
Approval Order

Lest there be any doubt, Paragraph 18 of this Court’s Preliminary Approval Order, Dkt.
No. 63, expressly forecloses the group or class-wide opt out that Scott Linwood, Dkt. 132, Cray
Milligan, Dkt. 133, Orville Wiggins, Dkt. 160, Alford James Worley Jr., Dkt. 176, Whitney King
Dkt. 179), Kyle Cox, Dkt. 183, Daniel Lewis, Dkt. 184, Ralph Renegar, Dkt. 188, Richard

Renegar, Dkt. 188-1, and Harold Wright, Dkt. 199, have claimed to exercise.
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“Exclusions shall be exercised individually by a Settlement Class Member, not as or on
behalf of a group, class, or subclass, not by any appointees, assignees, claims brokers, claims filing
services, claims consultants, or third-party claims organizations; except that an exclusion request
may be submitted by a Settlement Class Member’s attorney on an individual basis.” Dkt. 63,9 18.
“Any Settlement Class Member who does not submit a timely, written request for exclusion from
the Settlement Class will be bound by all proceedings, orders, and judgments in the action.” /d.
9 19.

These former Class Members attempt to do what this Court has expressly forbidden. See,
e.g. Dkt. 132 at 1 (Linwood Opt-Out) (“[W]ith respect for his Court’s filings but in furtherance of
his fiduciary duty to the class, as a class representative deemed adequate by the North Carolina
Supreme Court, I elect to opt-out of this settlement on behalf of the certified class.”). By doing
so, they would effectively defy, or at least negate, this Court’s denial of Mr. Lewis’s effort to
intervene. The Court will recall that Mr. Lewis tried to use his status in Fisher-Lewis to prevent
class-wide notice from issuing and individual recipients from making their own decisions whether
to opt out. The Objectors are transgressing established bounds insomuch as they are using their
status before the State Court as though it specially enables them now to contravene this Court’s
rules and to speak for class members in this federal proceeding. Perhaps worst of all, the Objectors
are trying after-the-fact to contravene the clear contrary instruction that has already been broadcast
around the country to all class members, assuring everyone, in essence, that no one else could
purport to opt out on an individual’s behalf. As a constitutional matter, the group opt-outs pose
obvious affront to due process. Any attempt by the Fisher-Lewis named plaintiffs to opt-out by
definition attempts to accomplish, after the fact, what the notices in this case have forbidden all

along and to encroach upon the due-process rights of absent class members to have made their
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own elections. Indeed, these “group” objectors from Fisher-Lewis have gone so far as to
contravene the expressed intent of their fellow named representative in Fisher-Lewis.

Finally, these submissions were not even signed by class counsel in Fisher-Lewis and
instead were executed by each former Class Member in an individual capacity. To be clear, class
counsel in Fisher-Lewis could not have properly executed a class-wide opt-out for the reasons
already explained. But it follows a fortiori that these former Class Members—none of whom is
licensed to practice law, much less to represent a class—cannot possibly effectuate a class-wide
opt-out on their own accord. Their overreach in this respect further underscores the impropriety
of their attempt to represent absent class members.>>

IV.  THE SETTLEMENT CLASS SHOULD BE CERTIFIED AS FINAL

While challenging the substantive fairness of the Settlement Agreement, objectors
generally claim that the proposed settlement class should not be certified pursuant to Rule 23. The
only objector to present specific challenges is Mr. Sharp, represented by counsel from Fisher-
Lewis who, ironically, sought and secured class certification for a class that is indistinguishable in
all material respects. Dkt. 192 at 5-6.

A. There Are No Intra-Class Conflicts That Bar Certification Of The Class

Mr. Sharp asserts that this settlement class cannot be certified because “the scope of the

Speaks putative class definition creates inherent conflicts among class members.” Dkt. 192 at 5-

35 Several objectors purport to exclude themselves from the class in their objection filings.
See Dkt. 103 (E. Jerome Vick) (“I would like to object . . . and opt out of this settlement.”); Dkt.
106 (similar); Dkt. 119 (similar). These objectors have withdrawn their requests for exclusion in
subsequent filings, thereby correcting this inconsistency. Dkt. 162; Dkt. 187. For purposes of the
fairness hearing and considering objections, however, it is worth noting that individuals and
organizations excluding themselves from the settlement class do not have standing to object and
should not be heard by this Court. See Gould v. Alleco, Inc., 883 F.2d 281, 284 (4th Cir. 1989)
(“[T]he plain language of Rule 23(e) clearly contemplates allowing only class members to object
to settlement proposals.”).
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6. That is not right, for the defining principle underlying this class and this Settlement is that all
those who patronized the Cooperative and partook of membership in it should share in any
available funds that persist post-FETRA, as acknowledgement and reward for their historical
involvement. That principle unites the class and drives the Settlement, without admitting of any
discernible merits theory that would entitle one portion of the class to recover at the expense of
another. See infra page 56. As for questions of how to fairly and equitably allocate the available
settlement funds among the class, those have been conscientiously addressed here just as they must
be when distributing any class-action settlement among class members.>®

Mr. Sharp’s objection is irreconcilable with his—and his counsel’s—avowed preference
for continuing with Fisher-Lewis, which involves a certified class that is, in all material respects,
identical to the one proposed here. 1t is disingenuous for Mr. Sharp to contend that the Fisher-
Lewis class definition is “focused” as compared to this proposed class. Subsection (a) of the
Fisher-Lewis class definition encompasses all individuals and organizations, or the heirs, who
were “members/shareholders of the [Cooperative] at any time from its inception through the end
of crop year 2004” who “had not requested cancellation of their membership and whose
membership was cancelled by [the Cooperative] without a hearing[.]” Dkt. 192 at 6. According

to the allegations in Fisher-Lewis, that brings into their class virtually all of the Cooperative’s

3¢ This argument entirely ignores key principles of law regarding propriety of a certifying
a class for purposes of settlement, including the “strong judicial policy in favor of settlement” that
applies with particular force in class action cases. Velezquez, 2016 WL 917320, at *1. Consistent
with this policy, when considering “a request for settlement-only class certification, a district court
need not inquire whether the case, if tried, would present intractable management problems . . .
for the proposal is that there be no trial”” Amchem Prods., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 620
(1997) (emphasis added); see also In re A.H. Robins Co., Inc., 880 F.2d 709, 740 (4th Cir. 1989)
(“If not a ground for certification per se, certainly settlement should be a factor, and an important
factor, to be considered when determining certification.”).
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historical membership of 800,000 growers. After all, according to the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs,
there are no members who “requested cancellation”: they allege that the Cooperative “purged” all
of its members without a hearing, except for approximately 800 (0.1%) of members. See Ex. BB
at 9 aaa.-bbb. (Fisher-Lewis Complaint).?” In point of fact, the Motion to Intervene by Daniel
Lewis—a named plaintiff in Fisher-Lewis—rightly conceded that the “certified class action is on
behalf of a class covered by the class definition in this putative federal class action.” Dkt. 70-1
at 1 (emphasis added). Mr. Sharp does not even purport to identify one person—much less a
substantial portion of the class—who falls within the class definition here but outside that in
Fisher-Lewis.

Given that the class definitions are materially identical, Mr. Sharp cannot credibly claim
that the proposed class definition here is invalid. Were he correct, it would follow that the class
definition in Fisher-Lewis is likewise invalid. See Beroth Oil Co. v. N. Carolina Dep’t of Transp.,
367 N.C. 333, 342 n.4 (2014) (““Although North Carolina’s Rule 23 differs from Federal Rule 23,
this Court has relied upon federal cases interpreting the federal rule for guidance.”). Of course,
the very same counsel now representing Mr. Sharp have filed numerous briefs in the North
Carolina courts successfully defending that class as appropriate and free of internal conflicts. See,

e.g., Dkt. 192-3 at 35-42 (Plaintiffs-Appellees Supreme Court Br., Dec. 19, 2014) (arguing

37 Several Objectors, mirroring Mr. Sharp’s first objections, Dkt. 92, state that the “target
years of the lawsuit are too broad” and that the “most important years are 1982-2004 when the
tobacco industry operated under the Federal No Net Cost Tobacco Program.” Dkt. 92 at 1; see
also Dkt. 127,137, 144, 145, 149, 156, 163, 175, 186, 196. None of these objectors, or Mr. Sharp
in objections filed by his counsel, Dkt 192, indicates how the inclusion of the years 2004 through
the present in the proposed class definition creates a “conflict” that serves to preclude settlement
class certification. That is because there is no conflict—the permissibility and availability of any
excess in the Cooperative’s reserve remains the central question driving each class member’s stake
in this suit.
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successfully to the North Carolina Supreme Court that the class definition was without internal
conflict and should be certified).?® It is clear that this objection amounts to yet another contrived
stab to derail this Settlement.*

Furthermore, Mr. Sharp concedes that the proposed settlement class meets the
“commonality” test of Rule 23(a). Dkt. 192 at 5 n.1 (“Numerosity and commonality are not at

)40 Every member of this proposed class has the same common interest in a determination

issue.
whether they have a shared legal right to funds held by the Cooperative as a “reserve.” For this

reason, Dr. Glenn Harrison’s conclusion that the proposed “class creates conflicts” among

38 Mr. Sharp cites a class certification decision from the Kentucky Congleton case for the
proposition that the proposed settlement class cannot be certified based on alleged intra-class
conflicts. Dkt. 192 at 7 (citing Exhibit E, Dkt. 192-5). Again, Mr. Sharp’s counsel directly
contradict the position they have maintained throughout Fisher-Lewis. See Dkt. 123-5 at 32 (Pls.’
Mem. in support of Class Cert., July 9, 2012) (distinguishing Congleton and asking trial court for
an order of class certification); Dkt. 192-3 (Pls.” Opp. Br., Dec. 19, 2014) (distinguishing
Congleton and asking North Carolina Supreme Court to affirm class certification order). In any
event, the class proposed here is materially coextensive with the class affirmed by the North
Carolina Supreme Court such that, any infirmity shown by Congleton would equally doom the
Fisher-Lewis class.

3% On December 21, 2016 the North Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the class
certification in Fisher-Lewis as within the trial court’s discretion. Dkt. 73-8. In reaching this
conclusion, the North Carolina Supreme Court overruled the Cooperative’s contention that the trial
court “erred as a matter of law by disregarding fundamental conflicts that divide the class.” Ex.
M at 15-16 (Def’s Nov. 14, 2014 N.C. Supreme Ct. Br. Opp. Class Cert.) Having prevailed on
that point in the state courts, counsel for Mr. Sharp should not be permitted to take the other side
out of opportunism. The existence of a certified class in Fisher-Lewis is properly considered by
this Court as a factor favoring class certification. See Foster v. CEVA Freight, LLC, 272 F.R.D.
171 (W.D.N.C. 2011) (certifying class in part on the grounds that several other district courts have
granted class certification in cases alleging similar claims); Scholes v. Douglas, No. 90 C 1292,
1992 WL 329310, at *2 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 4, 1992) (certifying class based, in part, on the fact that the
court had certified a similar class in a related case).

40 A question is common among class members when a “determination of [the question’s]
truth or falsity will resolve an issue that is central to the validity of each of one of the claims in
one stroke.” Ealy v. Pinkerton Gov. Servs., Inc., 514 Fed.Appx. 299, 304, (4th Cir. 2013) (quoting
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 349 (2011)).
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different groups of potential claimants in the class misses the mark. Dkt. 192-7 at 7. Dr. Harrison
claims that there are conflicts among “those who were patrons in years when there were no gain
and those who were member-patrons in years of gain,” and “those whose patronage interest derives
from the 1982-2004 period [and] those that did not pay No Net Cost fees, or who did, but whose
interests very because of a difference in assessments paid.” Dkt. 192-7 at 7. Bizarrely, however,
Dr. Harrison does not even purport to connect those observations to any particular theory of
liability and potential recovery on the merits that would differentiate one class member he posits
from another for any relevant purpose.

What is more, Dr. Harrison fails to appreciate that the Settlement is not distributing one or
another historical source of the reserve among current and former members; rather, it serves only
to distribute settlement funds made available from the entire reserve, as derived from the

' For the class or the

Cooperative’s entire history, as consideration for ending this litigation.*
settlement to favor one or another contribution to the Cooperative, at one or another point in time,
would be arbitrary at best, considering that no one merits theory provides a coherent, let alone
convincing, path to ultimate legal recovery. See infra Part V.A. To the extent there may be moral
or equitable force, or litigation leverage, to be derived from the relevant claims, that comes from
sheer gestalt. Simply stated, all of the growers who patronized the Cooperative (per their
marketing forms and certificates as issued over a span of decades throughout federal price support)

are here pressing claim to what they see as the resulting fruit of their collective labors, as translating

to whatever financial cushion the Cooperative allegedly found at the end of federal price supports.

41" Notably, Dr, Harrison’s preferred approach would give “zero dollars” to any class

member who patronized the Cooperative in the years without any net earnings.” Ex. CC (Harrison
Deposition) at Tr. 189:4-19. The current plan for distributing settlement funds avoids any such
disenfranchisement, and Dr. Harrison concedes that others “could consider” this distribution plan
to be “an appropriate way to disburse funds.” Id. at Tr. 230:1-11.
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Accordingly, it only makes sense now for the entire collective—all former and current
members of the Cooperative—to share together in any recovery, and to do so according to the
extent (measured by poundage and also by tenure) to which individual claimants patronized their
agricultural Cooperative. Dr. Harrison’s observations do nothing to question the propriety of class
certification under the terms of Rule 23.*> Rather, these observations—which are, in any event,
beside the point, see infra Part IV.C,—go at most to the fairness and structure of the distribution
plan for settlement funds. As explained elsewhere, the distribution plan proposed here is
absolutely fair. See infra Part VL.B.

B. This Class Action Settlement Is A Superior Mechanism For Resolving This
Massive Litigation

Rule 23(b) requires the court to find that “a class action is superior to other available
methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)
(emphasis added). Mr. Sharp claims that this class should not be certified on this basis, without
offering any appreciable warrant for his claim. Dkt. 192 at 7. Indeed, Mr. Sharp does not actually
argue against “superiority” as defined for Rule 23’s purposes, but asserts that this Court is not a
“superior” forum for this case as compared to the State Court. Dkt. 192 at 7-10. But that is not
the test under Rule 23(b); as the Cooperative has explained, the pendency of Fisher-Lewis should

not prevent these proceedings from reaching their natural conclusion in this Court. Mr. Sharp’s

42 To be clear, Dr. Harrison testified that he does not offer an opinion as to whether “the
class defined in Speaks [this proceeding] should be a certified class action.” Ex. CC (Harrison
Deposition) at Tr. 14:20-15:1. Moreover, while opining that the “proposed settlement does not
represent a fair, reasonable, and adequate resolution,” Dkt. 192, 4 8, Dr. Harrison by his own
account did not “speak to actual class members to get his take on whether they agreed” with his
views of the settlement. Ex. CC at Tr. 21:11-16.
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misplaced “superiority” arguments fail because they lack merit (as discussed at length herein), and
class action proceedings are permitted to proceed in parallel until one reaches final judgment.*

There should be no doubt that this case is appropriate for class action treatment. Under
Rule 23, “there is a strong presumption in favor of a finding of superiority [because] the alternative
to a class action is likely to be no action at all for the majority of class members.” Cavin v. Home
Loan Ctr., Inc., 236 F.R.D. 387,396 (N.D. Ill. 2006). Moreover, this litigation spans hundreds of
thousands of potential class members and a range of more than 70 years. It is unclear how counsel
for Mr. Sharp—actively contradicting their pro-certification positions from Fisher-Lewis—can
credibly oppose class action treatment for this parallel case that Mr. Sharp openly concedes is
“duplicative of the Lewis/Fisher state case.” Dkt. 192 at 4 (emphasis added). No reasonable
argument remains that this case is not ripe for class-wide treatment.

C. Class Members Are Adequately Represented In This Proceeding By Class
Representatives and Counsel

Hard pressed to challenge the fundamental fairness of the Settlement’s terms, Mr. Sharp,
through class counsel in Fisher-Lewis, turns to attacking the adequacy of both the class
representatives and class counsel in this proceeding. Dkt. 192 at 10-13. Those arguments, too,

are errant.

43 Mr. Sharp points to the geographical concentration of tobacco farms in North Carolina,
South Carolina, and Virginia, but that by no means counsels in favor of finding the North Carolina
courts “superior,” even if that were the appropriate test under Rule 23(b), which it is not. (Cf. Dkt.
192 at 9-10.) The proposed settlement class here, like the Fisher-Lewis class, is nationwide in
scope, extending to hundreds of thousands of long-since retired growers as well as their “heirs”
and “assigns.” Neither the Objectors nor the Commissioners of Agriculture purport to explain why
the historical location of certain tobacco farmers counsels against the exercise of federal
jurisdiction in this case. Even crediting Mr. Sharp’s argument at face value, the population of
three states are disproportionately represented in this case—which, if anything, commends a
neutral, federal forum over that of any one state. In any event, it suffices to note that this case is
squarely within federal jurisdiction in multiple respects, for the reasons stated in Part 1.
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1. Class Representatives Adequately Represent The Interests Of The
Class

Mr. Sharp asserts that the interests of class members here “are not adequately represented
by the class representatives.” Dkt. 192 at 10. He bases this claim on the mere existence of
differences between class members with respect to years of membership in the Cooperative, when
tobacco was produced, and what profit (if any) was derived during the crop years in which tobacco
was produced. /d. at 10-11. This is much the same argument Mr. Sharp makes concerning alleged
intra-class conflicts, id. at 6-7, and it fails for much the same reasons. All class members, like all
named representatives, share the same common question in this litigation: that is, whether they
have a shared legal right to funds retained by the Cooperative post-FETRA. See supra Part IV.A.
Indeed, the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs sought class certification on the ground that “all class
members” have a common legal interest in determining “whether [the Cooperative] may only
retain reasonable reserves and whether the amounts retained are reasonable.” Dkt. 123-5 at 29-30
(July 9, 2012 Motion for Class Certification).

Dr. Harrison similarly fails to establish that the class representatives do not adequately
represent the interests of the class—even assuming arguendo that an academic economist
specializing in risk management, Dkt. 192-7 at 12 (Curricula Vitae of Glenn W. Harrison), is
remotely competent to opine on this issue. Indeed, Dr. Harrison applies entirely incorrect legal
principles to guide a statistical analysis of the class representatives, determining whether “[a]s a
group the named plaintiffs” could “serve as a representative sample of the class as a whole.” Dkt.
192-7, 9 18. Dr. Harrison focuses on the named plaintiffs’ residence in “only 5 counties in North
Carolina” and concludes, by undisclosed methodology, that “67%” of tobacco sold through the
Cooperative between 1982 and 2004 was produced in North Carolina. That is not the correct legal

test, nor are those the relevant factors. Rule 23’s “adequacy” requirement asks “whether the absent

59
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 71 of 129



class members, who will be bound by the result, are protected by a vigorous and competent
prosecution of the case by someone who shares their interest.” Mitchell-Tracey v. United Gen.
Title Ins., 237 F.R.D. 551, 558 (D. Md. 2006) (emphasis added). Courts in this judicial district
have distilled this issue: “the representative plaintiffs must not have interests antagonistic to
those of the class.” In re Red Hat, Inc. Sec. Litig., 261 F.R.D. 83, 88 (E.D.N.C. 2009) (emphasis
added). Plainly, the focus is not whether the named representatives are—as a matter of quantitative
calculation—a representative sample of the class at large in some abstract sense, but whether the
representatives can serve the interests of the absentees. Indeed, questions can always be raised as
to whether a particular set of named representatives are representative of the class—whether in
terms of hair color, height, geographic origin, or income level. But those questions have no bearing
unless the differences matter to the underling interests at play in a given case.**

Here, the class representatives have the same interests as all other class members and no
one has even purported to show the contrary. Objectors have not offered a “scintilla of evidence”
that would “indicate that the named plaintiffs have any claim or interest that conflicts with those
of the proposed” class members. Mitchell-Tracy, 237 F.R.D. at 558. The facts are to the contrary.
Each named plaintiff is a current or former member of the Cooperative and, as such possesses a
real and substantial interest in the suit. See Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) § 2. Each signed the same
marketing agreement with the Cooperative, held a similar stock certificate, and patronized the
Cooperative within the relevant period. Id. Y 21-23. Moreover, since filing suit, these

representatives have committed to vigorous prosecution. As the declarations submitted by each of

4 When pressed to defend his view that the named plaintiffs’ geographic location is a

pertinent consideration, Dr. Harrison admitted that “it makes no difference geographically where
they’re located,” and that he is “not aware of any disparate treatment in the proposed settlement
between people based on” geography. Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 257:18-258:6.
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the named plaintiffs make clear, they, inter alia, reviewed the Complaint, participated in numerous
meetings and conference calls with their counsel, provided documents, and personally participated
in the two-day mediation in May 2017.%

Last, Mr. Sharp is wrong to argue that the representatives here cannot be adequate because
the “Lewis class representatives have been found adequate by the [North Carolina courts].” Dkt.
192 at 12. Again, Mr. Sharp—under guidance of counsel in Fisher-Lewis—attaches talismanic
significance to the certification of class in that case, treating it as though it excludes all others. In
so doing, he engages the “common misunderstanding[] that certification of a class in one suit
somehow forestalls other related cases.” Newberg § 10:33. Nothing about the certification of a
class in Fisher-Lewis speaks to the adequacy of the class representatives in this proceeding or
forecloses the ability of this Court to evaluate and certify a class. See supra Part I1.

2. Class Counsel Are Adequate

Mr. Sharp asserts that class counsel in this proceeding are not “adequate” to represent the
interests of the proposed settlement class. Dkt. 192 at 10-12. To satisty Rule 23’s “adequacy”
standard, “counsel must be qualified, experienced, and generally able to conduct the proposed
litigation.” In re Red Hat, Inc. Sec. Litig., 261 F.R.D. 83, 88 (E.D.N.C. 2009). Here, class counsel
amply meets that standard, having successfully brought, litigated, or settled many class action
claims and demonstrating intimate familiarity with and command of the policies and procedures

specific to class action suits. See Dkt. 58 at 28-29 (Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Prelim. Approval).*¢

45 See Dkt. 86-7 (Decls. Of Alex Shugart, Daniel Lee Nelson, H. Randle Wood, Mike
Mitchell, Robert Poindexter, Roy L. Cook, Stanley Smith, Teresa M. Speaks, Toby Speaks; Dkt.
87 (Decl. of Robin Rogers); Dkt. 88 (Decl. of Eddie Brown).

4 These cases include Ruff, et al. v. Parex, Inc., et al., New Hanover County Superior

Court, NC, Civ. No. 96-CVS-0059; Coleman, et al. v. Lincoln Wood Products, Inc., New Hanover
County Superior Court, N.C., Civ. No. 99-CVS-1362; Talalai v. Cooper Tire and Rubber
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Mr. Sharp also asserts that class counsel was not permitted to engage in the pre-settlement
mediation and “lacked the authority at the time of the negotiation, execution of the term sheet and
execution of the settlement agreement to represent the legal interests of the Lewis class members.”
Dkt. 192 at 13. That is meritless. As the Cooperative has explained, “the pendency of an action
in the state court is no bar to proceedings concerning the same matter in the Federal court having
jurisdiction,” Alliance Int’l, No. 5:08-CV-214-BR, 2008 WL 2859095, at *3, and it would be a
“misunderstanding” of the law to conclude that “mere certification of a class in one suit somehow
forestalls other related cases.” Newberg § 10:33. To the extent that Mr. Sharp and his counsel
continue to maintain that the mere existence of a “certified” class in Fisher-Lewis disables this
Court’s authority or strips the litigants in this case of their rights and obligations, their position is
untenable. See supra Part 1. In any event, the Local Rules of this Court ultimately required
mediation of this dispute, which was designated as “160-Breach of Contract on the Civil Cover
Sheet.” See Local Rule 101.1(a)(b) (designating certain categories of civil cases as “automatically
selected for mediated settlement conferences.”).

V. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS LACK MERIT, AND THE SETTLEMENT PROVIDES
FAIR, REASONABLE, AND ADEQUATE COMPENSATION

The main reason Objectors ask this Court to deny final approval to the Settlement is that
they consider $24 million too low. Objectors’ essential premise is that this case—and Fisher-
Lewis—should proceed through litigation because a pot of tens of millions more, or maybe even

hundreds of millions more, awaits at the end of the litigation rainbow. But they are mistaken.

Company, Middlesex County, N.J., L-008839-MT; Wroebel v. Sears Roebuck and Company, Cook
County Circuit Court, I11., 02 CH 23058; Nye v. Trition PCS Holdings Co., New Hanover County
Superior Court, N.C. Civ. No. 05-CVS-0548; Owens v. Hendricks Automotive, et al., Union
County Superior Court, NC, No. 04-CVS-2301; Owens v. Sonic Automotive, Inc., Craven County
Superior Court, NC, No. 12-CVS-576; Rodriguez v. Sallie Mae, Inc., et al., D. Conn., No. 3:07-
cv-01866-WWE.
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Their various submissions together betray an ill-informed, and, indeed, irrational view of the
litigation. If the claims in this case (or related claims in related cases) proceed to final judgment,
as they have in Rigby, the established law and facts overwhelmingly point to the Cooperative
achieving a complete victory, and leaving all Class Members, including the Objectors, with no
recovery at all. Nor can a similarly generous settlement be anticipated further down the road—as
legal expenses mount, the Cooperative’s willingness and ability to devote precious cash resources
to class members dwindles.

As noted, “the most important factor in evaluating the adequacy of a class action settlement
is the relative strengths of plaintiffs’ case and the existence of any defense or difficulties of proof.”
Horton, 855 F. Supp. at 831. Not a single Objector—not one—explains how the Settlement is
unfair insomuch as Plaintiffs will succeed on the merits. Tellingly, not even counsel for the Sharp
Objectors—class counsel in Fisher-Lewis—or Mr. Sharp’s purported expert, Dr. Harrison, can
substantiate the underlying claims.*’ Cf. Dkt. 192. Instead, the objections simply assert that $24
million is too low. Once measured against “the relative strength of the plaintiffs’ case on the
merits,” Horton, 855 F. Supp. at 828, however, the Settlement proposed here provides resolution

that is more than fair and adequate for class members themselves.

47 In his affidavit, Dr. Harrison opines that the settlement suffers from “[a]ggregate
[ilnadequacy” merely because $22 million is less than the Cooperative’s net worth (which he
overstates). See Dkt. 192-7, 99 9-10; cf. infra Part V.C. Yet Dr. Harrison testified that he “did not
undertake any . . . analysis to assess the strengths or weaknesses of the [Clooperative’s...defenses
in th[is] lawsuit,” Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 24:2-7, and that he did not think “it was
important to understand the circumstances surrounding the negotiation that was had to reach the
settlement,” id. at Tr. 27:16-21. In these respects and more, Dr. Harrison’s conclusions about the
settlement’s adequacy are out of touch with the applicable standard and undeserving of any weight.
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A. Plaintiffs Cannot Prevail On Any Cause Of Action As Matter of Law

Although this Court need not “reach any dispositive conclusions” on the “legal issues in
this case,” Flinn, 528 F.2d at 1172-73, review of the facts and law demonstrates that the claims in
this case rest on shaky ground and most likely would yield zero recovery for class members.

1. The Cooperative Is Expressly Authorized To Designate, Maintain, And
Control Its Reserve

The Amended Complaint, like Fisher-Lewis, seeks, through a variety of causes of action,
to force distribution of the Cooperative’s reserve. No matter how the legal claims are styled, they
all fail as a matter of law because the Cooperative has express, unassailable powers to establish,
maintain, and control its reserves.

(a) North Carolina Law Authorizes The Cooperative’s Reserve

First, the Cooperative is organized and incorporated “under the Cooperative Marketing Act
of the State of North Carolina.” See Dkt. 123-8 (Articles of Incorporation, dated June 1, 1949)
Preamble (SC 16253). The Cooperative Marketing Act, N.C.G.S. § 54-129 et seq., was enacted
“to promote, foster, and encourage the intelligent and orderly producing and marketing of
agricultural products through cooperation....” In support of this stated policy, the Legislature
specifically vested “each association incorporated under [the Cooperative Marketing Act]” with
the power to “establish reserves and to invest the funds thereof in bonds or such other property as
may be provided in the bylaws.” Id. § 54-151(5) (emphases added).

(b) The Cooperative’s Articles Of Incorporation And By-Laws
Authorize The Reserve

Second, the Cooperative’s governing documents have always permitted it to maintain a
reserve at the Board’s discretion. Article XI of the Articles of Incorporation states that the
Cooperative “shall have the right to establish and maintain a capital reserve for the future
conduct of its business.” Dkt. 123-8 (Articles of Incorporation, June 19, 1979 amendment) at Art.
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XI (SC 16274). Prior to 1979, the Cooperative’s Articles permitted it to “have and exercise . . .
all powers, privileges and rights conferred on ordinary corporations and cooperative marketing
associations by the law of this State[.]” Id. (Articles of Incorporation, dated Jun. 1, 1946) at Art.
VII(g) (SC 16257-58). These powers include the right to establish reserves. See N.C.G.S. § 54-
151(5). Likewise, the by-laws establish that the Cooperative “may set aside and retain as capital
for use in the business of the association the net earnings . . . derived by the association....” Dkt.
73-3 (By-laws dated December 9, 2010) at Art. XI, § 4 (SC 16023) (emphasis added). The by-
laws have authorized the Cooperative’s Board to create and maintain a reserve, in its sole
discretion, dating to the first years of the Cooperative’s existence. For instance, the 1947 by-laws
provided that “[w]henever in the discretion of the board of directors the capital reserves are found
to be in excess of the amount deemed reasonably necessary for the sound financial operations of
the association, such excess shall be applied to paying off ” earlier capital contributions. Ex. A
(By-laws dated June 3, 1947) at Art. XVI (SC-GA 10780) (emphasis added).*®

(¢) Funds Received From The Sale Of Tobacco Under FETRA Are
An Authorized Part Of The Reserve

Plaintiffs in this case—like those in Righy and Fisher-Lewis—specifically seek the forced
distribution of the Cooperative’s “reserv[e],” including “approximately $125 million” in funds

derived from the sale of tobacco ceded to the Cooperative pursuant to FETRA. Dkt. 64, Am.

48 This authority has been in the Cooperative’s by-laws since its inception. See Ex. O

(By-laws dated July 20, 1967), at Art. XVI (SC 13215) (committing capital reserves to the board’s
discretion); Ex. P (By-laws dated August 12, 1983) at Art. XVII, § 4 (SC 13248) (permitting the
Cooperative to “set aside and retain as capital” non-patronage net earnings and establishing that
“[a]mounts so set aside and retained may be used for such purposes of the association as shall be
determined by the board of directors.”); Ex. Q (By-laws dated May 10, 2002) at Art. XVII, § 4
(FCTSC 000264) (same); Ex. R (By-laws dated November 14, 2003) at Art. XVII, § 4 (SC 009)
(same).
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Compl. at § 29. In addition to its broad, general power to create reserves, as vested by North
Carolina law and its governing documents, the Cooperative was specifically authorized to retain
the FETRA funds by controlling operation of federal law, which is of course supreme. To the
extent Plaintiffs suggest that the FETRA funds must be distributed, they fail to recognize that (1)
FETRA expressly grants control of the funds to the Cooperative; and (2) their state-law claims
cannot be used to contradict the Congressional decision to cede federal monies for the Cooperative
to use as it sees fit.*’

First, in 7 U.S.C. § 519(b), Congress returned “to the association [i.e., the Cooperative] for
disposal” an allotment of tobacco crop (as calculated by a statutory formula), specifying “the
association shall be responsible for the disposal’ of it. That resulted in the CCC ceding to the
Cooperative millions of pounds of tobacco, which the Cooperative disposed of via sale, proceeds
from which remain reflected in its reserve. Where Congress intended to compel distribution of
FETRA funds directly to growers, it said so. See id. § 519(d) (stating that funds “shall be
transferred to the association for distribution to producers,” as then occurred for those funds). The
language in subsection (d), by its terms, requires distribution to the “producers,” whereas the
language in subsection (b) vests responsibility for the disposal of ceded tobacco in “the
association.” That difference in language is meaningful and dispositive. When Congress uses

different language in a statute, it is presumed to have a different meaning and effect. See Henson

v. Santander Consumer USA Inc., 137 S. Ct. 1718, 1723 (2017) (“[ W]hen we’re engaged in the

49 Plaintiffs also cannot assert a cause of action under FETRA because Congress did not
confer a privately enforceable right. Lay v. Burley Stabilization Corp., 312 F. App’x 752, 757 (6th
Cir. Feb. 12, 2009) (Moore, J., concurring) (“The Fair and Equitable Tobacco Reform Act of 2004
(‘FETRA”’) does not include a civil-suit provision, nor do the parties suggest that it implies a
private right of action.”); accord Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 286-88 (2001) (refusing to
recognize implied private rights of action absent affirmative act of Congress).
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business of interpreting statutes we presume differences in language like this convey differences
in meaning.”). The USDA confirmed FETRA’s clear intent, writing that the Cooperative was free
to use the tobacco “in any manner that it desires.”°

Second, once federal law allocates property to a specified entity, as FETRA did to the
Cooperative, state-law claims by anyone else to that property are preempted. See, e.g., Hillman v.
Maretta, 569 U.S. 483,490 (2013) (quoting Crosby v. Nat’l Foreign Trade Council, 530 U.S. 363,
372 (2000)) (“State law is pre-empted to the extent of any conflict with federal statute.”).’! Even
setting aside all of their other problems, Plaintiffs’ claims clearly threaten to trespass upon
Congress’s decision to vest discretion with the Cooperative and its Board. Therefore, federal law
completely preempts any effort by Plaintiffs to call upon state law as requiring that the funds

conferred by the federal government instead be rerouted as Plaintiffs prefer (e.g., distribution).

(d) The Cooperative’s Authority To Establish And Maintain A
Reserve Has Been Long Known To Class Members

The Cooperative’s authority to create and maintain a reserve is not only clear from its

charter and federal authorization, but was known to class members throughout the Cooperative’s

50 Dkt. 123-16 (Mar. 21, 2005 Letter to Lioniel Edwards) at SC 07578 (emphasis added).

S State law claims are “pre-empted to the extent of amy conflict with a federal

statute.” Hillman v. Maretta, 133 S. Ct. 1943, 1949 (2013) (quoting Crosby v. Nat 'l Foreign Trade
Council, 530 U.S. 363, 372 (2000)) (emphasis added). The United States Supreme Court has
invalidated judgments wherein a state law remedy intruded on the distribution of property rights,
as envisioned by a federal statutory scheme. See Wissner v. Wissner, 338 U.S. 655, 658-61 (1950)
(holding that the federal National Service Life Insurance Act of 1940, permitting insured to
designate a beneficiary, preempted California state intestacy law calling for disbursement of
benefits to widow as community property because “Congress has spoken with force and clarity in
directing that the proceeds belong to the named beneficiary and no other”); see also Egelhoff v.
Egelhoff, 532 U.S. 141 (2001) (state-law claim to ERISA funds pre-empted by federal statutory
scheme); Boggs v. Boggs, 520 U.S. 833 (1997) (similar); Mansell v. Mansell, 490 U.S. 581 (1989)
(state-law claim to military pay in a divorce proceeding preempted by federal statutory scheme).
Here, Plaintiffs attempt to force distribution of property under state law—in contravention of the
FETRA statute—must meet the same result.
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history. Indeed, this authorization was featured on the Cooperative’s marketing agreements with
its members, which stated that any discretionary distributions first permitted, without qualification,
for “a reasonable deduction for reserves as determined by the Board of Directors.” Ex. DD
(Marketing Agreement) at SMF29057. Lest there be any doubt, depositions of the named
representatives in Fisher-Lewis and of plaintiffs in Righy confirm that they understood the broad
scope of the Cooperative’s authority. Kay Fisher testified that, having read the articles of
incorporation, she was “aware” that “the articles authorize [the Cooperative] to retain a reserve[.]”
Ex. S (Fisher Deposition) at Tr. 138:5-11. Pender Sharp himself testified that he “would suspect
[it]’s true” that the Cooperative’s “articles and bylaws authorize the board of directors to retain
money as reserves for the operation of the cooperative[.]” Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 61:10-
14.5% Similarly, Daniel Lewis—who attempted to intervene to prevent this Settlement, but has not
filed any objection to it, electing instead to remove himself from the class, Dkt. 184—testified that
the Cooperative’s directors “could hold the money and do as they saw fit,” including by using it
“for the purposes of continuing operations of the cooperative[.]” Ex. T (Lewis Deposition) at Tr.
94:6-12.

The Board’s discretionary authority with respect to maintaining the reserves and

withholding distributions was likewise known to Whitney King, who testified that she was “quite

52 This view is endorsed by Dr. Harrison, who not only agrees that the Cooperative’s by-
laws provide “discretion [to] the board of directors to establish and retain capital reserve[s][,]” Ex.
CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 118:25-119:6, but testified that there “should be” permission for
directors to establish reserves “in bylaws for a cooperative association or any—any corporation
actually.” Id. at Tr. 119:5-9. Dr. Harrison further testified that “in fact, it’s proper risk
management practices to construct reserves.” Id. at Tr. 120:21-22 (emphasis added). Beyond
acknowledging that cooperatives should be authorized to accumulate reserves, Dr. Harrison
conceded that the North Carolina Cooperative Marketing Act in fact “explicitly allows . . . for a
cooperative to engage in manufacturing activity” and “to establish reserves” Id. at Tr. 116:25-
117:21. Dr. Harrison likewise agreed that the Cooperative’s Articles of Incorporation, by-laws,
and marketing agreements equally convey this power. /d. at Tr. 118:14-17, 120:9-15.
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aware” that “the board of directors has discretion regarding whether it keeps money or whether it
distributes it[,]” and would “absolutely” agree that “reasonable people can disagree about the
decisions that have been made[.]” Ex. U (King Deposition) at Tr. 150:15-23.

This recognition comports with longstanding disclosures and understandings throughout
decades in which the Cooperative’s reserve was openly and forthrightly disclosed to members, see
Dkt. 73-4 (December 1975 Newsletter); Dkt. 123-18 (July 1990 Newsletter)—all without any
challenge being raised, much less a class-action lawsuit being filed. Indeed, Julian Rigby testified
that he “would assume that [he] did” receive the December 1975 Newsletter, Ex. V (2015 Rigby
Deposition) at Tr. 128:22-24, and understood that the Cooperative’s announcement contemplated
that “the [Clooperative not only might but should be able to carry on without external federal
financing.” Id. at Tr. 130:10-14. David Lee, another named plaintiff in the Righy case, similarly
agreed that, upon review of the December 1975 Newsletter, the Cooperative “should retain some
earnings,” Ex. W (Lee Deposition) at Tr. 76:3-11, and further agreed that no board member from
the Cooperative ever informed him that the Cooperative’s “way of seeing things” regarding the
reserve had “changed from what [was] report[ed] in [the December 1975 newsletter]|” id. at Tr.
78:6-13.3

2. The Business-Judgment Rule Protects The Cooperative’s Good Faith
Decision to Establish And Maintain Reserves

To the extent Plaintiffs nevertheless purport to challenge, somehow, the Cooperative’s duly

authorized reserve, the most they can hope to do is to fault the discretionary decision-making

53 By contrast, it appears to be mere personal belief that the Cooperative was required to
distribute funds, or that the board of directors should taken another course of action, that animates
these claims. Thomas Rhoad, a plaintiff in Fisher-Lewis, typifies this view, testifying that it was
“just my belief that . . . when [the Cooperative] was organized...it was stipulated in there that a
portion of the profits would go back to the farmer,” while admitting that “I do not” have “any facts
or information to support [his] understanding.” See Ex. X (Rhoad Deposition) at Tr. 28:5-18.
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currently animating the Cooperative’s reserve. But any such line of challenge is similarly
unavailing—by no stretch of the imagination can anyone prove that the Cooperative’s continuing
use of its reserve is irrational. To the contrary, the reserve is what funds the Cooperative’s efforts
to sustain tobacco farmers who face tougher and tougher challenges, without a federally-mandated
safety net, from the modern (and generally declining) market for tobacco and tobacco products.
Supra Statement of Facts, Sections B-D; infra Section V.B. North Carolina’s business-judgment
rule “protects corporate directors from being judicially second-guessed when they exercise
reasonable care and business judgment.” Hammonds v. Lumbee River Elec. Memb. Corp., 178
N.C. App. 1, 21, 631 S.E.2d 1, 13-14 (2006).>* And, even if Plaintiffs or some objector would
somehow try to prove that the reserve is unreasonable (they cite no evidence on this critical point),
they cannot realistically overcome the “powerful substantive presumption that a decision by a
loyal and informed board will not be overturned by a court unless it cannot be attributed to any
rational business purpose.” Ehrenhaus v. Baker, 216 N.C. App. 59, 83, 717 S.E.2d 9, 25 (2011)

(citations omitted) (emphases added).>

>4 Hammonds confirms that the business-judgment rule applies to agricultural

cooperatives in North Carolina. There, plaintiffs (members of a North Carolina rural electric
cooperative) alleged that certain actions by the board were discriminatory. 178 N.C. App. at 3. In
affirming dismissal, the Court of Appeals found that the board’s decisions were protected by the
business-judgment rule, consistent with the North Carolina statute under which the cooperative
was incorporated. Id. at 14. The powers conveyed by the Cooperative Marketing Act to the
Cooperative are no different. See N.C.G.S. § 54-146 (placing control of the Cooperative under a
board of directors).

55 North Carolina joins other states in applying the business-judgment rule to avoid undue
encroachment upon board decisions specifically concerning the size and use of capital reserves.
See Happ v. Creek Pointe Homeowner’s Assoc., 215 N.C. App. 96, 102, 717 S.E.2d 401, 404-05
(2011) (finding business-judgment rule protected board’s decision to distribute remaining funds
from a litigation fund at a “pro rata rate to members” notwithstanding plaintiff’s claim that
proceeds should have been used for other projects in the community); Gaines v. Long Mfg. Co.,
234 N.C. 331, 336-39, 67 S.E.2d 355, 359-61 (1951) (applying business-judgment rule principles
in refusing to force declaration of a dividend); Lake Region Packing Ass 'n, Inc. v. Furze, 327 So.2d

70
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 82 of 129



The Cooperative would respectfully argue that the business-judgment rule should yield
dismissal as a matter of law. A complaint challenging business judgment must be dismissed unless
it alleges “in other than conclusory terms, that the board was inattentive or uninformed, acted in
bad faith or that the board’s decision was unreasonable.” Winters v. First Union Corp., No. 01-
CVS-5362, 2001 WL 34000144, at *3 (N.C. Super. Ct. July 12, 2001). At most, Plaintiffs allege,
in conclusory fashion, that the Cooperative’s “fail[ure]” to “allocate and distribute” funds to
members comprises a failure “to follow sound business judgment.” Dkt. 64, Am. Compl. at q 94;
see also id. at 9 1, 82(h), 95. These are precisely the type of conclusory allegations that the
business-judgment rule protects against.

Even setting that aside, however, the business-judgment rule should translate to an ultimate
judgment for the Cooperative on the merits because there is no serious prospect of any challenger
proving, as they must, that the Cooperative’s decisions “cannot be attributed to any rational
business purpose.” Ehrenhaus, 216 N.C. App. at 83, 717 S.E.2d at 25 (quoting Hammonds, 178
N.C. App. at 20-21, 631 S.E.2d at 13-14). Here, Plaintiffs’ case, at best (setting aside all other
defects), boils down to the mere personal disagreement some members have with the
Cooperative’s decisions to maintain the reserve—a disagreement that the expert retained by the
Rigby plaintiffs (a Certified Public Accountant with over 40 years of experience auditing

agricultural cooperatives, who had additionally served as a board member for two agricultural

212, 214-17 (Fla. 1976) (relying on business-judgment rule in refusing to force distribution of
funds held by agricultural cooperative in a reserve account because “directors generally have wide
discretion in the performance of their duties and a court of equity will not attempt to pass upon
questions of the mere exercise of business judgment[.]”); Claassen v. Farmers Grain Coop., 490
P.2d 376, 381 (Kan. 1971) (refusing, in suit seeking to compel payment of patronage ledger credits,
to “substitute [its] judgment for the board of directors” and noting there is “no logical ground upon
which a member should be permitted to withdraw his interest at the expense of disturbing the
financial condition or the life of the association.”).
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cooperatives)®® was obliged to abandon once placed under oath. As the Righy plaintiffs’ expert
attested, “it would be prudent” for the Cooperative today to retain its reserve “in its total amount”
in order to continue “buying tobacco, processing it and marketing it themselves.” See Ex. Y
(Roberts Deposition at Tr. 70:14-71:9.) Nor have Plaintiffs or anyone else ever so much as
suggested that the Cooperative undertook an ill-considered or deficient decisional process when
establishing its reserve as it did back in 1975, with notice to all members. Dkt. 73-4, December
1975 Newsletter. Over the past decade-plus, justification for the reserve has only grown as the
Cooperative reinvented and sustained itself as a modern market participant, without benefit of the
federal subsidies that kept growers afloat for the previous fifty years. Supra Statement of Facts;
Infra Section V.B.

3. Distribution Is Not Mandatory Pursuant To North Carolina Law

Plaintiffs’ specific causes of action are further riddled with other legal defects that stand
between them and any success on the merits. Plaintiffs seek to force distribution of the
Cooperative’s reserves pursuant to the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act. Yet the Act
upon which they rely specially states that a “corporation may pay reasonable amounts,” and “may
confer benefits upon its members in conformity with its purposes.” N.C.G.S. § 55A-13-02(a)
(emphases added). Nothing in this statute requires or mandates distributions. To the contrary, the

legislature’s selection of the word “may” forecloses any misnomer that there is an affirmative,

6 See Ex. Y (Roberts Deposition) at 14:2-8 (“I audited GFA Peanut Association from
1960 to probably 2001. I’ve done the Central Georgia Cooperative for approximately 15 or 20
years, the Chickasha Quality Cotton Seed Cooperative for seven or eight years, and I also sat—
and then later sat on the—as a board of directors of that, and that was about it.”); id. at 32:24-33:2
(“A: Yes. I was on the board of directors and also—of Quality Cotton Seed Co-op and Chickasha
Cotton Oil Company of Tifton, Georgia.”).

72
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 84 of 129



enforceable “duty to distribute.”’ The distribution statute thus confirms that the Cooperative is
vested with discretion over its corporate capital and reserve. As for the claim for distribution
specifically of FETRA funds, that is foreclosed by the statute’s text and preemptive force. See
supra at Section V.A.1(c).

Mr. Sharp cites a Kentucky case involving a tobacco cooperative’s reserve funds—
Congleton—as the sole support for the proposition that this Cooperative is required to distribute
its reserve. Dkt. 192 at 15 (citing Attachment L, Dkt. 192-12). Rather than looking at the claims
in Rigby (which the Cooperative defeated in full), the other Georgia cases (which have each been
dismissed), or Fisher-Lewis (in which the plaintiffs are continually revising and narrowing their
theory of the case), Mr. Sharp resorts to a case against a different defendant, under different law,
with fundamentally different facts. Far from supporting the Objectors, however, Congleton
illuminates still more problems with their claims.

Congleton concerned claims for distribution of funds held by a burley tobacco cooperative
that were derived from the No Net Cost program and also FETRA. Dkt. 192-12 at 1. Plaintiffs in
Congleton demanded that the defendant-cooperative distribute funds that had been received from
the CCC and USDA, also pursuant to FETRA, asserting that the failure to do so amounted to a
breach of contract. Id. at 1-2. In the order initially submitted by Mr. Sharp, the Congleton court
flatly disagreed, holding that the “relationship between the [defendant] and grower-members” was
“primarily governed” by “the Articles and Bylaws of the Association . .. [none of which] contained
an absolute requirement of immediate distribution of all alleged net profits from the sale of loan

pool tobacco.” Id. at 6. Indeed, the order initially submitted by Mr. Sharp rules that the

57 See Correll v. Division of Social Serves., 332 N.C. 141, 144, 418 S.E. 2d 232, 235
(1992) (“When the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous . . . the courts must give it its
plain and definite meaning.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted).
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defendant’s “board of directors has always had the ability to determine the date and amount of any
distributions . . . according to its present financial needs and future plans and requirements” , and
that the defendant-cooperative’s decisions with respect to funds from the CCC and USDA were
exercises of its “business judgment[.]” Id. at 7. On this basis, the Congleton court granted
summary judgment to the defendant-cooperative, establishing that it had discretion and control
over the funds at issue. /d. at 8. The same result should and most likely would obtain here in the
Cooperative’s favor.

In a separate opinion and order in Congleton issued on March 15, 2007—Ilate submitted by
Mr. Sharp—the court held that the defendant-cooperative was required to distribute funds received
from FETRA. Dkt. 219 (replacement exhibit). To be clear, that order—which was never
appealed—erred in the Cooperative’s respectful view. Mr. Sharp’s belated submission of that
order is substantively unavailing, because it has no persuasive or precedential value on the facts of
this case. In the March 15, 2007 order, the Congleton court held that distribution of the FETRA
funds was required by the terms of the federal statute. Id. at 12-15. That reflected an obvious
misreading of the statute, however.® In any event, the Congleton court did not confront an on-

point letter such as that the Cooperative received from the U.S. Government, expressly confirming

58 To the extent the Congleton court’s March 15, 2017 Order concludes that the FETRA
legislation compelled distribution of funds directly to members, it is unpersuasive. As set forth
above, see Section V.A.l(c), the plain text of the statute vests the FETRA tobacco “to the
association for disposal.” 7 U.S.C. § 519(b). That does not admit of any ambiguity, especially
when read in conjunction with the differentiated text of 7 U.S.C. § 719(d), which requires in
express terms distribution to members. Notwithstanding the plain meaning of the statute, the
Congleton court wandered astray from the plain statutory text, relying instead on legislative history
and its own conclusions about legislative intent. See Dkt. 219 at 7-8, 12-13. Cf. Ayes v. U.S.
Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, 473 F.3d 104, 108 (4th Cir. 2006) (“In interpreting a statute, a court
should always turn first to one, cardinal canon of construction before all others: the plain meaning
rule.”) (internal citations and alterations omitted).
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that the Cooperative may “utilize these lots of tobacco in any manner that it desires.” Dkt. 73-28
(March 2005 Letter from USDA) at SC 16058.

Having erred in determining that FETRA required distribution of funds to members, the
Congleton court ordered distribution of FETRA funds based on the specific terms of contracts
entered into by the defendant-cooperative and each of its members.”® Dkt. 219 at 12. Those
contracts precisely and specifically established that the defendant-cooperative was entitled to
deduct from the sale of tobacco proceeds received “one percent of the gross re-sale value thereof
as a reserve for credits and other general corporate uses of the Association,” and thereafter set
forth a specific order of operations and formula for distributing remaining net gains to members.
See Dkt. 192-12 at 2-3, incorporated by reference in Dkt. 219 at 3. No such contracts are present
here—there are no such analogous terms in any of the Cooperative’s Stock Certificates or
Marketing Agreements with its members—and no one is even contending otherwise. Unlike the
contracts in Congleton, the Cooperative’s marketing agreements with members did not limit the
amount of funds that could be retained as a reserve (e.g., 1%), but allowed without qualification
for “a reasonable deduction for reserves as determined by the Board of Directors.” Ex. DD

(Sample Marketing Agreement). Especially considering the discretion suffusing the member

59 Dkt. 219 at 12 (“Pursuant to the Participation Certificates [contracts] . . . the Association
has a contractual obligation to distribute the proceeds from the sale of FETRA Tobacco . . . as
previously set forth in the Marketing Agreement contained in the Participation Certificates.”)
(emphasis added); id. at 13 (“Once the Association determined to dispose of the FETRA Tobacco
through a sale, it was contractually obligated to distribute the sales proceeds in accordance with
said contractual obligations.”) (emphasis added); id. at 16 (“Pursuant to its contractual obligations,
the Association continued to serve as agent for the produce-members in the “disposal” of the
FETRA Tobacco”) (emphasis added); id. (“The Association must now distribute to the rightful
owners of the FETRA Tobacco the proceeds thereon in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Marketing Agreement in the Participation Certificates. The Association breached its
contractual obligations . . . .”) (emphasis added).
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contracts here as well as the specific instruction from the U.S. Government that the Cooperative
could use the ceded tobacco as it saw fit, Congleton affords no support on the merits of this case.

4. There Are Not Grounds Permitting Judicial Dissolution

Plaintiffs’ alternate cause of action for judicial dissolution, Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) 9 97-
102, brought pursuant to the North Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, N.C.G.S. § 55A-14-30, is
also flawed. As noted, Plaintiffs cannot show—and have not even alleged—that the Cooperative
has undertaken actions that would bring it within the scope of any of the dissolution statute’s
relevant enumerated requirements. Plaintiffs cannot show that “the directors . . . have acted, are
acting, or will act in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, or fraudulent,” N.C.G.S. § 55A-14-

30(a)(2)(b);*° that the Cooperative’s “assets are being misapplied or wasted,”®! N.C.G.S. § 55A-

80 As described above, the Cooperative’s establishment, maintenance and use of its reserve
has been, at all times, consistent with the mandates of North Carolina law and its governing
documents. See supra Part V.A.1.

81" Plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis recently dropped their longstanding claims for

mismanagement of assets in their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, submitting that “[t]o the
extent that these matters were ever mentioned in pleadings, the Plaintiffs in this action no longer
pursue such claims. To put it plainly, this direct action will seek no relief for mismanagement of
cooperative assets.” See Dkt. 123-4 (Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Partial Summ. J.) at 11, Nov. 28,
2017.
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14-30(a)(2)(d);%? or that that the Cooperative “is no longer able to carry out its purposes,” N.C.G.S.
§ 55A-14-30(a)(2)(e).%

More fundamentally, North Carolina strongly disfavors dissolution. The dissolution statute
specifically requires that, “[p]rior to dissolving a corporation, the court shall consider” the
existence of “reasonable alternatives to dissolution,” and whether “dissolution is reasonably
necessary for the protection of the rights or the interests of the members,” N.C.G.S. § 55A-14-
30(b)(1)-(3) (emphasis added). In light of these statutory considerations, there is no plausible basis
for any other court to order dismantling of the Cooperative, especially considering that the
Cooperative is undisputedly engaged in active, ongoing, productive business for the continuing

benefit of the tobacco growers it serves.®

62" North Carolina courts look to Delaware law for guidance on the doctrine of waste and
define it as the “exchange of corporate assets for consideration so disproportionately small as to
lie beyond the range at which any reasonable person might be willing to trade,” and have
established that, if “there is any substantial consideration received by the corporation, and if there
is a good faith judgment that the circumstances of the transaction are worthwhile, there should be
no finding of waste.” Kreiger v. Johnson, No. 12 CVS 13727, 2014 WL 1759054, at *7 (N.C.
Super. Ct. Apr. 30, 2014) (quoting Lewis v. Vogelstein, 699 A.2d 327, 336 (Del. Ch. 1997))
(emphasis in original). There are no factual or legal allegations of waste and, if there were,
Plaintiffs could not prevail upon them. To the extent Plaintiffs attempt reliance on the
Cooperative’s purchase of the Timberlake facility to support a waste claim, Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.)
M 35, 44, that attempt fails because the Cooperative clearly received “any substantial”
consideration for its funds—the facility itself.

6 The Cooperative’s purposes are broad. The Articles of Incorporation permit the

Cooperative to “engage in any activity involving or relating to the business of . . . financing,
marketing, selling, and/or distribution, on a cooperative basis, of flue-cured tobacco.” Dkt. 123-8
(2010 Articles of Incorporation), Art. II (emphasis added). Those are the very activities in which
the Cooperative currently engages on a daily basis—purchasing flue-cured tobacco leaf from its
members and conducting business, including the operation of the Timberlake facility, to continue
building market demand for flue-cured tobacco products. See Kacsuta Decl. § 51.

64 The presence of an express cause of action for dissolution in this case though meritless,
establishes that it poses a greater threat to the Cooperative than Fisher-Lewis. In theory, it could
cause the Cooperative to fold up shop. Accordingly, Mr. Sharp’s objection that the presence of a
dissolution claim in this case makes it a weaker case is difficult to comprehend. See Dkt. 192 at
15. It also bears noting that Fisher-Lewis is also effectively seeking dissolution—although they
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5. Plaintiffs Are Not Entitled To Declaratory Judgment

Plaintiffs’ expansive claim for declaratory judgment likewise fails. Plaintiffs seek a
judicial declaration that (1) North Carolina law, or the Cooperative’s by-laws, require distributing
the reserves; (2) the Cooperative has acted unreasonably in failing to distribute its reserves; and
(3) the Cooperative’s “primary function” ceased to exist with the enactment of FETRA.%
Plaintiffs are not entitled to declaratory judgment on the first and second points because control of
the reserves is vested in the Cooperative’s discretion, as further protected by the business-judgment
rule and hard evidence of sound deliberations. See supra Part V.A.2. On the third point, there is
no legal or factual basis to conclude that the Cooperative’s “primary function” ceased with the
enactment of FETRA. Cf. Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) q 82(a); see also id. § 10. To the contrary, the
opposite is true: growers’ need for the Cooperative surged, as did the Cooperative’s need for a
reserve, precisely when FETRA was enacted and the federal government withdrew longstanding
federal price support for tobacco growers; in other words, FETRA made the Cooperative and its

66

reserve more essential than ever before.”™ Nor is there any doubt that the Cooperative’s stated

couch their claims as seeking “distribution,” plaintiffs there have recently resorted to suggesting
distribution of all of the Cooperative’s assets. See Dkt. 123-4 (Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Partial
Summ. J.) at 3, Nov. 28, 2017 (“The gravamen of the lawsuit is simply that the property held by
the cooperative is not the property of the cooperative. The class asks this court to take the funds
from the cooperative and give the funds to the proper owners, the class members.”) Because the
parallel proceedings bring claims that implicate common facts, allegations, and legal theories and
analyses, resolution of one should fully preclude the other. See infra Part VLF.

5 The cause of action for declaratory relief is sprawling, containing eight requests for

judicial declaration. See Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) § 82. The requests are here organized into three
categories for brevity.

66 See Dkt. 123-17 (2004 Annual Report) at 3 (explaining that the industry was at a
“crossroads” and noting the need for strategic responses to forthcoming legislation); Dkt. 123-13
(2005 Annual Report) at 1 (noting that the “United States Department of Agriculture has developed
the rules, regulations and methods for carrying out provisions of the Act” and delineating the
Cooperative’s 2005 season plans to support flue-cured tobacco growers).
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legal mission has remained live: The Cooperative’s Articles permit it to “engage in any activity
involving or relating to the business of . . . financing, marketing, selling, and/or distribution, on a
cooperative basis, of flue-cured tobacco.” Dkt. 123-8. Tellingly, no one—neither an Objector,
nor a Plaintiff, nor a putative amicus—has identified any authority suggesting that the
Cooperative’s purpose is or was narrowly confined to administering the programs that ended under
FETRA.%7 The law as well as the facts should foreclose any such contention.

6. Virtually All Allegations Are Time Barred

Even if Plaintiffs otherwise had valid claims on the merits, they are untimely under the
statute of limitations. The Amended Complaint—Iike that in Fisher-Lewis and the failed Rigby

litigation—primarily concerns reserve funds derived from the 1967-1973 and 1982-1984 crop

years. Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) 99 11-15. The Cooperative told the whole membership about its
decisions to create and increase the size of its capital reserve shortly after it acquired the funds,
announcing that it was withholding distribution of same. See Dkt. 73-4 & 123-18 (1975 and 1990
newsletters). North Carolina law imposes a general limitations period of 10 years from the date a
cause of action accrues. N.C.G.S. § 1-56 (“An action for relief not otherwise limited by this
subchapter may not be commenced more than 10 years after the cause of action has accrued.”).

Accordingly, this suit should have been filed as to the relevant funds, at the latest, in 2002 (10

87 Neither Plaintiffs nor any Objectors, despite claiming that FETRA somehow ended the
Cooperative’s “primary purpose,” assert that FETRA required the Cooperative to shut down
(dissolution) or to distribute its capital reserves (distribution). That is because nothing in the
legislation suggests as much. To the contrary, FETRA confirms Congress’s understanding and
desire that associations, such as the Cooperative, would continue to operate after the end of the
federal price support programs. After all, FETRA—in the same piece of legislation—both ended
price support and gave the association additional resources while stating that “the association
shall be responsible for the disposal’ of tobacco ceded thereunder. 7 U.S.C. § 519(d) (emphasis
added).
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years after the CCC released the last crop of tobacco to the Cooperative). Yet Fisher-Lewis was
not filed until 2005, and this suit was not filed until 2012. Accordingly, any claim to funds derived
from actions taken in the 1960s-1980s should be categorically out of play. As Mr. Sharp himself
put it in his sworn testimony back in 2006, the funds from the 1967-1973 crop years “should have
been sent out 30 years ago.” Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 39:14-17.%% The only allegations that
might arguably fall within any limitations period are those relating to the FETRA funds—and those
allegations independently fail for the multiple reasons already specified. See supra Part V.A.1.
The statute of limitations proved insurmountable for the individual claims in Rigby,* and would
be no more readily surmounted here (or in Fisher-Lewis).

7. Any Damages Would Be Limited to $5 Per Member

Even if Plaintiffs could somehow establish liability (a highly remote and improbable

prospect), any class member would, at most, be entitled to a maximum of five dollars ($5.00) in

damages. Each Class Member, in exchange for paying $5 to join the Cooperative, obtained a share

of common stock that had “Cammen Stack at $5 Per Share” printed prominently atop it, along with

8 Like other class members, Mr. Sharp misunderstands the source of the $110 million

Additional Paid-In Capital, believing mistakenly that those funds are comprised of No Net Cost
assessments. See also infra Part V.C. Those funds in fact comprise the proceeds from the sale of
tobacco grown in the 1982-1984 crop years that the CCC released to the Cooperative in the early
1990s. Even if he were right, however, the claim would still be untimely. Mr. Sharp stated under
oath that it “was common knowledge throughout the industry and—and through the printed press
at the time back during the — the late ‘80s and early ‘90s”—that there “was supposed to be
certificates issued” for the funds from the 1982-1984 crop years. Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr.
31:1-9.

89" See Dkt. 73-15 (January 3, 2013 Order on Motion to Dismiss or for Summary Judgment)
(dismissing claim related to 1967-1973 reserve funds as time-barred); Dkt. 73-16 (March 28, 2014
Georgia Court of Appeals Decision) (affirming dismissal); see also Ex. Z (Peterson Deposition) at
Tr. 65:6-15 (Q: “In your view, basically, to the extent that the Cooperative had cash reserves that
it was accumulating from the 1970s, 1980s and 1990s on forward, all that money was owed to the
members during those years, during that period of time?” A: “Yes.” Q: “And the Cooperative
basically wronged the members by not paying them in those years in the 1970s, 1980s and 1990s?”
A: “Yes.”).
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specific terms specifying that a member’s maximum claim upon the Cooperative, by virtue of mere
membership interest, would be limited to “the par or book value of such stock, whichever is less.”
Dkt. 73-3 (2010 By-laws), Art. VII; Dkt. 73-29 (Sample Stock Certificate). This same language
was also in the Cooperative’s governing by-laws and Articles of Incorporation. E.g., Ex. A (1947
By-laws) & Dkt. 123-8 (Articles of Incorporation).
* * *

Chief among the reasons that this $24 million Settlement should be approved under Rule
23 is that the class claims—Ilike those in Rigby and Fisher-Lewis—simply are not viable. Absent
this Settlement, Class Members are likeliest to receive nothing at the conclusion of trial, judgment,
1,70

and any appea

B. Plaintiffs Cannot Prevail Because The Cooperative’s Use Of The “Reserve”
Has Been Reasonable

Mr. Sharp contends that “North Carolina law does not allow [the Cooperative] to make a
profit, but it may maintain a reasonable reserve.” Dkt. 192 at 18 (emphasis added). Mr. Sharp
thus admits that the Cooperative is legally permitted to establish a reserve, disputing only its
reasonableness. But Mr. Sharp’s understanding of the size of the Cooperative’s reserve—Ilike that
of his fellow objectors and the Plaintiffs—is factually misinformed. The “reserves available for

distribution are” most definitely not the “$350,000,000” Mr. Sharp claims. /d. As described

0" Dr. Harrison acknowledges that, if “there exists a small enough probability of victory”
on the merits of this suit, the settlement “would be reasonable in that sense.” Ex. CC (Harrison
Deposition) at Tr. 100:1-101:3. He added that the reasonableness of the settlement is “not a
Jjudgment for me to make,” but rather one “for the lawyers bringing the case to make and it’s a
judgment for the plaintiffs — for defendants to make[,] and it’s a judgment specifically for the
court[.]” Id. at Tr. 101:3-8 (emphasis added). According to Dr. Harrison, the only analysis behind
his view that the settlement value was too low was this: he determined the “upper bound” for the
settlement via “mere arithmetic,” specifically by calculating “assets minus liabilities.” Id. at Tr.
107:3-108:8.
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below and in the Declaration of the Cooperative’s Chief Financial Officer Ed Kacsuta, the
Cooperative holds approximately $11.5 million in cash, with another $129.5 million in short- and
long-term investments in interest-bearing obligation. Kacsuta Decl. § 71. And, as described in
the expert declaration filed by Dr. Randal Rucker, an agricultural economist at Montana State
University, the vast majority of the Cooperative’s assets are currently deployed to support
activities sustaining growers of flue-cured tobacco—members and non-members alike. Rucker
Decl. 9/ 53-54. These activities go well beyond contracting with growers—who generally want
to sell the Cooperative more than it can afford to buy each year. Kacsuta Decl. 4 52. They extend
to operating marketing centers where the Cooperative purchases tobacco from growers (tobacco
that then takes years to in turn sell to manufacturers), as well as the operation of its cigarette
manufacturing, processing, and distribution business and the Cooperative’s ceaseless push to
market its flue-cured tobacco around the world. Depleting the Cooperative’s “reserve” at
Plaintiffs’ behest would necessarily undermine the Cooperative’s current operations, thereby
disrupting the Cooperative’s business strategy and harming the Cooperative’s members, who rely
on the Cooperative to purchase their tobacco at a fair price and to cultivate a receptive market for
it. Therefore, even if Plaintiffs had a viable cause of action, any claim would still fail because the

Cooperative’s use of funds and the size of its current “reserve” is reasonable, by any fair measure.”’

"I Objectors have proffered no evidence whatsoever to support their assertion that some

unspecified portion of the Cooperative’s reserve is unreasonable. Tellingly, during his January
10, 2018 deposition, Dr. Harrison responded “no” when asked if he had “a sense of what the
reserve is currently.” Ex. CC at Tr. 105:16-19. That is because Dr. Harrison had not “under taken
any analysis to determine what portion of the [Clooperative’s quote/unquote reserve is
reasonable.” Id. at Tr. 102:20-23. Dr. Harrison could not say whether the Cooperative’s reserve
was “below $22 million or above it,” because he “had not looked at it” prior to opining on the
adequacy of this proposed settlement. /d. at Tr. 105:20-22. Indeed, he did not “know how the $22
million proposed settlement compared to the size of the reserve,” id. at Tr. 120-120:3, and was
“not in a position to present opinions” on the reserve’s reasonableness because he did not “have
the facts before me,” id. at Tr. 89:10-22.
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What the Plaintiffs and Mr. Sharp mistakenly call the “reserve” originally derived from
three sources: $26.8 million from the sale of tobacco from 1967-1973 (the Capital Equity Credits);
$110 million that the Cooperative acquired by selling tobacco ceded to it by the CCC in the early
1990s (the Additional Paid-In Capital); and $81 million that the Cooperative acquired by selling
tobacco ceded to it under FETRA in 2004 (the Contributed Capital). See Kacsuta Decl. 99 12-30;
see also Dkt. 64 (Am. Compl.) 9 14, 35, 38, 40. But the balance sheet does not reflect these
amounts, or anything close to it, as cash reserves held by the Cooperative. As noted, the only cash
the Cooperative currently possesses—approximately $ 11.5 million as of May 2017—is the “cash
and cash equivalents” line item on the asset side of the balance sheet. Kacsuta Decl. q 71.

As it became increasingly clear that Congress would soon terminate the Tobacco Price
Support Program, the Board determined that serving its members (including future members)
would require accumulating “reserve” funds so that it might purchase tobacco from its growers,
expand its operations, and generate a consumer-facing business in order to prop up the leaf
business. Accordingly, the Cooperative’s first move was to acquire the tobacco manufacturing
facility at Timberlake to enhance its capacity to manufacture tobacco products, id. q 34; it also
expanded into foreign markets to increase demand for members’ tobacco, id. q 35; it acquired
cigarette brands to increase sales of consumer products, id. 9 36; it acquired distribution
subsidiaries to reach a greater geographic area, id. § 38; and, most recently, it constructed a new
storage facility to increase yield, id. 9 40.

Similarly, in order to continue purchasing members’ tobacco without the Tobacco Price
Support Program, the Cooperative obtained a line of credit from a private bank, the favorable terms

of which require the remainder of the “reserve” to be maintained as collateral. /d.  43-44. The
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Board directed each of these activities in the exercise of its collective business judgment. See id.
q145.

The Cooperative’s use of these funds has been remarkably, demonstrably successful.
Through its decisions, the Cooperative has built a thriving consumer-products business that now
successfully competes in the modern marketplace and effectively subsidizes its efforts to purchase
tobacco from growers, providing an essential means of market support. Id. § 48. Indeed, after
conducting an analysis of the Cooperative’s financial performance, Dr. Rucker has confirmed that
the Cooperative’s post-Tobacco Price Support Program decisions were sufficiently profitable to
compensate for the Cooperative’s unprofitable bulk-leaf business, through which the Cooperative
effectively sustains growers much as federal subsidies once did. Rucker Decl. 9 46-47.

In sum, the Cooperative’s use of “reserve” funds is eminently reasonable according to
multiple metrics, as the record shows.

C. Objectors Misunderstand And Mischaracterize The Source And Size Of The
Cooperative’s Reserve

Many Objectors—including Mr. Sharp, in his pro se objection, Dkt. 92—complain that the
Settlement provides an unfairly small amount of funds, based on their misconception that the
Cooperative’s “reserve” consists of the assessments they paid under the No Net Cost program

(1982-2004).” For example, Mr. Burt complains that the Cooperative’s funds comprise “monies

2 See, e.g., Dkt. 90 9 6(b) (complaining about the 25 cent a pound assessment that growers
had to pay); Dkt. 91 at 1; Dkt. 92 q 1; Dkt. 109 4 E; Dkt. 112; Dkt. 139. Strikingly, Mr. Sharp’s
objection to the settlement has changed substantially since counsel from Fisher-Lewis entered
appearances on his behalf. In his first Objection, Mr. Sharp contended that “the Cooperative had
assets in excess of $700 million and that [e]very dime of that money came from the sweat and
sacrifice of tobacco farmers.” Dkt. No. 92 at 1; see also Ex. G (Sharp Deposition) at Tr. 145:12-
156:5 (“[A]ssessments like to have broke my back, and those assessments went into the No-Net
Cost Fund that are in [the Cooperative] today . . . [e]very dollar that [the Cooperative’s] got . . .
either came through profits of sale of farmers’ tobacco under loan or through assessments.”). Mr.
Sharp abandoned this argument, however, in his second objection. See Dkt. 192. It appears that
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that were retained by the Cooperative as ‘capital reserve’ and then as assessments under the ‘No
Net Cost” program.” Dkt. 112. Once this misconception is corrected, the case against the
Cooperative further collapses.

In 1982, “Congress enacted legislation requiring the [Federal] Tobacco Program to be self-
supporting by charging annual assessments to growers on each pound of tobacco marketed.”
Strickland v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Co-op. Stabilization Corp. 643 F. Supp. 310, 313 (D.S.C. 1986).
For the majority of the No Net Cost era, the Cooperative operated as an agent of the government
collecting those assessments—and collecting them from purchasers and importers of tobacco,
alongside growers. See Batten Decl. § 6. It did not then retain those assessments for its own use;
rather, it held them in a fund that was controlled by the CCC. See id. When growers sold tobacco
to the Cooperative, they received the full quota price, reduced by the assessment charged by the
No Net Cost Act. See Hill Decl. 4] 17-19. Even when growers did not sell tobacco under quota
to the Cooperative, they paid assessments on it. See id. And purchasers and importers of tobacco
were paying their own assessments without ever selling tobacco to the Cooperative. Kacsuta Decl.
9 29. All the Cooperative did was collect and remit assessments as a conduit for the CCC. See
Batten Decl. 4 6. Indeed, after Congress enacted FETRA, the CCC took possession of the money
in the No Net Cost fund—i.e., the assessments that the Cooperative had collected from farmers.
That money in the No Net Cost fund was never used by the Cooperative and did not belong to

the Cooperative. 1d. 9 10.7

Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs’ counsel corrected Mr. Sharp’s misunderstanding about the source of the
putative “reserve” funds, whereupon Mr. Sharp proceeded to adopt an entirely new argument as
to why the Court supposedly should not approve the settlement.

73 Dr. Harrison does not contend otherwise, testifying that No Net Cost assessments

“would be in an account kept by the government” and that the Cooperative “had no say in those
fees or how they could be used.” Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 65:23-66:19. Asked if the

85
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 97 of 129



The vast majority of the “reserve” at issue here derives from two decisions that the CCC—
i.e., the federal government—made with respect to the No Net Cost fund. In the early 1990s, the
CCC took possession of the assessments that the Cooperative had collected from growers, and
used them to pay off the remaining balance on the money that the Cooperative had borrowed from
it to purchase the 1982-1984 tobacco crop. Kacsuta Decl. §24. The CCC then granted the tobacco
crop to the Cooperative, which sold it for a profit (the Additional Paid-In Capital). Id. Second, in
2004, the CCC took possession of assessments collected throughout the No Net Cost era, used
them to pay off a portion of the balance on the money that the Cooperative had borrowed, and then
granted what remained of the 2001-2004 crop to the Cooperative. Id. 99 28-30. In both
transactions, the CCC granted the tobacco to the Cooperative. 1t did not come from the growers,
who had already sold it in the crop year in which it was grown and who had been paid in full for
it—indeed, had been paid for it generously, often at above-market prices guaranteed by the United
States. See id. Neither the tobacco the CCC ceded to the Cooperative nor the proceeds therefrom
came from the assessment fund that the Cooperative held on the CCC’s behalf.

Strickland confirms that the assessments collected during the No Net Cost era did not
belong to growers. 643 F. Supp. 310 (D.S.C. 1986). There, the plaintiff-members challenged
certain rebates that the Cooperative offered from the No Net Cost fund to purchasers of flue-cured
tobacco to encourage them to purchase tobacco (as contemplated by the No Net Cost Act). Id. at

313.7* The Court held that the members lacked standing to sue, explaining that the members had

Cooperative could control those funds, Dr. Harrison confirmed that “as an accounting matter, as a
legal matter, they were not owned by the cooperative,” id. at Tr. 66:22-24, and further agreed that
the No Net Cost assessments “weren’t booked on the [Clooperative’s books as an asset,” id. at Tr.
67:2-5.

7% The Court decided Strickland during the brief time period that the Cooperative did
control the No Net Cost assessments, before it decided to move the assessments to an account held
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no interest in the No Net Cost fund “because it was governed by [the Cooperative], designed to
protect CCC from losses and dedicated to be used for the mutual benefit of [the Cooperative] and
CCC. Consequently, at most, the rebates may have constituted an injury to [the Cooperative], not
to the plaintiffs individually.” Id. at 315. The Court further held that the Cooperative’s members
had not suffered an unconstitutional taking because the “moneys in the [No Net Cost] Fund did
not belong to plaintiffs. The disposition of the Fund moneys could only be made through [the
Cooperative] in the manner and for the purpose provided in the statute.” Id. at 318 (emphasis
added).

Finally, some Objectors, and Mr. Sharp’s purported expert—Dr. Harrison—make
unsupported claims that the Cooperative has hundreds of millions of dollars available for
distribution and claim the proposed Settlement value is too low on that basis.”> For instance, Dr.
Harrison’s analysis assumes that the Cooperative’s “Net Worth” provides the “upper bound for
settlement.” This is false. Because the Cooperative has used—consonant with its business
judgment—the putative “reserve” to purchase valuable assets and to collateralize its line of credit,
it currently holds only approximately $11.5 million in cash. Kacsuta. Decl. § 71. What is more,
even if it were accurate, Dr. Harrison’s opinion about the mere size of the reserve does not

illuminate any merits issue. To again take the example of Google, its many billions of dollars in

by the CCC to eliminate the tax consequences to its members. Supra Statement of Facts § B. The
Court’s reasoning applies a fortiori, however, to the ensuing period in which the No Net Cost
assessments flowed entirely to the U.S. Government and thus were that much further removed
from growers and any particular patronage of the Cooperative.

> See, e.g., Dkt. 91 (“We had over 300 million dollars in the stabilization co-op.”); Dkt.
92 (“In the neighborhood of $700 million is what we should be focused on distributing back to the
farmers that put it there in the first place.”); Dkt. 97 (“I understand U.S. Tobacco Coop holds about
$400M.”); Dkt. 175 (stating that the Cooperative “had assets in excess of $700 million” in 2004);
Dkt. 192-7 at 5 (stating that the Cooperative has a Net Worth of $363.6 million and Total Assets
of $514.6 million).

87
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 99 of 129



cash on hand may be deemed high in some abstract sense, but any such observation is meaningless
absent an informed assessment of the role it plays in Google’s business operations, financing, and
strategies, or how much a particular plaintiff could realistically hope to recover from it. Here, Dr.
Harrison has nothing whatsoever to say about how the Cooperative is using or should use its
reserve, or about what Plaintiffs should be able to claim from it in court.

VI. OTHER INDIVIDUAL OBJECTIONS TO THE SETTLEMENT ARE
MISCONCEIVED AND UNPERSUASIVE

Rule 23(e) calls for final approval of a class action settlement if it is fair, reasonable, and
adequate. As discussed above, none of the Objectors offers grounds under the single most
important factor or offers anything to suggest that the relevant claims have merit as a matter of
law. Nor do the Objectors identify any other infirmity that should stand in the way of final
approval.

A. The Stale Prior Settlement Offers In Fisher-Lewis Are Neither Relevant Nor
Reliable Indicators Of The Settlement’s Adequacy

1. The Unconsummated 2005 Settlement Proposal Is Not A Relevant
Measure Of The Adequacy Of The Present Settlement

Like Mr. Lewis’s unsuccessful intervention motion, Dkt. 70-1 at 2, Mr. Sharp argues that
the Settlement cannot be fair because it has a lower monetary value than the 2005 Settlement, see
Dkt. 192 at 9, 16-17.7¢ In doing so, Mr. Sharp misstates the factual record by stating that the State
Court rejected the 2005 Settlement as unfair and unreasonable. See Dkt. 192 at 9. The 2005
Settlement was nof rejected as unreasonable. Rather, the State Court order clearly stated that

preliminary approval there was denied “without prejudice” because the State Court did not think

6 See also Dkt. 162 at 2-3 (stating that the Cooperative and counsel to the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs “were discussing settlement in excess of $100,000,000, meaning that this case is worth
much more than the Speaks settlement); Dkt. 187 at 2-3 (same); Dkt. 190 at 3 (same).
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it then had (in 2005) “before it sufficient evidence to resolve [concerns raised by the Fisher
plaintiffs].” See Dkt. 70-2 at 4-5 (emphases added). The State Court concluded that “based upon
the record to date . . . the evidence presented does not support a finding or conclusion that the
proposed Settlement is within the necessary ‘ball park’ of being fair, reasonable and adequate”; at
the same time, the State Court expressly noted there “is a sufficient showing by proponents [of the
settlement] to justify further fact-gathering.” Id. (emphases added).

In no event is the 2005 Settlement probative when measuring the adequacy of the current
Settlement. As the Cooperative explained at length to Judge Bullock and Plaintiffs at the
mediation, the 2005 Settlement is a historical artifact thoroughly divorced from the Cooperative’s
present circumstances and decision-making, not to mention the prospect of Plaintiffs actually
prevailing on the merits were this litigation to continue. Among the many intervening factors that
have profoundly changed the litigation calculus in the past twelve years are the following:

e The Cooperative’s success in Rigby has since furnished on-point, emphatic proof
of the strength on the merits of the Cooperative’s defenses to the litigation.

e The Cooperative has proved its success in transitioning into a modern,
sophisticated, multi-faceted player in the tobacco industry and has correspondingly
come to depend upon what was formerly a “reserve” of cash on hand to collateralize
financing and to sustain its day-to-day operations. See Kacsuta Decl. 9§ 31-41.

e The Cooperative’s Board has consistently voted over the past 12 years to retain the
substantial majority of the disputed funds (while opening up redemption periods
for portions of the funds), based upon consideration of the Cooperative’s business
operations and needs. See Shepherd Decl. 9 19; Hill Decl. 9 15-16.

e Inevolving its operations and outlook, the Cooperative has enlisted the undersigned
counsel to rigorously assess and defend against the pending claims on all fronts,
rather than simply appeasing plaintiffs and their counsel for the sake of optics
and/or politics.

e Three causes of action were dismissed from Fisher-Lewis in 2012, thereby
changing the contours of the Cooperative’s potential exposure subsequent to the
2005 Settlement.

89
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 101 of 129



e The North Carolina Supreme Court’s order affirming the trial court’s discretionary
certification of a class in Fisher-Lewis has pointedly bracketed the prospect that the
claims could be dismissed as derivative. Dkt. 73-8 at 11-13 (Dec. 21, 2016 N.C.
Supreme Ct. Class Certification Decision).

e Plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis have recently abandoned large swaths of their case in
chief, including all claims for the mismanagement of assets, which had been very

much in play and the subject of prior settlement discussions. Dkt. 123-4 (Nov. 28,
2017 Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Partial Summ. J.) at 11.

In arguing that the Settlement must be unfair because it comes in below the 2005
Settlement, Objectors ignore the 12 years that have elapsed, the obvious changes in circumstances,
and the peculiar, extra-legal considerations that previously led the former Cooperative (quite
different from today’s Cooperative) to put a special premium on appeasing former members, above
and beyond any legal merits. More fundamentally, the Objectors fail to evaluate the 2005
Settlement in its proper context: As explained herein and demonstrated by Rigby, Plaintiffs’ claims
have proved to be without merit and do not form the basis for any recovery. See supra Part V.
The Cooperative’s prior settlement offer—dated 12 years ago and based on very different
considerations and circumstances—cannot change the present, operative realities. For much the
same reason, Mr. Sharp is wrong to contend that a proposal by a Board member 13 years ago
should bear upon the adequacy of this Settlement. Dkt. 192 at 18. Mr. Hill’s proposal was not,
even then, driven by his perception of the relative strengths and weaknesses of the lawsuits facing
the Cooperative. It was made largely as a matter of policy, at a different time, in a different context,
and was rejected by the Board as imprudent in any event. See Hill Decl. 4 31-35. Notably, Mr.
Hill participated in the mediation that led to the instant Settlement and attests that it is fair. /d. 9
4,7.

As already noted, contrary to Mr. Sharp’s mischaracterization, the State Court never ruled
that the financial compensation contemplated by the 2005 Settlement was substantively unfair or

inadequate at that time; instead, it simply denied approval without prejudice pending further
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development of the merits. It follows a fortiori that the 2005 Settlement raises no serious question
of fairness or adequacy today.

2. Subsequent Offers Of Settlement In Fisher-Lewis Are Inadmissible
And Irrelevant

Mr. Sharp further asserts that there are other “prior offers extended” during two mediations
in Fisher-Lewis after the 2005 Settlement, going so far as to fault the Cooperative for not informing
the Court of these offers. See Dkt. 192 at 16-17. He further argues that “through an in camera
review of these prior offers,” this Court could achieve a “better understanding of the value
Stabilization has placed on” Fisher-Lewis that will “significantly impact” the Court’s
determination regarding the reasonableness of the Settlement. /d. at 17. Notably, reliance by Mr.
Sharp and his counsel on these prior settlement offers flouts Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. Any settlement terms that were floated in private negotiations between the parties are
“irrelevant, since the offer may be motivated by a desire for peace rather than from any concession
of weakness in position.” Emcor Grp., Inc. v. Great Am. Ins. Co., No. ELH-12-0142, 2013 WL
1315029, at *25 (D. Md. Mar. 27, 2013) (quoting 1972 Advisory Committee Note to Rule 408).
Even if they were admissible, however, the prior offers are wholly irrelevant for the same reasons
stated above as to the 2005 Settlement.

B. The Distribution Scheme For The Settlement Funds—Paying Under Two
Groups—Ensures Fairness To Class Members

Mr. Sharp, and his purported expert, Dr. Harrison, fundamentally misunderstand the nature
of the Settlement Fund and fund distribution scheme, and provide no basis for their conclusory
objections that the distribution of funds as contemplated is “arbitrary,” “inequitable,” and
ambiguous. See Dkt. 192 at 19; Dkt. 192-7 (Harrison Aff.) 49 14, 17. The funds distribution

scheme is fair, reasonable, and adequate—ensuring that the Settlement Fund (and what it

distributes) provides reasonable, equitable compensation to claimants.
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First, Objectors reveal several misperceptions about the distribution plan that should be
corrected at the outset. It is not the case that the Settlement “allow[s] those that sign up first to get
the lion’s share of the funds.” Cf. Dkt. 92 (First Sharp Objection) 9§ 3. There are no provisions in
the Settlement Agreement suggesting that those who sign-up (e.g., file a claim) first get more;
rather, the Claims Administrator will divide the Settlement Fund into two Groups and pay out
verified claims on a pro rata basis regardless of when they were filed, so long as they are timely.
Nor is it the case, as Mr. Sharp suggests, that there is a $15,000 cap on a// claims. Dkt. 92 9 3.7
Rather, funds allocation for Group 1 claims only is capped at $15,000 so that, as described further
below, large farms cannot recover an inordinate share of the Settlement Fund.

Similarly, Mr. Sharp’s concern that “[t]here will not be enough money to compensate all
class members,” is ill-founded. Upon this Court’s final approval of the Settlement, the Cooperative
will pay into the Settlement Fund the sum of $24 million. Once paid into the Settlement Fund, the
Cooperative will no longer have control over those funds and will have foregone any right to
reclaim them provided all preconditions are met. See Dkt. 60-1 at 9 (Settlement Funds are to be
“held in escrow on behalf of the Plaintiffs”). Claims will be paid on a pro rata basis (or divided
proportionally) based on the total pounds of flue-cured tobacco sold by members submitting claims
(for Group 1) and based on the total number of crop years a member marketed and sold flue-cured
tobacco relative to the total number of crop years of all members submitting claims (for Group 2).

Dr. Harrison likewise argues, incorrectly, that “the first 1,467 claimants could exhaust all
the funds, since 1,467 x $15,000 = $22 million, leaving the vast majority of the 100,000+ member
class uncompensated.” Dkt. 192-7 at 6. Dr. Harrison initially ignores that at least 25% of the total

Settlement Fund available to claimants (i.e., $5.5 million) will be set aside to pay Group 2 claims:

T See also Dkt. 127, 137, 144, 145, 149, 156, 163, 175, 186, 196.
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the Settlement clearly states that “Twenty-Five percent (25%) of the Settlement Fund [will] be
paid into an account from which Group 2 Claims will be paid.” Dkt. 60-1 at 12. Therefore, the
entire $22 million Settlement Fund cannot possibly be swallowed by Group 1 claims alone. Dr.
Harrison also overlooks the fact that Group 1 claims are distributed pro rata based on the total
pounds of flue-cured tobacco sold by members submitting claims—this is not the same as every
Group 1 claimant receiving $15,000, as Dr. Harrison seems to suggest. $15,000 is the most a
claimant can receive for submitting a Group 1 claim only, and any funds leftover after the
administration of all Group 1 Claims shall be distributed to all Class Members per their Group 2
claims.”

Finally, the so-called ambiguity noted by Dr. Harrison with respect to whether claimants
can file both Group 1 and Group 2 claims is not in fact ambiguous; the Motion to Certify clearly
states that Settlement Class Members may complete and submit claim forms “certifying to the best
of their knowledge and belief that they qualify for distribution under Group 1 and/or Group
2.” Dkt. 60-1 at 13 (emphasis added). Likewise, the Claim Form states that claimants may submit
their claim as “Group 1 and/or Group 2" and allows claimants to check boxes for both a Group 1

claim and a Group 2 claim. See Dkt. 60-7. Similarly, the Settlement Website’s “Commonly Asked

8 While criticizing the proposed distribution as creating “inequities,” Dkt. 192-7 9 8, Dr.
Harrison acknowledged that his own proposed method poses a problem that is much worse—his
could result in “a substantial part of this class . . . receiv[ing] zero dollars.” Ex. CC (Harrison
Deposition), at Tr. 188:15-24, Jan. 10, 2018. Because his approach is keyed to individual
member’s contributions, see Dkt. 192-17 4 6 (2012 affidavit proposing to ascertain “the financial
interests of each member”), Dr. Harrison concedes that, for a class member who patronized the
Cooperative only in the years without any net earnings, “that person would get zero dollars.” Ex.
CC (Harrison Deposition) at Tr. 189:4-19. The current plan for distributing settlement funds
avoids any such disenfranchisement of an entire segment of the class, and Dr. Harrison thus
conceded that others “could consider” this distribution plan to be “an appropriate way to disburse
funds.” Id. at 230:1-11.
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Questions” page includes the question, “Question: Can I submit both a Group 1 and a Group 2
Claim? Answer: Yes, you can file both a Group 1 and a Group 2 claim, whether at the same time
or separately. You may be eligible to receive a payment from both Group 1 and Group 2 if the
claims administrator determines that your claim for each Group is valid.””® Furthermore, as
explained in Exhibit 5 (“Claims Validation Plan”) to the Supplemental Declaration of Jason M.
Stinehart on the Settlement Administration Components and Claims Verification Process
(“Supplemental Stinehart Declaration”), Rust “will attempt to validate all claims as both Group 1
and Group 2 claims, regardless of the Group selected by the claimant on the claim form. This
ensures that each claimant receives the benefit of any and all information and records maintained
by the Cooperative.” Dkt. 217-6 at 17.%

Second, Objectors should not be “concern[ed]” that the $15,000 cap for Group 1 claims
may be unduly limiting insomuch as “farmers have paid into the co-op in excess of that amount in
just a single year.” See, e.g., Dkt. 192-6 (Troxler Aft.) 4 18; Dkt. 192-7 (Harrison Aff.) 9 14; Dkt.
192-14 (Weathers Aff.) 4 16. Because claimants can file claims and recover under both Groups,
a particular claimant can in fact recover more than $15,000. Moreover, as described above in Part
V.C., Objectors misunderstand the source of the funds that are the subject of this dispute; the
Cooperative’s reserve is not comprised of the assessments that growers paid, but rather net

proceeds from the sale of tobacco that the CCC gave to the Cooperative. Thus, the cap enhances

7 Despite opining that the “Motion to Certify Settlement does not specify if individual

claimants can only file for claims under one group or both groups,” Dkt. 192-7 q 16, Dr. Harrison
admits that the publicly-available information on the website in fact “addresses the very question”
whether claimants may file in both groups. Ex. CC (Harrison Deposition), at Tr. 193:8-22.
Notably, Dr. Harrison failed to “ask|[] anybody about whether or not they [were] confused” by the
group structure and nobody “actually told [him] they’re confused by it. /d. at 176:9-15.

80 For the same reason, there is no basis to the arguments of some Objectors that the

Settlement requires a claimant to choose either Group 1 or Group 2 at the outset. See, e.g., Dkt.
99 at 2; Dkt. 102 at 2.
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the overall fairness of the distribution scheme, as it ensures that all who participated in the
Cooperative over its life span can participate in this special distribution and that no individual class
member will recover an outsized windfall. See, e.g., In re Lupron Marketing and Sales Practices
Litigation, 677 F.3d 21, 35 (1st Cir. 2012) (approving cy pres distribution rather than awarding
enhanced payments to claimants in order that they not receive a windfall).

Last, this distribution scheme is perfectly reasonable in recognizing the varying
circumstances of farmers both by volume of tobacco sold (Group 1) and longevity of tobacco
farming (Group 2). See In re The Mills Corp. Secs. Litig., 265 F.R.D. 246, 258 (E.D. Va. 2009)
(holding that “[i]in evaluating a plan of allocation, the opinion of qualified counsel is entitled to
significant respect,” and that “the allocation need only have a reasonable and rational basis”)
(emphasis added).?! Here, the division of the Settlement Fund into two Groups reflects extensive
consideration and deliberation to ensure the Settlement is fair to small and large farmers alike. The
grouped distribution scheme protects small farmers by enabling recovery on the basis of their
longevity, while providing that the majority of the Settlement Fund be distributed based on
poundage. Moreover, the existence of Group 2 eligibility allows all Class Members to recover
even if there are no records regarding the amounts of flue-cured tobacco marketed and sold. In
sum, the funds distribution scheme treats all Class Members fairly, according to the nature of their

respective interests, and does not give undue preferential treatment to small or large farmers. It is

81 See also Phillips v. The Triad Guaranty Inc., No. 1:09-CV-71, 2016 WL 1175152
(M.D.N.C. Mar. 23, 2016) (similar); see also In re MicroStrategy, Inc. Secs. Litig., 148 F. Supp.
2d 654, 669 (E.D. Va. 2001) (approving claims allocation plan that included sensible “interclass
distinctions”); In re Global Crossing Secs. and ERISA Litig., 225 F.R.D. 436, 462 n. 14 (S.D.N.Y.
2004) (approving allocation plan for pro rata distribution with sub-allocations for different types
of securities holders).
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difficult to envision a plan that is likelier to satisfy and deal fairly with a class such as this; indeed,
no objective improvement is discernible from the objections.

C. The Claims Filing And Administration Processes Are Fair And Reasonable,
Ensuring Maximum Payment To Claimants

The claims filing and administration processes of the Settlement are designed to encourage
potential Class Members to file claims and to ensure that each claimant receives the benefit of any

and all information and records maintained by the Cooperative.

1. The Cooperative and the Claims Administrator Will Verify Claimants’
Eligibility and Other Data Upon Receipt of All Claims—Documents
Are Not Necessary

As described in the Supplemental Stinehart Declaration, the Claims Administrator will be
responsible for reviewing and evaluating claims, determining whether claimants are Settlement
Class Members, determining whether Settlement Class Members are entitled to a distribution
under either Group 1 and/or Group 2 Claims (“Authorized Claimants™), determining the amount
of the distribution for each Authorized Claimant, and mailing checks to the Authorized
Claimants. Dkt. 217-6 4 36. Claims will be validated based on the responses claimants provided
with their claim, along with supporting documentation, including the Cooperative’s documents
and records. Id. g 41.

The Cooperative provided to the Claims Administrator all available supporting data to aid
in the verification of claims, including (1) the Cooperative’s membership list, which includes the
name, membership number, address, and date of registration of all members according to the
Cooperative’s records; (2) data recording the amount of tobacco marketed and sold and the years
in which it was marketed and sold by individual Cooperative members from 1982 to the present;
and (3) certificate of interest data regarding the amount of patronage dividends issued between

1967 and 1973, as well as data regarding the value of certificates of interest that were issued to
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individual Cooperative members who marketed and sold flue-cured tobacco to the Cooperative
during these years.

Mr. Sharp argues that the “settlement procedure makes class members prove what
Stabilization is already able to prove but which Speaks counsel, inadequately, did not appreciate
or did not negotiate: total pounds of tobacco marketed and total crop years.” Dkt. 192 at 19
(emphasis added). This is incorrect—claimants do not have to “prove” anything to submit claims
or to participate in the Settlement. The claim form and Settlement website are clear in explaining
that a potential Class Member may still submit a claim and potentially participate in the Settlement
even if he or she does not have documentation to upload.®

Commissioner Troxler submits that “it appears that it is very difficult for class members to
obtain the necessary information they need to substantiate their claim,” that “[t]he information
required to file either a Group 1 or Group 2 claim is not readily available to class members,” and

that claimants are “required to submit documents” with their claims.®®  Dkt. 192-6

82 See Claim Form, available at https://fluecuredtobaccosettlement.com/ (“You may still
submit your claim even if you do not have your (or the former member’s) U.S. Tobacco or
Stabilization membership number, or if you do not have documentation verifying the amount of
flue-cured tobacco you (or the former member) sold, the years during which it was sold, or the
crop years in which you (or the former member) sold and marketed flue-cured tobacco through
U.S. Tobacco.”); see also  “Commonly Asked Questions,” available at
https://fluecuredtobaccosettlement.com (“[E]ven if you do not have documentation to upload, you
may still submit your claim, and it is possible that you may still be able to participate in the
Settlement based on U.S. Tobacco’s documents and records.”).

8 As previously addressed in the Cooperative’s Responses to the Miles Objections to

Settlement, Dkt. 123 at 20-21, the Cooperative is doing all it can to facilitate the filing of claims
in the face of an order issued by the court in Fisher-Lewis barring the Cooperative from
communicating with Class Members and providing information to assist with claims filing.
Despite fielding dozens of phone calls and website inquiries from potential Class Members
requesting basic information such as their Membership Number or inquiring as to whether relatives
were at one time members of the Cooperative and appear on the Cooperative’s membership list,
the Cooperative has been forced to refer all inquiries to the Claims Administrator so as not to
violate the State Court’s order. The Claims Administrator has, in turn, informed potential Class
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9 15. Commissioner Troxler, however, ignores that, as discussed above and further explained in
the “Claims Validation Plan,” a claim will not be invalid merely because the claimant has not
provided pounds (for Group 1 claims) or years (for Group 2 claims), or because the claimant did
not submit documentary evidence supporting the claim. Dkt. 217-6, Ex. 5 at 16. Rather, even if
the claimant provides no data at all regarding the amount of flue-cured tobacco marketed and sold
or the years in which the grower marketed and sold flue-cured tobacco, the Claims Administrator
will still attempt to validate the claim, as both a Group 1 and Group 2 claim, using the
Cooperative’s records. Id.

D. The Proposed Settlement Results From Fair, Good-Faith Bargaining And Is
Not A Product Of Collusion

Several of the objectors make the false, baseless accusation that the proposed Settlement is
the product of collusion between the Cooperative and counsel for Plaintiffs.3* For instance, Mr.
Sharp alleges that various “circumstances” (e.g., “5-year consent delay in prosecution”; the “rush
to settle”; the “gross inadequacy of the settlement amount”) “support the collusion of [the
Cooperative] and Speaks counsel to secure the most favorable result for [the Cooperative].” Dkt.
192 at 14. These statements misstate and mischaracterize the record and procedural history, which
in fact refute the accusations made by Mr. Sharp and certain other objectors: the Cooperative and

Plaintiffs negotiated at arm’s length, with the assistance of an experienced, impartial mediator, to

Members that they need do nothing more than provide basic identifying information on the Claim
Form to qualify for a payout.

8 See Dkt. 92; Dkt. 100 (“I question whether Gary Shipman is working with [the
Cooperative] to help them save a lot of money”); Dkt. 107 (“Has Mr. Gary Shipman colluded with
the Cooperative lawyers to settle the case for so little money to the farmers??”); Dkt. 127; Dkt.
137; Dkt. 144; Dkt. 145; Dkt. 149; Dkt. 162 (“We believe that final approval of the proposed
Settlement . . . may . . . reward plaintiffs’ counsel for withdrawing from Fisher and making a
sweetheart deal with [the Cooperative] at the expense of North Carolina farmers and their
legitimate claims.”); Dkt. 163; Dkt. 187; and Dkt. 190.
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agree upon the Settlement, and were open and transparent at every turn with the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs, their class counsel, and the State Court.
Rule 23(e)’s “fairness” requirement requires that the Court evaluate whether the Settlement

299

was the product of “good-faith bargaining at arm’s length, without collusion.’” Berry v. Schulman,
807 F.3d 600, 614 (4th Cir. 2015) (quotation and citation omitted). In determining whether a
settlement is tainted by collusion, courts consider a number of factors, including the posture of the
case at the time of settlement, the circumstances surrounding the negotiations, and the experience
of counsel. See, e.g., id. at 614; Flinnv. FMC Corp., 528 F.2d 1169, 1173 (4th Cir. 1975). Absent
“concrete evidence of collusion,” courts may presume that a settlement was reached without
collusion. See, e.g., Rutter & Wilbanks Corp. v. Shell Oil Co., 314 F.3d 1180, 1189 (10th Cir.
2002). Moreover, courts throughout the Fourth Circuit recognize that settlement negotiations
conducted by a neutral mediator, as here, are presumptively not collusive. See In re Red Hat, Inc.
Securities Litigation, No. 5:04-CV-372-BR (3),2010 WL 2710517, at *2 (E.D.N.C. June 11, 2010)
(finding settlement agreement reflected “arms-length negotiations” where parties engaged an
“experienced mediator”); US Airline Pilots Ass’n, No. 3:14-cv-00577-RJC-DCK, 2016 WL
8722883, at *4 (finding “no signs of collusion” where parties “hired an independent mediator”);
Brown v. Transurban USA, Inc., 318 F.R.D. 560, 572 (E.D. Va. 2016) (finding settlement reached
“after an informed negotiation before a professional mediator” to be “informed, thorough, and at
arm’s length”).
1. There Is No Evidence Of Collusion

There is no evidence supporting the Objectors’ claims of collusion here. To the contrary,

the Parties engaged in an arm’s length negotiation and mediation, which was overseen by a neutral

and experienced mediator—a former federal judge. The mediation took place over two full days,

and was preceded by voluntary document productions and the submission of pre-mediation briefs.
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The two-day mediation was attended by named Plaintiffs and their counsel, several senior
executives and Board members of the Cooperative, and the Cooperative’s counsel.?

Nor is there evidence that the Settlement was the product of a “reverse auction”—i.e., the
Cooperative did not look for the “lowest” bid among competing sets of plaintiffs’ counsel and
settle with that set of lawyers. See Manual for Complex Litigation (Fourth) § 21.271 (defining a
“reverse auction” as a situation where a defendant seeks to settle with counsel willing to accept
the lowest offer). Although courts have held that they should be wary where there are multiple
competing class actions and settlement with one will preclude the others, courts have also held that
the mere existence of parallel class actions does not mean that a settlement was by default the
result of a reverse auction. Indeed, such a rule would be absurd given the prevalence of parallel
class action litigation. See supra Part 1I; see also Gallucci v. Gonzales, 603 Fed. Appx. 533 (9th
Cir. 2015) (affirming district court’s decision to approve settlement despite the “theoretical
possibility” that a reverse auction was possible and noting that “if the mere existence of multiple
potential classes were sufficient to prove collusion, the reverse auction argument would lead to the
conclusion that no settlement could ever occur in the circumstances of parallel or multiple class
actions”) (quoting Negrete v. Allianz Life Ins. Co. of N. Am., 523 F.3d 1091, 1099-1100 (9th Cir.
2008)).

Here, there is no evidence that the Cooperative shopped around for the “lowest bid” to

settle the case. Rather, once the stay in this Action was to be lifted, the Parties had to move forward

with this Action—an Action that expands beyond Fisher-Lewis in significant respects that are

85 Notably, counsel to the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs—who represent Mr. Sharp, the primary
objector here—received copies of all correspondence between counsel to the Cooperative and the
Plaintiffs here, per an October 13, 2017 order from the State Court. Dkt. 192-10. They then argued
to the State Court that the Parties here have colluded, but only by ignoring and distorting the public
record. See Ex. AA (Def’s Rule 23(c) Resp., Jan. 5, 2018).
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conspicuous from the Complaint, including its request for dissolution. The Parties decided to
proceed with a mediation, and eventually participated in one overseen by a skilled and impartial
mediator, that involved vigorous, arm’s length negotiations. Judge Bullock’s central role in
overseeing the negotiations that led to the Settlement should eliminate any concerns about the
possibility of a “reverse auction.” See, e.g., Faught v. Am. Home Shield Corp., No. 2:07-CV-1928-
RDP, 2010 WL 10959223 (N.D. Ala. Apr. 27, 2010) (finding that the settlement was fair and
rejecting arguments that it was “tainted by a potential reverse auction” where the settlement
negotiations were supervised by “a highly experienced mediator”). Were that not enough, the
record before this Court should be conclusive: The $24-million settlement negotiated by the
Plaintiffs in this case has not been matched by any amount that Mr. Sharp, Mr. Lewis, or anyone
else has indicated could actually be won in court, upon accounting for the controlling facts and
law. The most they have done is point to outdated settlement numbers that have neither force nor
relevance today, and that would not yield a penny of recovery for Plaintiffs if offered in court
today. For all of these reasons, the Court was right to rule—as it did in denying Mr. Lewis’s
intervention request and standing by preliminary approval—that the same stated concerns were
without “merit.” Dkt. 82 at 4. No further evidence of collusion or anything like it has been offered,
and there is no basis to rule any differently at this stage.

2. The Status Of The Action At The Time Of Settlement Does Not Indicate

Collusion—The Extent Of Discovery Was Sufficient To Support The
Settlement

Although some courts have held that settlement at an early phase might be indicative of
collusion, the fact that the Settlement here was reached without formal discovery in this case and
at an early stage of this case is especially inconsequential. See, e.g., In re Jiffy Lube Secs. Litig.,

927 F.2d 155, 158-59 (4th Cir. 1991) (finding that, although settlement was reached prior to formal
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discovery, other factors such as “informal discovery” and “substantial concessions made by both
sides” offset any inference of collusion).

Here, Plaintiffs have taken all the discovery necessary to determine that the likelihood of
success on the merits is low and that a good, efficient settlement is the best thing for class members.
It is true that this Action was less far along procedurally than Fisher-Lewis. But that is of no
consequence in and of itself. Plaintiffs’ counsel here were especially well versed in the underlying
facts and the strengths and weaknesses of their legal claims, given their prior experience as class
counsel in Fisher-Lewis and their observation of the final outcome of similar claims asserted by
individual plaintiffs against the Cooperative in Righy. From there, they requested pre-mediation
discovery in order to ensure they were up to date and advised in the premises. By no means can
the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs claim superior substantive command. To the contrary, the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs have just recently (1) disavowed any contention that the Cooperative has been
mismanaged in recent years and (2) insisted that the same prior discovery attending class
certification, in which Shipman & Wright participated, should now suffice and should obviate any
new discovery into their case for purposes of the merits. See Dkt. 123-4 (Mem. Law Supp. Mot.
Partial Summ. J.) at 11, Nov. 28, 2017 (“To put it plainly, this direct action will seek no relief for
mismanagement of cooperative assets.”); Ex. L (Nov. 27, 2017 email from M. VanderBrink to K.
Forst) (refusing to make named plaintiffs available for depositions).

In ascertaining whether a proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate, courts in
the Fourth Circuit “consider the extent of discovery that has taken place,” as one of many factors
influencing its analysis of the proposed agreement pursuant to Rule 23(3). See Flinn, 528 F.3d at
1173; Truesdale v. Nationwide Affinity Ins. Co. of Am, No. 1:11CV 467, 2013 WL 12136588, at

*4 (M.D.N.C. Apr. 4, 2013). At the same time, “‘formal discovery is not a necessary ticket to the
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bargaining table’ where the parties have sufficient information to make an informed decision about
settlement.” Linney v. Cellular Alaska P’ship, 151 F.3d 1234, 1239 (9th Cir. 1998) (quoting In re
Chicken Antitrust Litig., 669 F.2d 228, 241 (5th Cir. 1982)). In fact, courts have approved class
action settlements even where “no formal discovery had taken place.” D’Amato v. Deutsche Bank,
236 F.3d 78, 87 (2d Cir. 2001) (affirming district court final approval of class action settlement
where, despite no formal discovery, “the parties had engaged in an extensive exchange of
documents and other information™).

Here, the Cooperative’s defenses in this litigation are largely legal, not factual, in nature.
See supra Part V.A. For this reason, taken together with the zero-recovery result of the litigation
in Rigby, extensive fact discovery is not necessary for Plaintiffs to determine that their causes of
action have legal deficiencies and face daunting hurdles such that settlement is in their best
interests. See Newberg § 13:50 (stating that the fundamental purpose of assessing the extent of
discovery is to determine whether “the parties have a good understanding of the strengths and
weaknesses of their respective cases and . . . that the settlement’s value is based upon such adequate
information.”). Where, as here, the “strengths and weaknesses” of the parties’ respective cases are
predominantly legal in nature, the volume of factual discovery is not a useful proxy for determining
the parties’ understanding of the likelihood of success prior to reaching a proposed settlement.

In addition, the Cooperative has provided Plaintiffs’ counsel with a wealth of factual
information regarding this case. Prior to the mediation, Plaintiffs’ counsel requested and received
numerous documents from the Cooperative, including annual reports, audited financial statements,

and bylaws.® Moreover, Plaintiffs’ counsel here were already thoroughly familiar with the facts

8 Additionally, after the mediation and subsequent to this Court’s Preliminary Approval
Order, and consistent with the role of class counsel continuing to investigate the final fairness of
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and claims at issue, having served as counsel for the putative class in the parallel Lewis class which
was originally filed more than 12 years ago.?” Again, it bears emphasizing that the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs themselves are standing upon the same prior discovery as fully covering the merits and
disavowing any reliance upon allegations or suggestions of any subsequent mismanagement of the
Cooperative. Dkt. 123-4 (November 28, 2017 Mem. Law Supp. Mot. Partial Summ. J.) at 11; Ex.
L (Nov. 27, 2017 email from M. VanderBrink to K. Forst) (refusing to make plaintiffs available
for depositions).

In circumstances such as this, a relatively small volume of formal discovery does not
indicate insufficient knowledge of the case to make an informed settlement decision. A “fair and
reasonable settlement may be negotiated where the plaintiffs had access to discovery in other
cases . . . prior to agreeing to the class settlement.” Bowling v. Pfizer, Inc., 143 F.R.D. 141, 162

(S.D. Ohio 1992) (emphasis added); see In re Corrugated Container Antitrust Litig., 643 F.2d 195,

the Settlement, Plaintiffs’ counsel requested and received a copy of each and every discovery
document the Cooperative had produced to plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis. Furthermore, Plaintiffs’
counsel also took the deposition of the Cooperative’s Chief Financial Officer, Edward W. Kacsuta,
which took place on December 14, 2017 for approximately three hours and involved 12
documentary exhibits.

87" The original Complaint filed in this Action, Dkt. 1, clearly set forth the extent of

Plaintiffs’ counsel’s investigation of the facts and legal claims at issue before this Action was even
filed: “[A] thorough and comprehensive investigation relating to the claims and the underlying
events and transactions alleged in the litigation was undertaken by counsel for the Lewis plaintiffs,
including Shipman & Wright LLP. Evidence adduced through the public record, pre-trial
discovery, voluntary document and information exchanges with Stabilization, Stabilization’s
responses to the Lewis plaintiffs’ initial written discovery, meeting with Stabilization’s counsel
and General Manager, and ongoing meetings and discussions with members of the Settlement
Class occurred during this investigation. In addition there were extensive consultations with
experts and authorities in the field of agricultural cooperatives generally, economics and the
tobacco industry in particular, and extensive research was undertaken with respect to the claims
against Stabilization and the potential defenses thereto.” Dkt. 1 4 48 (emphases added); see also
Dkt. 64 9 49 (same).
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211 (5th Cir. 1981) (“[N]otwithstanding the status of discovery, plaintiffs’ negotiators had access
to a plethora of information regarding the facts of their case”).
3. The Parties Were Open And Transparent
Equally telling is the fact that the Parties have been so open and transparent at all times
about this Action and resulting Settlement with the public, the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs, Fisher-
Lewis counsel, and the State Court, which is itself incompatible with the instant allegations of
collusion. Among other things, the public record reflects the following:

e The initial complaint in this Action was filed in 2012 and clearly explained the
parallel relationship of this putative class with the putative class in Fisher-Lewis,
as well as the role Shipman & Wright specifically played in both. Dkt. 1;

e This Action persisted publicly for several years following the grant of class
certification by the State Court;

e The Parties in this Action voluntarily and specially apprised the Fisher-Lewis
plaintiffs in April that they would be proceeding to mediate this Action;

e The Parties went to even further lengths in May, prior to the mediation, to ensure
Judge Bullock was apprised of the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs’ stated concerns about
the mediation in this Action and was satisfied those had been addressed; and

e The Cooperative reported publicly in this Court, joined by Plaintiffs’ counsel, on
the success of the Speaks mediation, Dkt. 53 (June 5, 2017 Status Conference
Order), and also separately and specifically apprised the State Court and Fisher-
Lewis plaintiffs as well, including by confirming the preclusive effects that should
be expected to attend any final approval in this Action, Dkt. 73-22 (Def.’s Report
Regarding Status of Parallel Litigation).

To be clear, all of that happened in public view. Far from hiding it, the Cooperative and
its counsel, at their own initiative, brought pertinent developments to the attention of the Fisher-
Lewis plaintiffs and the State Court and explicitly spelled out the preclusive effect this Action
would have months before specific terms crystallized. In light of this public record, the propriety

of this proceeding should be beyond reproach and any accusations of collusion should be rejected

as baseless.
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E. The Scope Of Released Claims In The Settlement Is Properly Tailored And
Fair

Some of the Objectors claim that the scope of the Release is too broad such that the
Settlement is not fair, reasonable, and adequate.®® For instance, Mr. Sharp contends that the
“Settlement release is broader than necessary” insofar as it releases claims that “are not part of”
this Action and “releases individuals and entities who have not contributed to the settlement and
who are not parties.” Dkt. 192 at 19. Similarly, without challenging the “release” precisely,
several Objectors suggest that the Court should reject this Settlement in favor of a settlement they
mistakenly believe exists in Fisher-Lewis, or so that Fisher-Lewis can move forward.®

Established principles surrounding class actions permit “the release of claims that are even
outside the court’s subject matter jurisdiction, so long as they are transactionally related to those
at the heart of the case.” Newberg § 18:21 (emphasis added); see also In re MI Windows and
Doors, Inc., Products Liability Litigation, 860 F.3d 218, 225 (4th Cir. 2017) (“[I]t is clear that a
judgment approving a settlement agreement may involve the release of not only the claims
presented in the class action, but also claims arising out of the identical factual predicate.”)
(internal citations and quotations omitted) (emphasis added); In re Prudential Ins. Co. of America
Sales Practice Litigation, 261 F.3d 355, 366 (3d Cir. 2001) (approving of broad release of claims

that were based on the same facts underlying the settled claims).

88 See, e.g., Dkt. 162 (“We believe that final approval of the proposed Settlement, and its
included releases, may interfere with the Fisher lawsuit.”); Dkt. 187 (same); Dkt. 190 (same).

8 Dkt. 91 (“Please do not dismiss the Lewis-Fisher Lawsuit. It is the true settlement we
should get.”); Dkt. 92; Dkt. 96 (“My family supports the Lewis settlement.”); Dkt. 99 (“[The
Settlement] will (1) likely negatively impact tobacco growers/farmers/landowners’ ability to make
claims in the future in the up to $400 million dollar Lewis et al. v. U.S. Tobacco case. Furthermore,
the Speaks case settlement may (2) likely negatively impact the class category status of the Lewis
case and (3) may likely severely impact overall the up to $400 million dollar Lewis case’s success
in court.”); Dkt. 102 (same); Dkt. 144 (settlement is a “decoy meant to derail a more equitable
settlement that would be fair to all farmers”); Dkt. 149 (same).
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Courts have explained that, like other negotiated settlement terms, a release is a benefit
given to the defendant in exchange for consideration given to the plaintiffs. For instance, in In re
General American Life Ins. Co. Sales Practices Litigation, 357 F.3d 800, 805 (8th Cir. 2004), the
Eighth Circuit rejected an argument that the release of certain unpled claims were “given away for
nothing,” and instead stated that “[t]he release of the latter category of claims was one of a series
of benefits conferred on the defendant by the class as part of the settlement. On the other side,
defendant conferred benefits on the plaintiff class, including a monetary settlement, from which
the plaintiff in this case has benefitted . . . .”

Courts have also recognized the practical reality that broad releases are indispensable to
class-action settlements because a defendant in a class action “would otherwise face nearly
limitless liability from related lawsuits in jurisdictions throughout the country.” Wal-Mart Stores,
Inc. v. Visa USA, Inc., 396 F.3d 96, 106 (2d Cir. 2005) (“Practically speaking, class action
settlements simply will not occur if the parties cannot set definitive limits on defendants’
liability.”) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted); see also In re Prudential Ins. Co. of
America Sales Practice Litigation, 261 F.3d at 366 (stating that allowing broad releases in class
action settlements serves the important policy interest of judicial economy and avoiding re-
litigation of settled questions). No rational defendant or competent counsel in this position would
ever settle a class action such as this, only to let the same legal exposure to the same class still
persist in parallel. Indeed, it would have been irresponsible for the Cooperative’s Board—and
potentially legal malpractice for the Cooperative’s counsel—to recommend payment of significant
sums in a class-wide settlement, as here, without ensuring that the claims at issue were resolved

once and for all on a class-wide basis.
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Based on these principles, “federal class action settlements containing a release of state
law claims are both common and presumptively valid.” Ass’n for Disabled Americans, Inc. v.
Amoco Oil Co., 211 F.R.D. 457, 471 (S.D. Fla 2002); see also Williams v. General Elec. Capital
Auto Lease, Inc., 159 F.3d 266, 274 (7th Cir. 1998) (“It is not at all uncommon for settlements to
include a global release of all claims past, present, and future, that the parties might have brought
against each other.”).

The negotiated release provisions contained in the Settlement comport with the law and
with logic. The Settlement releases all claims “that have been or could have been asserted, either
directly, derivatively or otherwise, in any forum by the Plaintiffs or the Class Members, and/or
any of them, against any of the [Cooperative] which arise out of, are based upon, are in
connection with, and/or relate in any way to: (1) any of the matters, things, causes, or events that
are specifically released pursuant to any of the provisions of [the Settlement] or any document
executed in connection [therewith]; (i1) any matter, thing, cause, or event whatsoever, or any
series thereof, involved, set forth, and/or related to the Complaint in this Action; and (iii) any
action or inaction of [the Cooperative] or its Board of Directors, or any of them, whatsoever
during the Class Period.” Dkt. 60-1 at 6-7 (emphases added).

Therefore, by definition, all claims released pursuant to the Settlement are “transactionally
related to those at the heart of the case” and can be released according to settled law. See Newberg
§ 18:21. As courts have recognized, a defendant in a class action will almost always require a
broad release as a condition of settlement in order to avoid the otherwise inevitable result that it
will be sued again for the same conduct in another forum. Wal-Mart Stores, 396 F.3d at 106.

To the extent Mr. Sharp and the other objectors complain that the Settlement releases

claims pursued in Fisher-Lewis, that result is part and parcel of the prevailing principles and
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precedents already cited. In re MI Windows, 860 F.3d at 225 (affirming injunction of California
claims that were released in a federal action because “[t]he breadth of the final judgment [in the
federal class action] undoubtedly captured the claims . . . which sought recovery from [the
defendant] for the same allegedly defective windows”). Having already conceded that the claims
alleged in Fisher-Lewis and in this Action involve “substantially the same issues” and are
“duplicative,” Dkt. 192 at 3-4, Mr. Sharp and his counsel cannot credibly argue that the claims in
Fisher-Lewis do not or should not fall within the scope of the release.

Nor is there any basis to Mr. Sharp’s claim that the release is too broad because it releases
parties who did not contribute to the settlement. Dkt. 192 at 19. Courts judge the appropriate
scope of a release according to the conduct underlying the released claims. See Newberg § 18:21;
In re MI Windows, 860 F.3d at 225.

F. Class Members Have Received The “Best Notice Practicable” And Final
Approval Of This Settlement Is Consistent With Due Process

The Notice Program provided the best practicable notice to Class Members and was
“reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency
of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.”” Phillips Petroleum Co.
v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 812 (1985) (quoting Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339
U.S. 306, 314-15 (1950)). The Notice Program’s compliance with rigorous procedural and
constitutional standards commends granting final approval.

The Notice Program, as designed and implemented, included three means of providing
notice: (1) Direct Mail Notice by postcard; (2) Paid Media Notice through national and local
publications—including internet, print, and television advertising; and (3) Earned Media coverage
through a press release. Dr. Wheatman reported that the Notice Program as implemented—taking

into account only Direct Notice and measurable Paid Media Notice—reached approximately
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74.2% of potential Class Members (including approximately 13.7% from Direct Notice), with each
potential Class Member seeing the notice an estimated 2.7 times.”® Dkt. 217-5 (Wheatman Decl.)
9 34. This result falls within the best-practices noted in the Federal Judicial Center’s Judges’ Class
Action Notice and Claims Process Checklist and Plain Language Guide 2010.°!

1. The Notice Program Here Was Designed to Prevent Confusion With
Fisher-Lewis

Commissioner Troxler’s Affidavit states, in summary fashion, that “there is a lot of
confusion” regarding the relationship between Fisher-Lewis and this case, and further asserts that
“[t]he Speaks notice overlapped with the Fisher-Lewis notice and has confused many North
Carolina farmers.” Dkt. 192-6 9 16. First, the notice materials in this case were specifically
designed to prevent confusion by identifying the existence of Fisher-Lewis involving the same

claims, and discussing the potential impact of this Settlement on Fisher-Lewis.”> By contrast, none

%0 Tt is likely that a substantially higher percentage of potential Class Members received
notice upon further accounting for the Settlement Website, trade publication advertising, targeted
Internet advertising, and earned media notice, none of which are included in the calculated reach
percentage.

1" The notice afforded in Fisher-Lewis falls far short of the Notice Program here according
to any measure. The Declaration of Cameron R. Azari, Esq., on Implementation of Notice Plan,
attached to Mr. Sharp’s Objection, describes the Fisher-Lewis notice as being exclusively local in
reach—media notice was limited to Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina,
and Virginia. Dkt. 192-1 99 12-26. Mr. Azari offers no information regarding how many of the
279,554 Summary Notices were successfully mailed and delivered to potential class members. See
id. 9 9-11. And Mr. Azari fails to explain how the Fisher-Lewis notice reached growers, heirs,
and assigns no longer living in areas where they (or the members they represent) historically grew
tobacco. Given the diversity and numerosity of this Class, like the Fisher-Lewis class, an
exclusively local notice plan is unlikely to reach a considerable number of potential Class
Members. Yet Mr. Azari rather remarkably (and tellingly) omits any mention of the Fisher-Lewis
notice plan’s reach percentage as implemented.

2 The Short Form Notices used in this case for publication and mailing specifically

provide information about Fisher-Lewis: “You may have seen information about the Lewis/Fisher
Lawsuit in the North Carolina Superior Court that was certified as a class action. You can submit
a claim even if you are a class member in the Lewis/Fisher Lawsuit. This Settlement will not
become effective, and claims will not be paid, until the class claims in the Lewis/Fisher Lawsuit
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of the notice materials in Fisher-Lewis, as described in the Azari Declaration, even mentioned the
existence of this lawsuit.”> To the extent the Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs were sincerely concerned
about the confusion of the overlapping class actions, it is strange that they chose not to address it

at all in their notices. Second, the Notice Program did not overlap with the State Court notice

program which, according to the Declaration of Cameron R. Azari, Esq., began on July 26, 2017
and ended on September 6, 2017. Dkt. 192-1 99 10-19. Direct Mail Notice in this case did not
begin until October 13,2017, and media notice did not start until October 28, 2017 (two days after
the Fisher-Lewis opt-out deadline). Dkt. 73-32 (Suppl. Wheatman Decl.) § 16. Accordingly, Class
Members did not receive materials about the two lawsuits at the same time. Third, there was little
overlap in the media outlets used to disseminate information in the two programs. As Dr.
Wheatman explains, the programs only shared advertisements (though at different times) in one
newspaper and four trade publications. Id. The Notice Program here included a national print
magazine, 25 local newspapers, and local television advertisements that were not included in the
Fisher-Lewis notice program. Id. Finally, there has been no showing of any actual confusion on
the part of any particular notice recipient, much less a showing that calls into question the efficacy

and adequacy of the notice plan on aggregate.

are discontinued or dismissed.” Dkt. 60-4. The Long Form Notice available on the website also
addressed Fisher-Lewis in Questions 6 and 12, explaining that claimants may participate in this
Settlement and submit claims even if they are a class member in Fisher-Lewis. Dkt. 60-2.

93 The Cooperative notified the State Court and Fisher-Lewis plaintiffs on June 22, 2017,
before the notice plan in Fisher-Lewis began, that the Cooperative and counsel for Plaintiffs in this
case had reached a tentative settlement. See Dkt. 73-23 (June 22, 2017 Def.’s Report Regarding
Status of Parallel Litigation).
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2. The Objection Process Has Been Organized And Properly Scheduled

Commissioners Troxler, Adams, and Weathers assert that the objection process “has been
rushed and unnecessarily complicated.” See Dkt. 192-6 § 16 (Troxler Aff.); Dkt. 192-13 9 14
(Adams Aff)); Dkt. 192-14 9 12 (Weathers Aff.). Yet the Notice Program, as designed and
implemented, provided Class Members with more than enough time to understand that their legal
rights were affected and properly exercise their rights.”* Courts have found that even 30 days

between the issuance of notice and an opt-out/objection deadline suffices.”> Here:
e The Settlement Website launched on September 28, 2017, including the Long
Form Notice, Settlement Agreement, and “Commonly Asked Questions”
pertaining to the Settlement, and other related documents. Dkt. 217-5 (Wheatman

Decl.) § 31;

e Direct mailing of postcards, the toll-free hotline with live operators, and an updated
Settlement Website with an interactive claim form began on October 13, 2017. Id.

€99, 30-31;

e National and local Paid Media Notice began on October 28, 2017, followed on
October 30, 2017 with a press release distributed to an agriculture focused list. /d.;

e The Paid Media components of the Notice Program were completed by November
27,2017. Id. 99 22-27)

%4 In fact, out of an abundance of caution, the Parties requested that this Court extend the
time for notice from November 13, 2017 to December 20, 2017 to ensure that Class Members have
sufficient opportunity to review and consider the notice materials prior to the exclusion deadline.
Dkt. 73, 73-32. The Court entered an Order on September 29, 2017 granting that extension. Dkt.
77.

%5 See, e.g., Alliance to End Repression v. City of Chicago, 91 F.R.D. 182, 195 (N.D. IIl.
1981) (collecting cases that found notice timely when notice was mailed 12 days before the fairness
hearing, and holding that class members had adequate notice because they were notified at least
29 days before the fairness hearing); In re: Transpacific Passenger Air Transp. Antitrust Litig.,
No. 15-16280, 2017 WL 2772177 (9th Cir. June 26, 2017) (holding that settlement provided
sufficient notice to class members under Rule 23 when potential class members were notified of
the opportunity to opt-out or object to the settlements no later than thirty-five days before the final
fairness hearing).

112
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228 Filed 01/11/18 Page 124 of 129



In light of the foregoing, it is clear that the Notice Program afforded Class Members adequate time
following receipt of notice to contemplate their options and take action before the December 20,
2017 opt-out and objection deadline.

Other Objectors claim that there is an “unusual and very confusing structure” in this
Settlement that requires Class Members to “affirmatively ‘opt-in’ if they want to receive a
payment, but also affirmatively ‘opt-out’ if they want to retain their rights.” See, e.g., Dkt. 162
(Vick Family Farms Partnership Objection) at 3. To be clear, nothing in this Settlement requires
members to “opt-in.” Objectors seem to have misconstrued the requirement to file a claim with a
requirement to “opt-in.” A claims process, however, is anything but “unusual.” Newberg confirms
that settlement funds are often distributed through a claiming process, and that “[a]bsent class
members who have not opted out of a class action and who wish to participate in the settlement
fund typically—though not invariably—have to file a proof of claim.” Newberg §§ 12.15, 12.2.%

3. There Were No Material Defects In the Notice Program Materials

A handful of Objectors assert that the objection process was not fair because of minor
editorial inconsistencies between the notice documents and the Preliminary Approval Order, as
well as an errant objection deadline date published on a single page of the Settlement Website.
See, e.g., Dkt. 162, 187, 190. None of these issues affect the adequacy of notice.

Commissioner Weathers objects that the “written letter and triplicate submission process”
for submitting objections is “counter-intuitive and discourag[ing] class members from voicing

objections.” Dkt. 192-14 (Weathers Aff.) q 12. Additionally, Commissioner Troxler faults the

% As explained in the Cooperative’s response to the Miles Objections, the Cooperative

has no incentive whatsoever to discourage claims from being filed and, as such, the Cooperative
takes this opportunity to remind potential claimants that the deadline for filing claims does not
expire until May 26, 2018.
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objection process for not “providing guidance forms or options for electronic submission,” and
notes that the Long Form Notice requires class members to mail objections to the Court, Class
Counsel, and Defense Counsel, whereas the Court’s Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement
requires Class Members to mail objections to the Court and the Claims Administrator. Dkt. 192-
6 (Troxler Aff.) 94 13-14. While it is true that the Long Form Notice states that objectors are to
mail their objections to the Court, Class Counsel, and Defense Counsel, the Cooperative is
responding to and treating as timely all objections that were sent to the clerk of court by the
deadline, even if the objector did not also mail their objection to Class Counsel, Defense Counsel,
and/or the Claims Administrator.

Moreover, as described in the Supplemental Declaration of Jason M. Stinehart on the
Settlement Administration Components and Claims Verification Process, Dkt. 217-6, while one
page of the Settlement Website did list the wrong date for the opt-out deadline (reading December
2018 rather than 2017)—an error that was first noted via an objection that arrived on December
20, 2017 and was immediately corrected upon receipt of same—the correct deadline was published
on all other pages of the Settlement Website (including the electronic Claim Form Interface, the
page of “Commonly Asked Questions,” and the page of “Important Dates”), and was correct on
all physical notice materials (including the Direct Mail Notice, the Long Form and Publication
Notice, and the Claim Form). Even as to the one isolated typo, there has been no showing that
anyone in fact misunderstood the opt-out deadline or was otherwise prejudiced.

Minor errors such as this one do not detract from the adequacy or fairness of the notice and

objection process.”’

97 See, e.g., G.F. v. Contra Costa County, No. 13-cv-03667-MEJ, 2015 WL 7571789, at
*8 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 25, 2015) (“minor mistakes” with posting of documents on settlement website
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Cooperative respectfully requests that this Court overrule all

objections and enter final approval of the Settlement pursuant to Rule 23(e).”®

did not detract from overall reasonableness of the notice); Nieberding v. Barrette Outdoor Living,
Inc., 129 F. Supp. 3d 1236, 1247 (D. Kan. 2015) (typographical error on long form notice of
settlement, which incorrectly described location of settlement approval hearing, was not a material
defect, and thus did not render the notice insufficient); In re Processed Egg Prod. Antitrust Litig.,
284 F.R.D. 278, 295, n.16 (E.D. Pa. 2012) (finding that typographical error in notice of settlement
as to the end date for the class period did not require additional notice).

% The Cooperative respectfully objects to Pender Sharp’s request to testify at the fairness
hearing, Dkt. 192 at 20-21, on the grounds set forth in the Cooperative’s Motion to Strike
Objections Filed by Pender Sharp, filed contemporaneously herewith. The Cooperative is mindful
that a Rule 23 fairness hearing is not a “trial or a rehearsal of the trial” on the merits of the
underlying claims. Flinn, 528 F.2d at 1173. To the extent that the Court may nonetheless consider
it helpful to hear live testimony, the Cooperative respectfully reserves the right to call potentially
Ed Kacsuta, Jimmy Hill, Andy Shepherd, Charlie Batten, and Randal Rucker to testify regarding
the Cooperative’s historical and current operations, the terms of this settlement, and in rebuttal to
any adverse testimony that may be offered at the hearing.
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Dated: January 12, 2018
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QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART
SULLIVAN, LLP

/s/ Derek L. Shaffer

Derek L. Shaffer
derekshaffer@quinnemanuel.com
777 6th Street NW, 11th Floor
Washington, DC 20001
Telephone: (202) 538-8000

Fax: (202) 538-8100

WYRICK ROBBINS YATES &
PONTON LLP

Lee M. Whitman (N.C. Bar #20193)
Iwhitman@wyrick.com

Paul J. Puryear (N.C. Bar #41536)
ppuryear@wyrick.com

4101 Lake Boone Trail, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27607

Telephone: (919) 781-4000
Facsimile: (919) 781-4865

Counsel for Defendant U.S. Tobacco
Cooperative Inc.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned counsel hereby certifies that on January 12, 2018 a copy of the foregoing
document was filed electronically with the Court’s CM/ECF system, which will send notification
of such filing to all counsel of record.

/s/ Derek L. Shaffer
Derek L. Shaffer
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA
WESTERN DIVISION

TERESA M. SPEAKS, TOBY SPEAKS,
STANLEY SMITH, EDDIE BROWN,
ROBERT POINDEXTER, MIKE MITCHELL,
ROY L. COOK, ALEX SHUGART, H.
RANDLE WOOD, ROBIN ROGERS and
DANIEL LEE NELSON,

Plaintiffs, Civil Action No.: 5:12-CV-00729-D
VS.

U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. f/k/a
FLUE-CURED TOBACCO STABILIZATION
CORPORATION,

Defendant.

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Defendant U.S. Tobacco Cooperative Inc. respectfully submits the following exhibits in
connection with its Omnibus Response to Objections to Settlement, dated January 11, 2018:

Exhibit A: Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
by-laws, dated June 3, 1947.

Exhibit B: Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of a letter, dated
February 17, 1976, from Fred. G. Bond, the Cooperative’s General Manager, to members of the
Cooperative concerning tobacco received from the 1967 and 1968 crop years.

Exhibit C: Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
Newsletter, dated December 1985.

Exhibit D: Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true and correct copy of a letter, dated May

7, 1992, from USDA Director Dallas R. Smith to the Cooperative’s General Manager Fred G.

1
Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228-1 Filed 01/11/18 Page 1 of 4



Bond concerning the Cooperative’s request to redeem the 1983 crop loan inventory of flue-cured
tobacco.

Exhibit E: Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
Consolidated Financial Statements for April 30, 1993 and 1992.

Exhibit F: Attached hereto as Exhibit F is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
Consolidated Financial Statements for April 30, 2017 and 2016.

Exhibit G: Attached hereto as Exhibit G is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Pender Sharp, dated September 7, 2006, taken in Fisher v. Flue-Cured Tobacco
Coop. Stabilization Corp., No. 05-CV-1938 (N.C. Super. Ct.) (“Fisher-Lewis”).

Exhibit H: Attached hereto as Exhibit H is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Kendall Hill, dated August 25, 2006, taken in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit I: Attached hereto as Exhibit I is a true and correct copy of an email, dated January
4, 2018, from Philip Isley to Keith Forst concerning the Cooperative’s request to depose Pender
Sharp.

Exhibit J: Attached hereto as Exhibit J is are true and correct copies of voluntary
dismissals, dated November 27, 2017, filed by plaintiffs in Swain v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop.
Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 237 (Ga. Super. Ct.); Altman v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop.
Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 238 (Ga. Super. Ct.); Griffis v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop.
Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 240 (Ga. Super. Ct.); and Lee v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop.
Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 239 (Ga. Super. Ct.) (collectively, the “Georgia Cases”).

Exhibit K: Attached hereto as Exhibit K is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
Motion to Vacate Voluntary Dismissal, Enter Dismissal with Prejudice, and Award Fees and

Costs, dated December 11, 2017, filed in the Georgia Cases.
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Exhibit L: Attached hereto as Exhibit L is a true and correct copy of an email, dated
November 27,2017, from Marie VanderBrink, on behalf of Bob Cherry, to Keith Forst, concerning
depositions in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit M: Attached hereto as Exhibit M is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
brief as Defendant-Appellant, dated November 14, 2014, before the North Carolina Supreme Court
in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit N: Attached hereto as Exhibit N is a true and correct copy of cumulative
amendments to the Cooperative’s Articles of Incorporation.

Exhibit O: Attached hereto as Exhibit O is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
by-laws, as amended through June 20, 1967.

Exhibit P: Attached hereto as Exhibit P is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
by-laws, dated through September 10, 1982 and, as to particular articles, through August 12, 1983.

Exhibit Q: Attached hereto as Exhibit Q is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
by-laws, as amended through May 10, 2002.

Exhibit R: Attached hereto as Exhibit R is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
by-laws, as amended through November 14, 2003.

Exhibit S: Attached hereto as Exhibit S is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Kay W. Fisher, dated September 20, 2006, taken in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit T: Attached hereto as Exhibit T is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Daniel H. Lewis, dated September 14, 2006, taken in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit U: Attached hereto as Exhibit U is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the

deposition of Whitney E. King, dated September 15, 2006, taken in Fisher-Lewis.
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Exhibit V: Attached hereto as Exhibit V is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Julian A. Rigby, dated March 3, 2015, taken in Rigby v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Coop.
Stabilization Corp., No. 07 C 236 (Ga. Super. Ct.) (“Rigby”).

Exhibit W: Attached hereto as Exhibit W is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of David Harrell Lee, dated March 4, 2015, taken in Rigby.

Exhibit X: Attached hereto as Exhibit X is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Thomas N. Rhoad, dated August 29, 2006, taken in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit Y: Attached hereto as Exhibit Y is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Hugh Roberts, dated April 22, 2015, taken in Rigby.

Exhibit Z: Attached hereto as Exhibit Z is a true and correct copy of excerpts from the
deposition of Adair Chambers Peterson, dated April 10, 2015, taken in Rigby.

Exhibit AA: Attached hereto as Exhibit AA is a true and correct copy of the Cooperative’s
Response to Plaintiffs’ Supplemental Submission Concerning its Motion for Rule 23(C) Review
of the Speaks Settlement, dated January 5, 2018, in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit BB: Attached hereto as Exhibit BB is a true and correct copy of the Third
Amended Complaint, dated July 9, 2012, filed by plaintiffs in Fisher-Lewis.

Exhibit CC: Attached hereto as Exhibit CC is a true and correct copy of the rough
transcript, as received from the stenographer, of the January 10, 2018 deposition of Dr. Glenn W.
Harrison. The Cooperative may supplement the record with the final transcript upon receipt
thereof.

Exhibit DD: Attached hereto as Exhibit DD is a true and correct copy of a marketing

agreement issued by the Cooperative in November 1946.
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BY-LAWS .7 ., o . . .4

P

. | of 2
. : FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION
{ij

# O3 % 4 % &

ARTICLIE T

Purposeé

11 B

The purposes for which this essociation is formed are set forth in the

articles of incorporation of the association.
ARTICLE II

Board of Directors

.- Section 1. The business of the association shall be controlled by a board
of directors consisting of not less than five nor more then nine persons, each of
whom shall be a common stockholder, hereinafter referred to as member, of this as-
sociation, No person shall be eligible for the office of director if he is in

- compstition with it or is affiliated with any enterprize that is in compstition ~
with the association; end if a majority of the Board of Directors of the associa-
tion find at any time following a hearing that any director is so engaged or affilz

- iated he shall thereupon cease to be a director, .- The directors named in the arti-
cles of incorporation shall hold office for the first.term or until the electicn
and qualificdtion of their successors, In sddition to the Directors herein provided

i e,

: for or hereafter appolnted by the common stockholders or members of the corpore~
Py tion, there shall be at all times a publie director, who shall be appointed by the

Governor of the State of North Carolina, to serve for a term of thres years, and
such Director so appointed need net be a member or stockholder of the corporation
but shall have the same powers and rights as other Directors, in accordance with

the provisions of the General Statutes of North Carolina, section 5/-146,

Eleetion of D;lrectors

Section 2, (a). The directors shall be elected annuelly at the annual meet-
ing of the association by its members from the membership until the Board of Di-
rectors divides the territory in which the Association operates into districts, All
directors shall hold office until their successors shall have been elected and shall
have qualified. The term of ¢ffice of the directors so elected shall, from and
after the adoption of this resslution, be as follows:-~ At the Annual Meeting in
1948, three directors shall be elected for a term of one year, three directors shall
be elected for a term of two years, and three directors shall be elected for a term
of three years., At the Annual Meeting in 1949, three dirsctors shall be elected
for a term of three years and thereafter, three directors shall be elected at each

Annual Meeting for a term of three years.

At any time that the Board of Directors of the assoclation deems it advie-
able the board shall divide the territory in which the association is operating or
expecting to operate into districts for the election of directors. So far as prac-
ticable the territory in which the association shall operate shall be divided into
such districts that the association will receive substantially the same quantity of
tobacco from each distriet, but in forming districts counties shall not be divided.
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12 B

(b) Following the formation of such districts the mombers in esch
district shall elect a director from that district, from among members -
actuelly residing and growing tobaceco therein,

Annually after the formation of such districts at least twenty
days prior to the district meetings, the board of directors by a majority
vote may change if necessary the said districts so as to maintain at all
times a fair and equitable representation of the members in each of the to-
bacco produeing districts,

Yacancies

Seetlon 3. Prier to the formation of districts, vacancies in the
board of directors shall be filled by remeining members; but after the forma-
tion of districts vacancies shall be filled through a meeting called by the
boaerd of directors in the distriet or districts concerned.

. Meetings of Directors

Seection 4. At such time after each ammual election of Directors as
may be determined by the board of directors, but not more than ten days after
sald annusl election; the nevly elected directors shall held a regular meeting
for the slectien of a president, one or more vice presidents, a secretary and
& treasurer, and the transaction of any other business, Such officers shsll
hold office for one year and untll their successors are elescted and have quali-
fied, Notice of such meeting is hereby dispensed with.

Section 5. 1In addition to the meeting mentioned sbove, meetings of the i
board of directors shall be held on the call of the president or on petition
of a majority of the board of directoers. :

Notice of Regular Meeting of Directors

Seetion 6, Notice, unless waived, of meetings of the directors, except
the meeting provided for in section 4, shall be mailed to each director at his
last known address at least three days prior to the time of such meeting, -

QUORUM

Section 7. A majority of the board of directors shall constitute a
guorum of the board at all meetings, .

Compénsation

. -Bection 8. (2) The directors shall receive no compensation for their
seryices other than reimbursement for any neeessary transportation and hotel
expenses incurred by them in attending the meetings of the board of dirsctors
and a per diem allowance of $5.00 for the time actuslly covered by attendance
at meetings, '
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of tobacco from each district, but in forming districts counties shall
not be divided. )

(b) Following the formation of such districts the members in P
each district shall elect a director from that district, from among :
members actually residing and growing tohacco therein.

Annually after the formation of such districts at least twenty
days prior to the district meetings, the board of directors by a
majority vote may change if necegssary the said districts so as to
maintain at all times a fair and equitable representation of the
members in each of the tobacco producing districts.

Vacancies

Section 3. Prior to the formation of districts, vacancles in
the board of directors shall be filled by the remaining members; but
after the formation of districts vacancies shall be filled through
a meeting called by the board of directors in the digtrict or dis-

tricts concerned.

Meetings of Directors AN

Section 4, At such time after each annual election of Directors
as may be determined by the board of directors, but not more than
ten days after said annual election, the newly elected directors shall
hold a regular meeting for the elec%ion of a president, one or more o
vice presidents, a secretary and a treasurer, and the transaction P
of any other business. Such officers shall hold office for one year .
and until thelr successors are elected and have gualifiled. Notice. -
of such meeting is hereby dispensed with.

Section 5. 1In addition to the meeting mentioned above, meet-
ings of the board of directors shall be held on the call of the
president or on petition of a mgjority of the board of directors.

Notice of Regular Meeting of Directors

.. Section 6., TNotice, unless waived, of meetings of the directors,
except the meeting provided for in section 4, shall be malled to each
director at his last known address at least three days prior to the
time of such meeting.

Quorum

Section 7. A majority of the board of dirvectors shall cone
stitute a quorum of the board at all meetings.

Compensgation

Section 8. (a) The directors shall receive no compensation for
their services other than reimbursement for any necessary transpor-
tation and hotel expenses incurred by them in attending the meetings
of* the board of directors and a per diem allowance of $5,00 for the
time actually covered by attendance at meetings.
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_ (b) No director, during the term of his office shall be a
salaried officer or employee of the asgociation, and no director,
officer or employee of the associlation during his term of office or
employment shall be a party to a contract for profit with the associ-
tion differing in any way from the business relations accorded the
members generally, or be a stockholder or officer in any corporation

so contracting. :
ARTICLE IIX.

Power of Directors
Section 1. The directors shall have power -~

(a)' To conduct, manage and control the affairs and business
of the association; and to make rules and regulations for the guidance
of the officers and the management of its affairs.

(b} To appoint and remove, at pleasure, all officers, agents,
and employees of the assoclation, prescribe their duties, fix their
compensation, and require from them, if advisable, security for

faithful service.

(¢) To call special méétings of the members when they deem it
necessary; and they must call a meeting at any time upon the written
reguest of one-tenth of the members.

(d) To make and enter into agreements for the processing, man-
ufacturing, warechousing, drying and marketing of the tobaceo handled
by the asgsociation or the products or by-products derived therefron,
including the leasing or purchasing of warehouses and other facilities,

- (e) To carry out the marketing contracts of the members in
every way advantageous to the association representing the growers
ccllectively,

(£) To select one or more banks to act as the depository of
the funds of the association, to determine the manner of receiving,
depositing and disbursing the funds of the association, the form of .
checks and the person or persons by whom the same shall be signed, -
with the power to change such banks and the person or persgons sign-
ing said checks and the form thereof at will. ‘

- ARTICLE IV
Duties of Directors
Section 1. It shall be the duty of the board of directors —-
(a) To keep a complete record of all its acts snd the proceed-~
ings of its meetings, and to present a full statement at the regular

meetings of the members, showing in detail the condition of the affairs
of the assoeciation.

{(r) To supervise all officers, agents and employeeg and see
that their duties are properly performed,

(¢) To cause to be issued appropriate certificates of stock.

CONFIDENTIAL - AFPORREZS EVRE281 yRocument 228-2 Filed 01/11/18 Page 5 of 12
SUBJECT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

SC-GA 10774



ik A

(d) To install such a system of bookkeeping and auditing that
each member may know and be advised from time to time fully concern-
ing the receipts, disbursements and financial condition of the associ- L‘]

ation.

(e} To adopt and rigidly enforce strict regulations to insure L
economy in salaries and ‘expenditures.

(f) To require all the officers or employees of the associ-
atlon who handle funds of the association to give adequate bonds,
the premiums of which shall be paid by the association.

ARTICLE VvV .,
Of ficers

The officers of the association shall be a president, one or -
more vice presidents, a secretary and a treasurer, and a General
Counsel, together with any other administrative officers whom the
board of directors may see fit, in its discretion, to provide for
by resolution entered upon the minutes.

The board may appoint assistant secretaries, in its discretion,
and may delegate to them any or all of the duties of the secretary,
and such other duties as may be deemed advisable. a

The compensation and tenure of all officers shall be fixed by
the board of directors, . ' _ j”}

Only the president and vice presidents are reguired to be -
members of the board of directors.

“ARTICLE VI.
President

If at any time the president shall be unable to acty, the vice
presidents, in the order of their election, shall take his place and
perform his duties; and if no vice president is able to act, the board
of _directors shall appoint a director to do go, The president, such
vice president or director shall:

(a) Preside over all meetings of members and directors.

{(b) SBubject to the advice of the directors, direct the affasirsg
of the asgsogistion. .

(¢} Call the'directors together whenever necessary,

(d) Sign, as president, all certificates of stock and all
contracts, notes and other instruments when so directed by the board
of directors,

amemacvonrnd

(e) Report at each annual meeting of the members, the salaries

of officers and department heads, and the average salary of minor
employees in each depariment, ’
(f) Discharge such other duties as may be reyuired of him by
these by-laws or by the board of directors.
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ARTICLE VII, i
Secretary and Treasurer.
(;? Section 1. It shall be the duty of the secretary:

(a) To keep a record of the proceedings of the meetings of the
-board of directors and of members,

(b} Po keep the corporate seal,
(e) To keep a proper stoeck book.

(d) To execute and sign contracts, notes, papers and documentS'
as authorized by the board of directors.

(e) To act as secretary of the executive commitiee.

(f) To discharge such other duties as pertain to his office or
may be prescribed by the board of directors.

Section 2. It sall be the duty of the treasurer:

(a) To perform such duties with respect to the finances of the
association as may be prescribed by the board of directors. )

(b} To furnish bond in such form and in such amount as the board
of direc¢tors may, from time to time, require,

j,i (¢} The secretary may be the same person as the treasurer, The
. treasurer need not be a natural person, but may be a corporation, prefer-
ably a banking corporation. -

ARTICLE VIII.
Executive Committee.

The board of directors may appoint an executive committee of
four members from among 1ts members; determine its tenune of office
and prescribe its powers and duties, which may be all of the powers.
and duties of said board of directors, which shall be performed or

- exercised subject to the general direction, approval and control of
the board of directors. The president shall be an ex officio member
of the said executive committee, in addition to the four members
hereln provided for.

_ Copies of the minutes of the meetings of the execubive committee
and any reports theresof, must be mailed weekly to all directors,

ARTICLE IX.

£ Auditing Committee.
- Section 1. The board of directors may appoint an auditing
- committee from among its members, determlne the number thereof, its
tenure of ofxlce, and the manner and form in which the committee shall
function; in lieu of such -action by the board, the anditing committee
may prescribe rules and regulations with reference to its procedure.
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Section 2. The board of directors shall have audits made at
least annually, by a certified public accountant whose report shall
be filed with the board of directors prior to the annual meeting.

Section 3. The audits of the assoclation, as provided in
Section 2 of this Article, shall be reported to the members at the
annual meeting.

ARTICLE X..
Stock Certificates.

Section 1. Each certificate of common stock of the association
shall have the following statement printed on its face:

“"The common stock evlidenced hereby may be purchased, owned or
held only by producers who shall patronize the association in accordance
with uniform terms and conditions prescribed thereby and only such
pergsons shall be regarded as eligible members of the association, In
the event the board of directors of the association shall find follow-
ing a hearing that any of the common stock of this association has
come into the hands of any person who is not an eligible member, or that
the holder thereof has ceased to be an eligible member, such person
shall have no rights or privileges on account of such stock or vote
or voice in the management or affairs of the association {other than
the right to participate in accordance with law in case of dissolu-
tion and to receive the par or book value of such stock, whichever
is less, in the event of its sale or transfer as hereln provided), J—
and the association shall have the right (a) to purchase such stock
at its book or par value, whichever 1s less, as determined by the ’
board of directors of the association, and on the failure of the
holder to deliver the certificate or certificates evidencing any such
stock, the association may.cancel the same on its books, or (b) to
requlre the transfer of any such stock at such book or par value to
any person eliglble to hold the same and on the failg; ‘of the holder .
to deliver the certificate or certificates evidencingfzhch stock, the
association may cancel the same on its books and lssue a new certifi-
cate or certificates in lieu thersof to any such person, The common
stock of this association may be transferred only with the consgent
of the board of directors of the assocciation and on the books of the
association and then only to persons eligible to hold the same; and
no purported assignment ‘e transfer of commofi stock shall pass, to any
person not eligible to hold the same, any rights or privileges on
account of such stock or vote or voice in the management or affairs
of the association, Fach eligible holder of common stock shall be
entltled to only one vote in any meeting of the stockholders, re-
gardless of the number of shares of stock owned by him. This associ-
ation shall have a lien on all of its issued common stock and on
dividends declared thereon for all indebtedness of the holders
thereof to the association., No dividends chall be paid upon the
common stock,™

i

e

Section 2, Bach certificate of preferred stock of this associ-
atlon shall have the following statement printed on its face!

"The preferred stock evidenced hereby shall carry no voting
rights and may be transferred.pnly on the books of the associationg
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and may be redeemed in whole or in part on a prorata basis at par,
plus any dividends declared thereon and unpaid at any time on thirty
(30) days’® notice by the association, provided said stock is redeemed

-~  1in the same order as originally issued by years, and on the fallure

r : to deliver the certifilcate or certificates evidencing any such stock

\iJ the association may cancel the same on its books., Stoek which has

" been redeemed may, in the discretion of the board of directors, be
reissued or retired, All such preferred stock go redeemed shall be
paid for in cash at the par value thereof, plus any dividends declared
thereon and unpaid; and such stock shall not bear dividends after it
has been called for redemption., Noncumulative dividends of not fo
exceed six (6) percent per annum may be pald thereon when, if and as
declared by the board of directors. This assoclation shall have a
lien on all of its issued preferred stock and on dividends declared
thereon for all- indebtedness of the holders thereof to the assocliation,
At the discretion of the board of directors, all dividends or distri-
butions of the association or any part thereof may be paid in certifi-
cates of preferred stock or credits on preferred stock, or ad interim
certificates representing fractional parts thereof, subject to conver-
slon into full shares. Upon dissolution or distribution of the assets
of the association, the holders of all preferred stock shall be entitled
to receive the par value of their stock, plus any dividends declared
thereon and unpaid before any distribution is made on the common stoek,"

ARTICLE XI.

Books and Papers,

4

M L

,WM“\
J

Section 1. The books and records of the association shall, at
all times, be subject to the inspection of the board of directors,.

Section 2, Any member of the association, or his representative,
duly authorized in writing, may inspect the books and records of the
assocliation, subject to such rules and regulations as the bosrd of
directors may prescribe from time to time fo: the purpose of protecting
the rights of the members and of the association generally, and any
member shall be entitled at any time to know the salary of any employee,

ARTICLE XII.
MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Regular Meetings,

Section 1, Regular meetings of the members shall be held at
the office of the association at Raleigh, North Carolina, on the last
Friday in June of each year for the purpose of hearing the report from

the president and for transacting such other business as may come

before the meeting.

Speéial Meetings,

o Section 2, Except where otherwise prescribed by law or elsewhere
: in these by-laws, a special meeting of the members may be called at any
time by the president or by a majority of the board of directors or
on. petition of one-tenth of the membership. Each such call shall be

in writing and shall state the time, place and the purpose of such meet-
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18 A ,
ing. No business shall be transacted at a spécial meeting other than
as is stated in the call for such meeting.

Notice of Regular Meetings. ' (“i

Section 3. Notice of each regular meeting of the members shall LL;

be given., Such notice must state the time and the place of the meeting

and that the purpose thereof is the transaction of such business as

may come before the meeting. A copy thereof shall be mailed to each

member of the association prior to the time for holding such meeting,

but in lieu thereof, notice of the mesting may be given by publications

in newspapers circulating in the territory 1n which the association

has members, such notices to appear in such newspapers not less than

ten days nor more than thirty days prior to the time of the meeting,

QUORUM

. Section ¥, At any meeting of the members of the association
other than a district meeting for the election of directors, at least
25 persons present in person and/or voting by mail shall constitute
a quorum for all purposes except when otherwise provided in these
by-~laws, ' ’

BElection of Directors.

Section 5. Following the formation of districts the members
of each district shall meet annually for the electlon of a director
or directors to represent that district, and the board of directors —
of the association shall presecribe the procedure to be followed in '
each distriet for the election of a director or directors therefrom.
In any district meeting the members pressnt in person and/or voting
by wmail shall constitute a quorum for the election of directors.

e m———
L .

ARTICLE XI1I
Members,

Section 1. Any person, firm, partnership, or association,
including both landlords and teénants in share tenancies, who is a ——
bona fide producer of flue~cured tobacco in the territory in which the
assoclidtion is engaged in business may become & member of the associ-
ation by acquliring a share of the common stock, signing the marketing
agreement, and meeting such other conditions as. may be prescribed
by the board of directors. :

Voting Power of Members,

Section 2. The voting power of the members of this association
shall be equal and each and every member hereof shall have one vote.

Proxies,
Secticn 3. Any member shall be permitted to vote at any meeting [
in person or he may vote by mail on a ballot to be prepared by order =.l
of the board of directors, but voting by proxy is prohibited.

Board to Establish Standards and
Grades
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Section 4. The board of directors shall have the power to
establish and to revise and amend from time to time rules and regulae
tions by which each member shall be governed with reference to the
broper handling, delivery and shipping of iobacco and to secure a
broper classification of grades and standard of guality.

ARTICLE XIV.
General Manager,

The board of directors may, in its discretion, appoint a general
manager, who shall hold office at the pleasure of and on terms and :
conditions set by the board of directors, No director may be elected
to serve as general manager.

ARTICLE XV,
Borrowing Monsy.

The association shall have the power by affirmative vote of a
majorlity vote of the directors, to borrow money for any corporate
purposes, on open account or upon any assets of the association or
upon the security of property of members in its possession or upon
any accounts thereof, or any property not yel distributed to the
members, 1n such amounts and upon such terms and conditions as may from
time to time seem to the board of directors advisable Or necessary.

ARTICLE XVI.
Capital Reserves,

The books and records of the association shall be kept in such
a manner, by years, that the amount carried to.capital r eserves, which -
have the status of capital, acceruing from patronage of each patron
of the association may be ascertained at any time. Whenever in a
given year the operation of the association results in a net loss,y
such loss, to the extent that capital reserves are available, shall
be charged against the same and they shall thereby be reduced accord-
ingly., The board of directors shall prescribe the basis on which the
capital reserve contributions of patrons by years shall be reduced on
account of any such loss, so that it will be borne by the patrons on
as equitable a basis as the board of directors find practicable,
Whenever in the discretion of the board of directors the capital

reserves are found to be in excess of the amount deemed reasocnably

necessary for the sound financial operations of the asscclation, such
excess shall be applied to paying off ratably, by years, the oldest
unexhausted capital reserve contributions of patrons. Upon the dissolu-
tion or winding up of the association in any manner, after the payment
of all debts and the retirement at par of all outstanding capital

stock, any balance remaining over shall be distributed ratably to

the patrons on an equitable basis.
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ARTICLE XVII.
A These by-laws may be altered or amended by a méjority vote
of a guorum of the common stockholders attending a meeting of which
notice of the proposed by-law or by-laws shall have been given,

ARTICLE XVIII.

- In the event any producer of tobacco who is a non member
of the corporation shall make delivery of any guantity of tobacco to
the Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corporation at any
warehouse and shall thereby obtain the benefit of a loan thereon,
there shall be deducted by the warehouse in making settlement with
such producer -for the tobacco so delivered the amount of five dollars
($5.00) to cover the par value of one share of common stock of the
corporation, and the amount so deducted shall be remitted by the ware-
. house to the corporation and there shall thereupon be issued to such
_ producer one share of common stock in the corporation., In the event
such deduction should not be made by the warehouse in settling with
such non member, then such non member would not be entitled to any
participation in the profits arising from such transaction until
there has been deducted from the participating share of such non
member in the profits the amount of five dollars ($5.00) covering
the par value of one share of common stock in the corporation,

6/3/47
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO
COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION

P. Q. Box 12300
Raleigh, North Garolina 27605 Telephona: (919} B21 - 4560

February 17, 1976

TO MEMBERS WHO DELIVERED TOBACCQ TO STARILIZATION
FROM THE 1967 AND/OR 1968 CROPS:

Dear Meuber:

All tobacco received from the 1967 and 1968 crops has been
sold. Net gains, amounting to over 7% of the value of deliveries by
members from each of those crops, were realized. The portion of net
gains allocated to you is being distributed in the form of the en-
closed check{s) and certificate({s) of interest in capital reserve. The
basis of that allocation is explained in the enclosed certificate(s)
of interest. TIf you had deliveries to S8tabilization from both crops,
there are enclosed two checks and two certificates of interest. The
enclosed check({s) represent(s) 60% of amount(s) allocated to you and
the enclosed certificate(s) of interest represent(s) the remaining 40%
allocated to you which has been retained in a capital reserve estab-
lished by your Board of Directors. The establishment of such a capital
reserve is in accordance with applicable law, the governing instruments
of Stabilization, and the terms of your Mewbership Agrecment. The cer-
tificate(s) should be kept with your valuable papers.

The uncertainty in connection with the future of the tobacco
program polints up the wisdom and practical neceasity of Stabilization
maintaining a capital reserve to be used if needed to continue opera-
tions and to meet other unforeseen emergencies. It 1s a crucial time
for tobacco and it is essential that Stabilization be financially
strong in order to cope with problems which may be greater in the years
ahead than those experienced in the past. Your contribution to the
capital reserve will help insure that Stabllization will be able to
continue to provide price support operations to growers in the event
that difficult times arise.

Please be sure to cash your check(s) promptly and include
yvour Social Security number in the space provided for it on the back
of the check(s), along with your endorsement., We are regquired by the
Internal Revenue Service to report the dividend(s) and to include your
Social Security number. Federal and skate laws require thak you re-
port the total amount of both the check(s) and the amount appearing in
Block 6 of the certificate(s) of interest, as income for the taxable
vear in which you receive and cash the enclozed check(a).

We alsco enclose financial statements on the 1967 and 1968
crops, along with an informational pamphlet on Stabilization.

(ery truly yours,

Enclosures General Manager (/ /
S/ AN
SERVING THE GROWERS IN THE BRIGHT LEAF AREA o A
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABLLIZATION CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF 1967 CROF OPERATIONS

FEBRUARY 17, 1976

RECEIPTS:
S8ales of tobacco and miscellaneousa income
EXPENSES:
Advances to Growera - 282,300,009 green pounds
Processing charges (redrying, frecight, etc.)
Carrying charges (storage, fumigation, insurance, atc.)
Overhaad and administrative cost
Barter sales profits paid to Commodity Credit Corporation
Interest paid to Commodity Credit Corporation
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET GAINS REALIZED ON SALE OF TOBAGCO
Interast received on funds invested
TOTAL NET GALNS
Amount retained in Capital Reserve (40% of Net Gains)

AMOUNT DISTRIBUTED IN CASH TO MEMBERS (60% of Net Cains)

$165,860,965
19,376,563
6,898,212
1,205,702
168,722
28,520,134

STATEMENT OF 1968 CROP OPERATIONS

FEBRUARY 17, 1976

RECEIPTS:
8ales of tobacco and miscellaneous income
EXPENSES:
Advances to Growers - 128,300,257 green pounds
Processing charges (redrying, freight, etc,)
Carrying charges (storage, fumigation, Insurance, etc.)
Overhead and administrative cost
Barter sales profits paid to Commodity Credit Corporation
Interest paid to Commodity CGredit Corporation
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET GAINS REALIZEI' ON SALE OF TOBACCO
Interest received on fundsg invested
TOTAL NET GATINS
Amount retained in Capital Reserve (40% of Net Gains)

AMOUNT DISTRIBUTED IN CASH TO MEMBERS (60% of Net Gains)

Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228-3 Filed 01/11/18

$ 75,223,939

9,569,494
2,853,677
938, 240
2,720
11,143,499

$233,647,345

222,030,298

$ 11,617,047

610,288

§ 12,227,335
4,890,934

§ 7,336,401

8105,237, 760

99,731,569
$ 5,506,191
275,058

$ 5,781,249
2,312,500

$ 3,468,749

Page 3 0of 4
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lina, and Virginia, who en-
gaged in the production of
the 1985 crop, are eligible
to vote. Producers who leased
and transferred their quota
in 1985are eligible to vote.
A list of eligible voters
will be available inthe coun-
ty ASCS offices by December
1, 1985, If you have any
questions about the Quota Ref~
erendum, contact your County
or State ASCS office.

SALES AND SToCKS oN HAND:

(FARM WEIGHT)

Since the November News
Letter, Stabilization has
sold 3,684,034 pounds of to-
bacco. For the calendar year
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to date, sales have totaled
44,420,129 pounds..Following
is an analysis of sales for
the month and stocks on hand:

1BS. S0ID LBS

A
Y

W

NEWS LETTER

Published by

FLUE-CURED TOBACCO
COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION

1304 ANNAPOLIS DRIVE

RALE!GH, NORTH CAROLINA 27605

Fred G. Bond, General Manager

CROP  DURING NOV.  ON HAND

1976 -0- 7,199,611
1977 1,784,070 53,547,044
1978 56,35 15,020,177
1979 S0- 15,329,848
1980 -0- 64,185,293
1981 160,742 89,214,704
1982 9,937 - 211,979,581
1983 431,047 162,054,298
198¢ 1,241,882 149,207,153
TOTAL 3,684,034 767,737,709

1985 MARKETING SEASON:
Eastern N. C. Area {Type 12)

The 1985 marketing season
began July 25 with a special
auction for 1984 carry-over
tobacco. Regular auctions
started July 31 with final
sales held October 29, 1985.
Sales were held 51 days --
four more than last year.

. Gross sales for the season
amounted to 305.9 million
pounds, down 14.6 million
pounds from last season, for
an average of $§170.43 per hun-
dred. Total value of the crop
was $520.7 million. During
the 1984 season, 319.9million
pounds were marketed for an
average of $180.94 per hun-
dred. Resales for 1985 to-
taled 22.6 million pounds or
7.4%.

Stabilization's receipts
amounted to 55.4 million
pounds, or 18.1% of gross
sales. In 1984, receipts to-
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December 1985

taled 55.8million pounds,' or
17.5% of gross sales.

02d & Middle Belt
Marketing Area (Type 11)

Although there was a
smaller crop in1985, the to-
bacco offered this year was
more desirable than in the
past several years.

Gross sales for the season
totaled 256.4million pounds,
down 32.6million pounds from
last season, for an average

* of §173.57 per hundred. To-

tal value of the crop was
$445.1 million. During the
1984 season, 289.0 million
pounds were marketed for an

- average of $180.32 per hun-

i

i
.
l

dred. Resales for 1985 to-
taled 20.3 million pounds or
7.9%.

Stabilization's receipts
for the season amounted to
38.8 million pounds, or15.1%
of gross sales. In 1984, re-



Following is an analysis of 1985 crop receipts by state

and type for the season:
GROSS SALES

STABILIZATION RECEIPTS

STATE  TYPE (Mil. Pounds) {Pounds) * PERCENT
Fla, 14 18.2 1,306,848 7.19
Ga. 14 95.4 4,598,985 4.82
Total 14 113.6 5,905,833 5.20
S.C. 13 102.5 21,230,309 20.72
N.C. 13 84.7 10,870,039 12.83
Total 13 187.2 32,100,348 17.15
N.C. 12 _305.5 55,387,141 18.13
Total 12 305.5 55,387,141 18.13
N.C. 11B 78.9 13,932,651 17.66
Total 11B 78.9 13,932,651 17.66
N.C. 11A 95.0 10,695,631 11.26
Va. 1ia 82.5 14,199,690 17.20
Total 11A 177.5 24,895,321 14.02
TOTAL-ALL TYPES 862.7 132,221,294 15.33

*Preliminary - subject to adjustment.

The adjusted total receipts by Stabilization for the 1984
crop amounted to 158,601,449 pounds, representing 17.17% of

gross sales.

ceipts totaled 71.3 million
pounds, or 24.8% of gross
sales.

Tax RELIEF ForR GROWERS:

Stabilization's Board of
Directors, at its November
19, 1985 meeting, passed a
resolution requesting the
Secretary of Agriculture to
establish an Account within
Commodity Credit Corporation
and to transfer all assets
from the present Fund to the

_Account. When this is done,

in December 1985 the Board
plans tocancel all preferred
stock and per unit retain

certificates which were is-
sued for the 1982 and 1983
crops and those that were to
be issued for the 1984 and
1985 crops.

The cancellation of these
certificates renders them
worthless and establishes a
business loss to the holders
in the year cancelled.

In 1986 and subsequent
years, payments to insure a
No Net Cost Tobacco Program
will be in the form of as-
sessments deposited into an
Account instead of capital
contributions to the Fund and

may be treated as a business
expense in the year paid.

Growers are advised to
take cancellation notices
which will be mailed in late
December to their income tax
preparer.,

ToBacco AssOCIATES, INC.

REFERENDUM!

Tobacco growers in North
Carolina and South Carolina
have been mailed ballots in
order to vote on the contin-
uvation of Tobacco Associates,
Inc. for the next three years
(1986, 1987, and 1988). A
positive vote will authorize

the collection of an assess-'

ment in an amount not to ex-
ceed one-tenth (1/10) of a
cent per pound tobe used for
the purpose of promoting the
export and use of U.S. flue-
cured tobacco.

It is important to note
that this is the first refer-
endum conducted by mail and
independent of the Tobacco
Quota Referendum.

The ballots must be re-
turned no later than December
12, 1985. The returned bal-
lots will be tallied on De-
cember 17, 1985 by an Inde-
pendent Talley Agent, Coopers
and Lybrand, CPA's.

Farmers who engage in the
production of flue~cured to-
bacco and/or the proceeds of
such crop shall be eligible
to vote. If you have not re-
ceived a ballot in the mail
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by December 2, 1985 and you
feel you are eligible tovote,
in North Carolina you can
call (919-821-7670) or in
South Carolina (803-774-5191).
A request for ballots will be
taken until December 6, 1985,

The mainobjectives of To-
bacco Associates, Inc. are as
follows:

{a) Promote, develop, and ex~
pand the export market for
American produced flue-cured
tobacco.

{b) Represent the growers'
interest in the development
of export markets for Ameri-
can flue-cured throughout the
world,

{¢) Monitor all international
and national tradepolicy de-
velopments, regulations, or
proposals that have an impact
on tobacco trade.

Frue-Curep ToBAcco

QuoTA REFERENDUM;

The national flue-cured
tobacco quota must be an-
nounced by the Secretary of
Agriculture by December 15,
1985. The referendum must be
conducted within 30 days of
the quota announcement. Tar-
get dates for the referendum
are January 6-10, 1986 with
ballots being tallied onJan-
uary 15, 1986. The vote will
be conducted by mail. Flue-
cured tobacco producers in
Florida, Georgia, Alabama,
South Carolina, North Caro-

SC 09979
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"7 United States Agricultural P.0. Box 2415 CBNHDEN“AL
P Washington, D.C. ‘

Department of Stabilization and
Agriculture Conservation Service 20013

07 MAY 1992

Mr. Fred G. Bond

Chief Executive Officer

Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative
Stabilization Corporation

P.O. Box 12300

Raleigh, North Carolina 27605

Dear Mr. Bond:

This letter responds to a request from the Board of Directors of Flue-Cured Tobacco
Cooperative Stabilization Corporation (Stabilization) to redeem the 1983 crop loan
inventory of flue-cured tobacco. In the request, the Board proposed to redeem the 1983
crop of flue-cured tobacco by transferring approximately $74.4 million of funds generated
from the 1984 No-Net-Cost (NNC) Account ($69.8 million) and the 1986 crop excess
Graham-Rudman-Hollings (GRH) special assessment ($4.6 million), to liquidate the debt
owing Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) on the 1983 loan collateral inventory.
Redemption was requested in accordance with paragraph 19 of the 1983 Loan
Agreement between Stabilization and CCC.

The request, as submitted, has been disapproved. The principal reason for disapproval
of the request is that CCC would be left with a debt of approximately $28 million on the
1984 crop without NNC funds to cover any possible losses. However, CCC approved the
redemption of the 1983 and 1984 crop loan collateral inventories upon payment of the
total debt outstanding, both principal and interest, on these crop year loans. CCC also
approved the use of the 1984 NNC and 1986 GRH funds to be used to reduce the
outstanding debt on these crop loans.

By redeeming both the 1983 and 1984 crop year loan inventories, CCC would be relieved
of all responsibilities on the 1983 and 1984 flue-cured tobacco inventories and
Stabilization would be solely responsible for these inventories of approximately 15
million pounds. By redeeming the 1983 and 1984 crops, Stabilization may retain the
sales proceeds resulting from the sale of the remainder of these crop inventories once
the 1983 and 1984 loan accounts with CCC have been closed.

If Stabilization’s Board of Directors elect to pursue redemption of both the 1983 and
1984 crop loan inventories, please let us know and CCC will make arrangements with

SC 08650
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your servicing agent bank to liquidate the outstanding loan balances on the 1983 and
1984 loan crop inventories.

If you have any questions concerning the above matters, please let me know.

Sincerely,

attee £ At

Director,
Tobacco and Peanuts Division

sC 08651
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150 Fayetteville Street Mall
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Raleigh, NC 27626-0543

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors
Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Flue-Cured Tobacco
Cooperative Stabilization Corporation and subsidiary as of April 30, 1993 and 1992, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's

management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statemnents based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We belicve that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization
Corporation and subsidiary at April 30, 1993 and 1992, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

As discussed n note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method
of accounting for income taxes in 1993 to adopt the provisions of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board's Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for

KPMG AT rerseetd

May 13, 1993

-1-
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FLUE-CURED.TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

April 30, 1993 and 1992

Assets 1993 1992
Cash $ 152,984 125,207
Investment in interest-bearing obligations,
at amortized cost (note 7) 151,384,089 108,422,235
Accrued interest receivable 2,160,063 1,984,335
Accounts receivable 48,494 232.863
Unreimbursed costs due from Tobacco Loan
Funds (notes 2 and 3) 39,039 10,247
Prepaid expenses 89,880 75,508
Tobaccu inventory (note 4) 45,659.459 56,347,567
Cash surrender value of life insurance 48591 46,374
Prepaid retirement cost (note 6) 1,389,500 1,542,000
Property, plant, and equipment:
Land 307,589 307,589
Buildings 3,643,077 3,608,960
Fumiture, fixtures and equipment 1,313,434 1,281,892
Automobiles and trucks 348.986 373.466
Total 5,613,086 5,571,907
Less accumulated depreciation 3,481,582 3,263.176
Net property, plant and equipment 2,131,504 2,308.731
$ 203,103,603 171,095.067
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Accounts payable 4,282 16,102
Accrued expenses 6,526 5,989
Income taxes payable 315,910 2.198.700
Deferred income taxes _18.576.000 _22
Total liabilitics 18902718 _24,620,294
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $5 par value (note 2):
Authorized 1,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 793,997 shares in 1993 and
792,316 shares in 1992 3,969,985 3,961.580
Paid but not issued 1,333 shares in 1993 and
1,319 shares in 1992 6.665 6.595
Total common stock 3,976,650 3,968,175
Additional paid-in capital {(note 4) 110,753,161 75,800,535
Capital equity credits 26,802,854 26,802,963
Retained eamings A42,668220 _39.903.100
Total stockholders’ equity 184200885 146474773
Commitments and contingencies (notes 3, 6 and 8)
$ 203,103,603 171,095,067

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993 1992
Revenue:
Sale of tobacco, net of sales adjustments
(notes 3 and 4) $ 65,969,155 30,972,032
Cost of tobacco seld (notes 3 and 4) 68.592.714 30972032
Gross profit (loss) on tobacco sales (2,623,559) -
Storage income 1,019.870 901,066
Total net revenues (1.603.689) 901,066
Expense:
Operating expense 589,630 601.950
General and administrative, net of price
support and other reimbursements of $1,140,322
in 1993 and $745,744 n 1992 (note 2) 2.460.544 2.157.913
Total expense 3 174 2759865
Operating loss (4653.863) _(1.858799)
Other income:
Interest income 8,391,569 7,995,504
Other revenue and expense, net 241.578 __169.979
Total other income 8.633.147 8,165,483
Eamings before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 3,979,284 6,306.684
Provision for income taxes (note 5) 809 2,152,000
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle 3,169,617 4,154.634
Cumulative effect at May 1, 1992 of change in
accounting for income taxes (note 5) 404 497 -
Net eamings $ 2765120 4.154.684

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993 1992
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net eamings 2,765,120 4,514,684
Adjustments to reconcile net eamings to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 266,790 283,092
Amortization of premium and discount on
interest bearing obligations, net (346,877 (308,711)
Prepaid retirement cost 152,500 (332,000)
Deferred income taxes (26,277,836) (26,609,118)
Increase in accrued interest receivable (175,728) (241,673)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 184,369 (213,585)
Decrease in tobacco inventory 68,095,067 30,401,774
Increase in other assets (45,381) (57,094)
Decrease in accounts payable (11,820) (27,787)
Increase in accrued expenses 537 3,693
Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable (1.882.790) _1.946.200
Net cash provided by operating activities 42723951 8.999.475
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (89,563) (255,219)
Purchases of interest bearing obligations (133,744,977) (79,961.329)
Maurities of interest bearing obligations, net of gain 91.130000 71172721
Net cash used in investing activitics (42.704.540) (9.043819)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock 8,745 9425
Retirement of common stock (270) (335)
Redemption of nonqualified capital equity credits (109) (24)
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,366 9.066
Net increase (decrease) in cash 21,777 (35.278)
Cash at beginning of year —125207 __160.485
Cash atend of year 152,984 125,207
(Continued)

5.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of C.sh Flows, Continued

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 29,374,790

1992
26,557,520

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing activities:

In 1993, the Corporation took possession of approximately
13,140,000 pounds of tobacco from the 1983 and 1984
crop inventories (see note 4) recording tobacco inventory
of $57.406,959 and additional paid-in capital of
$34,952,626, net of deferred incoine taxes of $22,454,333.

In 1992, the Corporation adjusted the carrying value
of the tobacco inventory primarily due to lower carrying
charges being capitalized than originally estimated.
The net adjustment was a reduction in tobacco inventory
value of $2,000,000 with a corresponding reduction in
the deposit due to patrons.

In 1992, the Corporation elected to retain the income from
the sale of 1982 crop tobacco (see note 4) and the deposit
due to patrons was reclassified to additional paid-in
capital in the amount of $75,800,535, net of income
taxes of $48,950,000.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONFIDENTIAL
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FLU[;}CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

(D

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

April 30, 1993 and 1992

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the major accounting policies followed by the Flue-Cured Tobacco
Cooperative Stabilization Corporation (the “Corporation”) in the preparation of the
accompanying conselidated financial statements is set forth below:

(a) Consolidation Policy

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tobacco Growers Services, Inc. All material intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated.

(o) Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all short-term
investments with a maturity at date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

(c) Interest-Bearing Obligations

Interest-bearing obligations are stated at amortized cost.

(d) Tobacco Inventory

Tobacco inventory is stated at the base purchase price plus carrying costs of the tobacco.
(e) Property. Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided over the estimated
useful lives of the individual assets using the declining-balance or the straight-line method.

(f) Income Taxes

In February 1992, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Statement 109 requires a
change from the deferred method of accounting for income taxes of APB Opinion 11 o the
assets and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability
method of Statement 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. Under Statement 109, the effect on deferred tax assets

and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date.

Effective May 1, 1992, the Company adopted Statement 109 and it has reported thc
cumulative effect of that change in the method of accounting for income taxes in the 1993
consolidated statement of operations.

-7-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSID[ARY

1)

)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

Summary of Signiticant Accounting Policies, Continued

() Income Taxes, Continued

Pursuant to the deferred method under APB Opinion 11, which was applied in 1992 and prior
years, deferred income taxes are recognized for income and expense items that are reported in
different years for financial reporting purposes and income tax purposes using the tax rate
applicable in the year of the calculation. Under the deferred method, deferred taxes are not
adjusted for subsequent changes in tax rates.

In prior years, the Corporation paid income taxes with respect to non-qualified capital equity
credits. The Corporation receives an income tax- deduction for nonqualified capital equity
credits in the year of redemption. The income taxes provided for in prior years are accounted

for as a reduction of the nonqualified capital equity credits ($855,900 and $856,011 at April
30, 1993 and 1992, respectively).

(g) Pension Plan

The Corporation has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering all employees
who qualify as to age and length of service. The plan provides benefits through guaranteed
investment contracts and an investment in timber contracts. It is the Corporation’s policy to
fully fund all accumulated plan benefits.

Organization I

The Corporation was incorporated on June 1, 1946 under the provisions of the Cooperative
Marketing Act of the State of North Carolina. as a corporation operating on a cooperative
basis, with capital stock.

The authorized capital stock of the Corporation consists of 1,000,000 shares of common stock
having a par value of $5 per share and may be issued and sold only to and thereafter held only
by praducers of flue-cured tobacco who shall patronize the Corporation in accordance with
uniform terms and conditions prescribed thereby. At all meetings of the stockholders, each
stockholder is entitled to only one vote. No dividends are payable upon the common stock.
The Corporation has adopted a bylaw consent form in which each member agrees to take into
gross income patronage refunds allocated to them.

The Corporation is authorized to issue capital equity credits evidencing per-unit retains or
patronage refunds due its members and patrons. The capital equity credits are used to
accumulate capital as considered necessary by the Board of Directors. Capital equity credits
bear no interest, have no due date, and may be revolved at the discretion of the Board of
Directors in order of issuance by years.

CONFIDENTIAL
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(2) Organization Data, Continued

The business activities of the Corporation have consisted primarily of marketing and storage
services for its member growers under the provisions of a price support loan agreement with
Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) whereby CCC provides the funds necessary to pay
member growers the support price of eligible tobacco delivered for sale, plus the costs of
transporting, processing, handling and storing the "loan tobacco”. Funds provided by CCC are
evidenced by nonrecourse notes, payable on demand, and are collateralized by the underlying
tobacco crops. Proceeds from the sale of pre-1982 loan tobacco are remitted to CCC to be
applied first as a reduction in the principal amount of outstanding loans and then against
accrued interest and collateral fees charged by CCC. Repayments of 1982 or subsequent crop
years will be applied to both principal and interest on a first borrowed, first repaid basis within
cach crop year. The funds provided by CCC are categorized as "Tobacco Loan Funds” for
1981 and prior crop pools and the "No Net Cost Tobacco Account” for the 1982 and

subsequent crop pools and are not recorded in the accounts of the Corporation as described in
note 3.

The Corporation may be liable for any tobacco damaged due to the negligence of its

employees. In the opinion of management, any potential loss to the Corporation is not
material.

For financial reporting purposes, the Corporation recognizes as income the storage fees
eamed. Direct costs incurred on behalf of the funds are reimbursed by CCC.

The tobacco loan funds have also borrowed $.01 per pound of tobacco from CCC to offset a
portion of the administrative costs of operating the price support program.

(3) Tobacco Loan Funds
@ T F -1 ior Pool
For 1981 and prior crops, amounts due CCC and unpaid upon final sale of the related tobacco

crop will be absorbed by CCC unless it can be proven that the Corporation has not complied

with all the terms of its agreement with CCC. At April 30, 1993, the 1977, 1978, 1980 and
1981 crop pools remain unclosed.

At April 30, 1993, there were 596,520 pounds of dry tobacco in the 1981 and prior crop pools

inventory and the amount due CCC by the Corporation, including interest and insurance, was
$665,873,250.

9.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(3) Tobacco Loan Funds, Continued

(a) Tobacco Loan Funds - 1981 and Prior Crop Pools, Continued

The 1986 tobacco support program with CCC provides that the tobacco from the 1981 and
pnor crop pools shall be offered for sale at the base prices plus carrying charges (reduced by
90%) from April 20, 1986 and increased by applicable carrying charges until such tobacco is
removed from inventory. The Corporation has signed purchase agreements for the remaining
tobacco in the 1981 and prior crop pools at the reduced price under an arrangement that allows
the purchasers to acquire the tobacco over a buyout period that could extend to 1996.

In the opinion of management of the Corporation, the Corporation has complied with all the
terms of its agreement with CCC.

(b) No Net Cost Tobacco Account - 1982 and Subsequent Crop Pools

Beginning with the 1982 crop the loan agreements between the Corporation and CCC
provides that, insofar as practicable, CCC will suffer no net losses from the loans including
mterest and amounts advanced to cover the overhead costs of the Corporation. To ensure that
CCC will suffer no net losses, each tobacco producer was required to deposit a specified
amount per pound (determined prior to the start of each season) as a grower assessment.
Beginning with the 1986 crop, purchasers pay a matching assessment.

The assessments are held by CCC, accordingly, they are not shown as an asset of the
Corporation. At April 30, 1993, $100,626,428, including interest credited by CCC, was on
deposit with CCC for the 1986 through 1992 crop pool inventory.

At April 30, 1993, there were 132,648,875 pounds of dry tobacco in the 1986 through 1992

crop pool inventory and the amount due CCC by the Corporation, including interest, was
$322,977,704.

The Corporation has signed purchase agreements for the remaining tobacco in the 1982
through 1984 crop pools at the base prices plus carrying charges (reduced by 10%) from April
20, 1986 and increased by applicable carrying charges until such tobacco is removed from

inventory. The purchase agreement permits the purchasers to acquire the tobacco over a
buyout period that could extend to 1996.

The loan agreement for the 1982 and subsequent year crops with CCC provides that any gain
realized upon final sale of a crop pool may be held in order to offset possible future losses. If
funds are considered more than sufficient to ensure payment to CCC, a distribution to the
grower on a patronage basis may be made provided such payment is approved by CCC. If
funds including amounts held by CCC are insufficient for payment to CCC upon final sale of
the tobacco, the Corporation will not be liable and the loss will be absorbed by CCC unless it
can be proven that the Corporation has not complied with all the terms of its agreement.

In the opinion of management of the Corporation, the Corporation has complied with all the
terms of its agreements with CCC.

-10-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(4) Tobacco Inventory

In October 1992, the Board of Directors of the Corporation approved a plan whereby
approximately $75,374,000 of the no net cost account held by CCC from producers’ accounts
for the 1984, 1985, and 1986 crop years was to be transferred from the no net cost account to
pay the debt owed by the Corporation to CCC for the 1983 and 1984 crop years. Effective
October 31, 1992, the proposed redemption was approved by CCC making the Corporation
solely resposible for the remaining 1983 and 1984 crop year inventories of approximately
13,860,000 pounds of tobacco. The Corporation has the right to retain the resulting sales
proceeds from the tobacco. The redemption was requested by the Corporation because funds

had built up in excess of needs for the no net cost account due to the accelerated pace of the
buy-out program (note 3).

The inventory of tobacco for the crop years 1982 through 1984 is subject to the terms and
conditions of contracts between the Corporation and purchasers, dated July 2, 1986, whereby
purchasers might not complete purchases of this tobacco until 1996. The Corporation is

continuing to pay the ongoing cxpenscs of storage, insurance, management costs, etc. arising
from the holding of this inventory.

Under these conditions, the Corporation cannot determine when the 1982 through 1984 crop

inventories will be closed out or when all income will be realized by the Corporation from
sales of this tobacco inventory.

Proceeds from sales, net of sales adjustments, for the years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992,
were $65,969.155 (17.595.740 pounds of inventory) and $30,972.032 (7,365,237 pounds of
inventory), respectively. Proceeds from the sales have been invested in short-term and long-
term U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and municipal bonds.

On April 30, 1991, the tobacco inventory received by the Corporation from CCC was reflected
in the financial statements at the estimated net sales value with a comresponding deposit due to
patrons, as management's intentions with respect to the distribution of the sales proceeds had
not been determined. However, during the year ended April 30, 1992, the Board of Directors
of the Corporation authorized the retention of the sales proceeds within the Corporation 10 use
for possible future price support programs. Accordingly, the deposit due to patrons was
reclassified to additional paid-in capital, net of applicable income taxes.

(5) Income Taxes

As discussed in note 1, the Company adopted Statement 109 as of May 1, 1992. The
cumulative effect of this change in accounting for income taxes of $404.497 is determined as
of May 1, 1992 and is reported separately in the consolidated statement of operations for the

year ended April 30, 1993. Prior years' financial statements have not been restated to apply
the provisions of Statement 109.

-11-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBS[DIARY

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(5) Income Taxes. Continued

Income tax expense consists of:

Current Deferred Total

1993:

Federal $ 22,464,000 (21,320,038) 1,143,962

State _3.028.000 3,362,295 _(334.295)

$ 27,492,000 (26,682,333) 809,667

1992: :

Federal $ 11,621,000 (9.488,000) 2,133,000

State

23516000 (24970000 __19.000
$ 14,137,000 (119850000 2,152,000

The actual income tax expense for both 1993 and 1992 differs from the "expected” tax
expense (computed by applying the U. S. Federal corporate income tax rate of 34% to
eamnings before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle) as follows:

1993 1992
Computed "expected” tax cxpense $ 1,352,957 2,144,273
Increase (reduction) in income taxes
resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal
income tax benefit (220,635) 12,540
Interest of state and local govemnment
agency obligations (372,106) (94,503)
Other, net 49451 §9.690

$ _809.667 2,152,000

Deferred income taxes result from timing diffcrences in the recognition of revenue and

expenses for tax and financial statement purposes. The sources of these differences and the tax
eftect of each are as follows:

1993 1992
Difference in recognition of certain
retirement costs $ (60,000) 130,000
Difference in depreciation for financial
statement and tax purposes 17,000 15,000

Difference in recognition of tobacco sales

proceeds for financial statement and tax

purposes (26,633,333) (12,124,000)
Amortization of the tax effect of the

difference between financial statement

and tax depreciation on the involuntary

conversion of an office building

-12-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Corisolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(5) Income Taxes, Continued

The tax cffects of temporary diffcrences that give risc to significant portions of the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at April 30, 1993 are presented below:

Dcferred tax asset:
Assessments paid on behaif of members $ 672,000
Less valuation allowance (672.000)
Net deferred tax assct $ -
Deferred tax liabilities:
Recogaition of certain retirement costs - $  (540,000)
Property, plant and equipment, due to
differences in depreciation (251,000)
Recognition of tobacco inventary valuation (17,785,000
Total gross deferred liabilities (18.576.000)
Net deferred tax liability $ (18,576,000)

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of May 1, 1992 was $672,000. There was
no change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended April 30, 1993.

{6) Retirement Plan

The Corporation sponsors a defined benefit pension plan. Under the terms of the plan,
employees of the Corporation are cligible to participate after one year of service if thcy arc
less than 60 years of age when employed. During the years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992,
the Corporation made no contribution to the plan and recorded pension expense of $152,500
in 1993 and prepaid retirement cost of $332,000 in 1992. The componenis of nct retirement
cost are shown below:

1993 1992
Service cost $ 216,000 224,500
Interest cost 771,500 740,000
Return on plan assets (770,500) (1,232,000)
Net amortization 64500 _ (64.500)
Net periodic pension cost $ 152,500 (332,000)

A summary of the actuarially determined obligation for benefits under the Plan are as follows:

1993 1992
Actuarial present value of accumulated ‘
plan benefits:
Vested - retirees $ 5,886,000 5,243,000
Vested - other participants 3,196,000 3,516,000
Nonvested 15.000 10.000
Total : $ 9,097,000 8,769,000

13-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notes to Consolidzicu Financial Statements, Continued

(6) Retirement Plan, Continued

The following table sets forth the plan's funded status at April 30, 1993 and 1992,

R

respectively:
1993 1992

Pension plan assets at fair value $ 12,900,000 12,778,000
Projected benefit obligation (11,000,000) (10.650.000)
Pension plan assets in excess of

projected benefit obligation 1,900,000 2,128,000
Unrecognized transition asset (1,152,000) (1,281,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost 801,000 864,000
Unrecognized (gains)/losses _(139500) _(169.000)
Prepaid retirerment cost $ 1,389,500 1,542.000

The projected benefit obligation at April 30, 1993 and 1992 was determined using a weighted
average discount rate of 7-1/2%, an expected long-term rcturn on plan assets of 6% in 1993
and 10% in 1992 and an expected increase in salary levels of 6%.

During the year ended April 30, 1991, an insurance company holding approximately 65% of
the plan's assets was placed into rehabilitation. The insurance company filed a rehabilitation
plan on August 3, 1992 and remains under the supervision of a rehabilitator. Until the plan is
approved by the appropriate authorities, the insurance company has frozen all withdrawals
from deposit contracts. However, the insurance company is continuing to make all death,
disability, and monthly retirement payments under the provisions of the contract. Also,
withdrawals qualifying under established hardship guidelines are being permitted. Because
the outcome of the events surrounding the rehabilitation are uncertain at this time, no accrual
for any additional pension plan contributions that may be required in future years has been
reflected in the financial statements. However, the net periodic pension cost for 1993 is higher
due to a significant reduction in the expected long-term return on assets which is prompted by
the rchabilitation circumstances.

-14-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Notcs to Consolidated Financial Statements, Continued

(7) Investment in Interest-Bearing Obligations

The Corporation invests in various government-guarantced, interest-bearing obligations
during the year. The Corporation carries these investments at amortized cost. These
investments are scheduled to mature at various times ranging from one week to five years
from the balance sheet date. The policy of the management of the Corporation is to hold the
investments until maturity, at which time the proceeds will be reinvested in similar securities.
The following classifies the investments by maturity, with short-term investments being those

scheduled to mature within the next fiscal year and long-term investments being those with a
scheduled maturity greater than one year.

1 _ Apnl30,1992

Cost Market Cost Market
Short-term $ 70,744,452 71,302,884 15,823,803 16,229,293
Long-term -80.639.637 _83.950.841 923598432 _95.164,742
$ 151,384,089 155.253,725 108.422,235 111.394,035

(8) Commitments and Contingencies

The Corporation is contingently liable for $200,000 of a $1,000,000 loan to an entity in which

the Corporation is a minority shareholder. The Corporation is the guarantor on the portion of
the loan until December 31, 1993,

The Company is currently undergoing an audit by the Internal Revenue Service for tax retumns
filed in prior years. At this time, any potential liability of the Company for additional income

taxes and interest is unknown, and accordingly. no accrual has been made in the financial

statements. Management believes that any potential liability arising from the audit will be
immaterial.

-15-
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’ Peét Marwick

Certitied Public Accountants

150 Fayetteville Street Mat!
Suite 1200

Post Office Baox 29543
Raleigh, NC 27626-0543

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

The Board of Directors
Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corporation:

We have audited and reported separately herein on the consolidated financial statements of Flue-

Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corporation and subsidiary as of and for the years
ended April 30, 1993 and 1992,

Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corporation and subsidiary taken as
a whole. The consolidating and individual company supplementary information included in
Schedules 1 through 6 is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements rather than to present the financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows of the individual companies. The supplementary information included in Schedules 7 and 8
is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated
financial statements. Such consolidating and supplementary information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, in our
opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements

May 13, 1993

~-16-
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidating Schedule - Balance Sheet Information

Assets

Cash

Investment in interest-bearing
obligations at amortized cost

Accrued interest receivable

Accounts receivable

Unreimbursed costs due from Tobacco
Loan Funds

Prepaid expenses

Tobacco inventory

Investment in Tobacco Growers Services,

Inc., at equity
Prepaid retirement cost
Cash surrender value of life insurance
Property, plant and equipment:
Land
Buildings
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Automobiles and trucks
Total
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property, plant and
equipment

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Deterred income taxes
Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Capital equity credits
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity

Commitments and contingencies

Apnl 30, 1993
Flue-Curcd
Tobacco Tabacco
Cooperative Growers
Stabiliation Services,
Consolidated  Eliminations  Corporation Ing,
152,984 - 118,258 34,726
151,384,089 - 148,776,825 2,607,264
2,160,063 - 2,121,793 38,270
48,494 - 17,535 30,959
39,039 - 39,039 -
89,880 - 86,377 3,503
45.659,459 - 45,659,459 -
- (3,752,195) 3,752,195 -
1,389,500 - 1,389,500 -
48,591 - 48,591 -
307,589 - 192,348 115,241
3,643,077 - 1,208,135 2,434,942
1,313,434 - 942,412 371,022
348.986 - 2 11416
5,613,086 - 2,620,465 2,992,621
3,481.582 - 1793.344
—2.131.5(04 - 932727 L198.777
$ 203,103,603 (3,752,195) 202,942,299 3,913,499
4282 - - 4,282
0,526 - 1,204 5,322
315910 - 340,210 (24,300)
18.576,000 - 18,400,000 176,000
18902718 - 18,741.414 161,304
3,976,650 (250,000) 3,976,650 250,000
110,753,161 - 110,753,161 -
26,802,854 - 26,802,854 -
42,668,220 3,502,195 42.668.220 3,502,195
184,200,885 3,752,195 184.200.885 3,752,195
$ 203,103,603 (3,752,195 202,942,299 3,913,499

See accompanying auditors' report on supplementary information.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORA ION AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidating Schedule - Eamings Information

Revenues:
Sale of tobacco, net of sales
adjustments
Cost of tobacco sold
Gross loss on tobacco sales

Storage income
Total net revenues

Expenses:
Qperating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Price support and other reimbursements
Total expenses

Operating income (loss)

Other income:
Interest income
Other revenue and (deductions) - net
Total other income

Earnings before provision for
income taxes and cumulative
effect of change in accounting
principle

Provision for income taxes

Eamings before cumulative
effect of change in accounting

principle

Cumulative effect at May 1, 1992 of
change in accounting for income taxes

Net eaming*

Consolidated

$ 65,969,155

£2.623.559)
_1.019.870
£1,603.689)

589,630
3,600,866
(1,140,322)
-3.050.174
(4,653.863)
8,391,569

— 241,578
8.633,147

3.979.284
—809.667

3,169,617

(404.497)

§ 2765120

Year ended April 30, 1993

Eliminations

See accompanying auditors' report on supplementary information.
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Flue-Cured
Tobacco
Cooperative
Stabiliation

Corporation

65,969,155
68.592.714
(2,623.559)

C685)

8.234,259
—276.538
8510797

3416,694
295,667
2,831,027

(422.806)
2,408,221

Tobacco

Growers

Services,
Inc.

1.019.870
1.019.870

589,630
—589.630
—430.240

157,310
—(34.960)
—122.350

552,590
214.000
338,590

—18.309

356,899
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| ‘Schedule 3
FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Balance Sheet Information - Parent Company

April 30, 1993 and 1992

Assets 1993 1992
Cash $ 118,258 112,922
Investment in interest-bearing obligations,
at amortized cost 148,776,825 106,151,430
Accrued interest receivable 2,121,793 1,938,835
Accounts receivable 17.535 221,182
Unreimbursed costs due from Tobacco Loan Funds 39,039 10,247
Prepaid expenses 86,377 72,220
Tobacco inventory 45,659,459 56,347,567
Investment in Tobacco Growers Services, Inc., at equity _ 3,752,195 3,395,296
Cash surrender value of life insurance 48,591 46,374
Prepaid retirement cost 1,389,500 1,542,000
Property, plant and equipment:
Land 192,348 192,348
Buildings 1,208,135 1,203,310
Fumiture, fixtures, and equipment 942,412 920,025
Automobiles and trucks __ 2771570 ___ 271570
Total 2,620,465 2,593,253
Less accumulated depreciation _ 1687738  _ 1.524382

Net property, plant and equipment 932,127 1.068.871
$ 202,942,299 170,906,944

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Accounts payable - 12,707
Accrued expenscs 1,204 1,270
Income taxes payable 340,210 2,191,000
Deferred income taxes _18400000 _22227.194
Total habilitics 18,741,414 24432.171

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock 3,976,650 3968,175
Additional paid-in capital 110,753,161 75,800,535
Capital equity credits 26,802,854 26,802,963
Retained earnings 42,668,220  _39903.100
Total stockholders’ equity 184 200.885  146.474.773

$ 202,942,299 170,906,944

See accompanying auditors' report on supplementary information.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Eamings Information - Parent Company

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993 1992
Sale of tobacco, net of sales adjustments $ 65.969,155 30,972,032
Cost of tobacco sold 68592714  30.972.032
Gross loss on tobacco sales (2,623,559 -
Other income:
Interest 8,234,259 7,844,248
Rent 127,423 125,405
Overhead and salary reimbursements 30,000 30,000
Other 119,115 54,134
Total other income 8.510.797 _8.053.787
General and administrative expenses:
Salanes and wages 1,749,234 1,661,332
Employee group insurance and retirement 532,086 (22,170)
Repairs and maintenance 41,637 35,775
Directors fees and expense 111,676 92,830
Heat, light, and water 59,144 58,655
Depreciation 184,274 195,429
Professional fees 72,639 91,681
Travel expense 107,862 91,884
Mcmber rclations 5,406 7.578
Promotional and public relations - 137,784 136,830
Taxes and licenses 41,486 37.459
Office supplies and cxpense 71,370 49,129
Payroll taxes 131,056 126,659
Insurance 100,141 82,702
Automobile and truck expense 12,591 7.866
Postage and tclephone expense 123,500 147,402
Fumigation 57,388 66,181
Pesticide testing 76,349 77,169
Other —(14757) 2
Total general and administrative expenses 3,600,866 2,903,659
Less price support and other reimbursements _1,140,322 __7457144
Net general and administrative expenses _2.460.544 2,157,915
Eamings before provision for income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 3,426,694 5,895.872
Provision for income taxes _ 595,667 2,000,000
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in :
accounting principle 2,831,027 3,895,872
Cumulatve effect at May 1, 1992 of change in accounting
for income taxes 422,806 -
Net camnings - parent company 2,408,221 3,895,872
Net earnings - subsidiary __356.899 _ 258812
Net eamnings $ 2.765,120 4,154,684

. See accompanying auditors' report on supplementary information.
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‘Schedule
FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Balance Sheet Information - Tobacco Growers Services, Inc.

April 30, 1993 and 1992

Assets 1993 1992
Cash . $ 34726 12,285
Investment in interest-bearing obligations,
at amortized cost 2,607,264 2,270,805
Accrued interest receivable 38,270 45,500
Accounts receivable 30,959 11,681
Prepaid expense 3,503 3,288
Property, plant and equipment:
Land 115,241 115,241
Buildings 2434942 2.405,650
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 371,022 361.867
Automobiles and trucks 71416 _ 95806
Total 2,992,621 2,978,654
Less accumulated depreciation 1.793.844 1.738.794
Net property, plant and equipment L198.777 1239860

$ 3913499 3,583,419

Liabilities and Stockholder's Equity

Accounts payable - trade 4,282 3.395
Accrued expenses 5,322 4,719
Income taxes payable (24,300) 7.700
Deferred income taxes 176,000 172,309
Total liabilities 161,304 188.123

Stockholder's equity:
Common stock 250,000 250,000
Retained earnings 3,502,195 3,145,296
Total stockholder's equity 3.752.195 3,395,296

$ 3.913.499 3.583.419

See accompanying auditors’ report on supplementary information.
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‘Schedulc 6

FLUE-CURED TOBACCO CCOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Eamings Information - Tobacco Growers Services, Inc.

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

Storage Income;
Parent company

Others
Total storage income
Operating expense
Operating income

Other income - net

Eamings before provision for income taxes
and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle

Provision for income taxes

Earnings before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle

Cumulative effect at May 1, 1992 of change in
accounting for incom-, taxcs

Net earnings

See accompanying auditors' report on supplementary information.
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1993 1992
$ 882973 836,381
136897 64,685
1,019,870 901,066
589.630 601.950
430,240 299,116

122350 111,696
552,590 410,812
—214000 152.000

338,590 -

18309  152.000
$ 356899 258812
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‘ Schedule 7
FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

Operating Expense Information - Tobacco Growers Services, Inc.

Yecars Ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993 1992
Labor:
Salaries and wages - full time $ 129,868 123.574

Seasonal labor

' 125,161 121,101
Payrotl taxes and insurance

20,372 19,794

Employee group insurance and retirement expense 38,142 30917
Total labor 333543 315386
Other expenses:

Depreciation 82,517 87,663
Heat, lights, and water 9,602 11415
Repairs and maintenance - equipment 3,396 4,980
Building rent - 14,253
rating supplies 15,922 14,361
gg;airs and maintenance - building 5435 10,002
Taxes and licenses 46,758 46,351

Insurance

36,215 39,645

Gasoline and oil 11,301 12,725

Tow motor expense 26,573 31.583
Automobile and truck expense - net 2,271 4,061
Telephone 4,664 5453
Office supplies and expense 11,085 1,637
Travel expense 348 1,550
Claims paid - 885

Total other expense 256.087 286.564

Total $ 589,630 601,950

See accompanying auditors’ report on supplementary information.
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FLUE-CURED TOBACCO COOPERATIVE STABILIZATION CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY

E

Other Income - Net - Tobacco Growers Services, Inc.

Years ended April 30, 1993 and 1992

1993 1992
Other income:
Interest income $ 157,310 151,256
Rental income 1,440 1,440
Miscellaneous 4500 _ 2300
Total other revenue 163250 154,996
Other deductions:
Management fees and expense : 30,000 30,000
Directors fee and expense 6,900 9,300
Legal and accounting expense _4000 _ 4000
Total other deductions 40900 43300
Other income - net ] $ 122350 111,696

See accompanying auditors’ report on supplementary information.
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7 U.5. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC.
o ~ AND SUBSIDIARIES
~ - Raleigh, North Carolina
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

CliftonLarsonAllen

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors

U.S. Tobacco Cooperative Inc.
and Subsidiaries

Raleigh, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of U.S. Tobacco
Cooperative Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of
April 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

A member of

Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228-7 Filed 01/11/18 Page 4 of 36
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Board of Directors
LS. Tobaceo Cooperative Inc,
and Subsidiaries

- Opinion - : _ _ |
In our opinion, the consolidated - financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
-~ material respects, the financial position of U.S. Tobacco Cooperative Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
- April 30, 2017 and 2016, and the resuits of their operations and their cash flows for the years

"~ then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America.
Hf bl ansen fllom L
 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

- Stevens Point, Wisconsin SRR
duly 11,2017 R
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

2017 S 2018
L (ASSETS
Current assets I o
Cash and cash equml@nt% e e $ 11,473,765 § 12,710,115
Investment in interest-bearing mbhgatmn% 25,152,224 21,085,615
Accounts receivabla, nel ‘ - 51,974,423 60,333,034
“Inventories, net SRR S 129,577,773 149,192,091
Prepaid expenses and other assets o . o 1,826,422 1,414,833
Income taxaes receivable T c 289.008 363,772
Total current assets -~ .. . . I 220,293,615 245,100,460
investment in interest-bearing obligations ‘ ‘ . 104,346,849 106,633,025
Property, plant, and equiprent, net o ‘ ‘ 40,636,138 . 28,364,765
intangible assets, net L ‘ 156,464,020 132,860,749
Other assels T o o . 689.846 621,344
. TOTAL A$SET$ ‘ o . . 3 522430460 $ 514,550,243
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLUERS‘ EQUITY
Current liabilities . i
Accounts payable . L N : $ 3277443 % 1,942 476
Accrued expenses .. R . 18,374,143 10,534,908
Current portion of long-<term d@bl T c - 8,080,688 8,008,524
Revolving tine of credit . K ‘ : . ' 2,500,000
Patrongge dividends payable in cae’n o - . 4,486,543
- Stock redemption payable - j L 4,024,075 4,062,668
Custorner deposits y R o o 744 168 1,948 701
Total current liabilities - ..~ .. - 35,400,515 33,483,910
Deferred income taxes .. . o : 1,820,458 3,732,727
Pension benefits B A ‘ : ‘ 5841759 7,577,240
Other T T e : . L 54,225 ‘ 59,734
Revolving line ofcradit | o : ‘ : ‘ 89,888 024 95,000,000
lLong-term debt, less crrant portrch R ) ' 40,489,531 11,146,116
Total liabilities - o 173,494,511 150,909,727
Stockholders' equity : .
Common stock ) 3,640 3,695
Additional paid-in capital : ‘ R ) ‘ : 110,753,161 110,753,161
Accumulated gther comprehengive logs . (4,951,274) (5,396,558)
Contributed capital ] 81,520,000 81,520,000
Capital equity credits: ) . :
Quaiified o o : 32,199,308 34,885,751
Nongualified ‘ C 3,813 662 8,852,086
Retained earnings o . ] 125,597 558 ] 132,981,681
Total stockholders' equity o ‘ . 348,938 055 363,500,516
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY C 8 522430 466 $ 514,580,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statemants.
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U.8. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended April 30, 2017 and 2016

REVENUE -
COST OF SALES

- Gross margin - ¢

" SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

. Operating margin (ioss) —

o OTHER ENCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest income
Interest expense
. Other revenue, net . :
- Gain (loss) on dlsposal of a%em
Total other income (expense) ‘

Margm (loss) before incorme taxes
- PROVISEON {CREDIT) FOR INCOME TAXE$

- NET MARGIN (LOSS) -~

Distribution of net margin (loss):
Patronage dividends payable in cash
[ssuance of nonqualified equity credits
Total atlocated net margin for members

Unallocated margin (loss) and income taxes refained

2017

2016

$ 266,955,457

$ 247,363,257

245,900,735 212,232,898
21,054,722 35,130,359
35,819,593 28,913,399
(14,764,871) 6,216,960

2,017,022 1,840,176
(2,506,630) (2,197,331)
473,981 1,652,368
77,341 (80,020)
681,714 1,215,193
(14,703,167) 7,432,153
(2,299,810) (2,089,006) -
$ (12,403347)  $ 9,521,159
$ - $ 4,486,543
- 3,813,562
8,300,105
(12,403,347) 1,221,054
$ (12.403,347) $ 9,521,159

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial staterments.
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U.8. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Years Ended April 30, 2017 and 2016

NET MARGIN (LOSS) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME(LO&:% NET OF TAXES
Available-for-sale investments

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the year
Add reclassification adjustment for losses included in net margin

Defined benefit pension plan = ..
Net gain (loss) arising during the year
Add reclassification adjustment for amortization of net gain
- on pension included in net margin

!  Gther t:bh’tpréheﬁsiV‘e gain (loss), net of taxes

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)"

2017 2016
$(12,403,347) $ 9,521,159
(504,701) 143,474
78,952 4,440
(425,749) 47,911
559,638 (1,652,766)
311,395 226,939
871,033 (1,425 827)
445,284 (1,277 ,916)
$(11,958,063) $ 8,243,243

The accc:mpanyi‘ng notes are an iritagral part of the consolidétad financial staternents.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended April 30, 2017 and 2016

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-tn Comprehensive Contributed Capital Equity Credits Retained
Shares Amotnt Capital Loss Capital Qualified Nonqualified Earnings Total
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2015 849 $ 4,245 $ 110763161 $ (4,118642) $§ 81,520,000 $ 35508215 $ 5865085 $ 131,740,627 § 361,272,591
Net margin - - - - - - - 9,521,159 9,521,169
Net (0ss on pension plan - - - (1,425,827) - - - - (1,425,827)
Unrrealized gain on investments - - - 147,911 - - - - 147,911
Patronage declared on 2016 net margin:
lssuance of capital equity credits - - - - - - 3,813,562 (3,813,562) -
Payable in cash - - - - - - - (4.488,543) (4,486,543)
Capital equity credits called for redemption (1,438,225) (1,438,225)
Transfers - - - - - 825,761 (825,761) - -
Membership stock issued and cancelled, net (110) (550) - ~ - - - ~ (550)
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2016 739 3,695 110,753,161 (6,396,558) 81,520,000 34,895,751 8,852,886 132,961,581 363,590,516
Net loss - - - - - - - (12,403,347) (12,403,347)
Net gain on pension plan - - - 871,033 - - - - 871,033
Unrealized loss on Investments - - - (425,749) - - - - (425,749)
Capital equity credits called for redemption:
19687 - 1973 qualified equity credits paid - - - - - (549,871) - - (549,871)
2010 qualified equity credits paid - - - - - (2,146,572) - - (2,146,572)
2014 nonqualified equity credits cancelled - - - - - - (5,039,324) 5,039,324 -
Membership stock issued and cancelled, net (11) (55) - ~ - - - - (55)
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2017 728 $ 3640 _$ 110763161 _§ (4951274) § 81520000 _$§ 32199308 _$ 3813662 _§ 125597558 _§ 348935955

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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U.8. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended April 30, 2017 and 2016

» h B 2017 20186
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net margin (loss) $ (12,403,347) - 8 9,521,159
Adjustments o reconcile net margin {{oss) to net cash provided
by operating activities:
- Depreciation and amortization 4512779 4,231,345
L Amortization of premiums on investments 208,430 1,385,239
- Provision for obsolete inventory 273,324 3,515,760
. Inventory valuation adjustment 11,235,823 -
. Provision (credit) for doubtful accotunts (19.4565) 699,165
. Realized (gain) loss on sale of investments (16,087} 89,690
Gain on disposal of assets (61,274) {9,670)
.- Net pericdic benefit costs (benafit) . 343,819 (52,455)
- Employer contribution to the pension plan (384,255) (832,719) -
.. Deferred income taxes N (2,464,081 (2,174,480)
" Cash provided by (used in} changes in:
- . Recelvables o ' . 9665174 5,768,247
- Income taxes receivabla 74,764 (167,813)
S nventories - CT 10,094,747 - - (11,883,649)
- Prepaid expenses and other agsets (318,172) . (1,062,568)
" Accounts payable o 483,258 (77,900)
. Accrued expenses and other liabilities ‘ 4,801,201 2,489,290
. Gustomer deposits C - (1,204,635) (473,076)
iy Net cash provided by operating activities 25623113 11,145,565
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (13,646,737} (6,994,672)
Proceeds on disposal of assels 75,723 18,069
- Cash from business acquisition. . - 1,320,870 -
- Purchase of interest-bearing obligations (55,776,521} (51,999,686)
" Maturities and calls of intsrest-bearing obligations | 52,421,035 48,793,114
Net cash used in investing activities (15,596,630} (10,183,175)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings on revolving line of credit (7,611,977} 18,500,000
Payments on note payable (8,573,345) (8,016,686)
Payment of loan crigination cosis (171.,568) (778,265)
Proceeds from long term debt 12,415,691 -
Net payments on commaon stock (55} (650)
Redemption of stockholders’ equity credits (2,735,036} (2,513,518)
Patronage distribution ‘ (4,486 543) - (5,669,240)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (11,162,833} 1,521,741
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUNVALENTS (1,236,350} 2,484,131
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,710,115 10,225,984
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 11473765 $ 12710118

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 ~ ORGANIZATION DATA AND SIGNIFICANT POLICIES

. Qrganization Data

- U.8. Tobacco Cooperative Inc. (USTC) was incorporated on June 1, 1948, under the provisions
- of the Cooperative Marketing Act of the State of North Carolina as a cooperative operating on a

. have four primary business activities; 1) as a global leaf supplier, 2) as a manufacturer anc
-~ distributor of 10 brands of tobacco consumer products within the United $tates of America, 3) as
- a confract manufacturer of consumer products, principally internationally, and 4) as a producer
- of cut rag and pipe tobacco. The Cooperative purchases the majority of its leaf tobacco from
“member growers. The leaf tobacco is processed, stored, and shipped internationally,
domestically, and for use in the Cooperative's own brands of consumer products.

. " The authorized capital stock of USTC consists of 1,000,000 shares of common stock having a

N cooperative basis, with capital stock. USTC and its subsidiaries (collectively the Cooperative)

“par value of $5 per share and may be issued and sold only to and thereafter held only by -

producers of flue-cured tobacco who patronize USTC. At all meetings of the members, each

- member is entitled to only one vote. No dividends are payable on the common stock. USTC has

. adopted a bylaw consent form in which each member agrees to take into taxable gross income . -

| - - pajronage refunds allocated to them.,

- USTC is authorized 1o issue capital equity credits evidencing per-unit retains or patronage |

refunds due its members. The capital equity credits are used tfc accumulate capital as
. considered necessary by the board of directors. Capital equity credits bear no interest, have no
. due date, and may anly be redeemed or retired at the discretion of the board of directors in order
- of issuance by years.

A summary of the Cﬁopemti\?é’é significant accounting policies follows:

- Consolidation Policy ...~

~The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of USTC and its -

wholly-owned subsidiaries, U.S. Flue-Cured Tobacco Growers, Inc. (USFC), Premier
" Manufacturing, Inc. (Premier), Franchise Wholesale Co., LL.C. (Franchise), Big South

Distribution, LLC (Big South), and King Maker Marketing, Inc. (KMM). KMM was acquired .

effective November 15, 2016. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are generated primarily from sales of leaf tobacco and fobacco consumer products.
Sales are recognized upon shipment of goods to the customer at which time there is transfer of
the title and risk of loss to the customer.

The Cooperative's accounting policy is to include federal and state excise taxes in revenues and
cost of sales. 3uch revenues and cost of sales totaled $69,542,106 and $54,149,701 for the
years ended April 30, 2017 and 20186, respectively.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 ~ ORGANIZATION DATA AND SIGNIFICANT POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

. Bhipping and Handiing Costs
. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

- Cash and Cash Equivalents -

" For purposes of the statements: of cash flows, the Cooperative considers money market funds a

and all ather short-term investments with a maturity, at date of purchase, of three months or less
-~ to be cash equivalents. The Cooperative places its cash and cash equivalents with high credit-
~ quality institutions. ,

| The . Cooperative taintaing cash balances that from time to time may exceed the federally
~insured limits. The Cooperative has not experienced any losses on such accounts and
“management helieves the Camparatwa s not exposed to any significant credit risk on these

. ACCOUMs.

Interest»«Beéfihg Obfigaﬁcﬁhs{ 8

. The Cooperative's interest—bearingj obligations consist of debt securities, which are classified as -

~.availabie for sale. Investmenis in debt securities are stated at fair values as adjusted for
- amortization of premium or discount, if applicable, and unrealized holding gains and losses are
- reported as accumulated other comprehensive income. Amortized discounts and premiums are
included in net interest income. Interest on investments in debt securities is credited to income
-~ as it accrues on the principal amount outstanding adjusted for amortization of premiums and

_discounts computed by the effeclive interest method. Realized gains and losses on disposition -

. of investments are included in net interest income in the accompanying consolidated statements

*. of operations. The cost of investments sold is determined on the specific identification method.

Fair Value Measuremerits

" The estimated fair value of the Cooperative’s short-lerm financial instrumentis, including cash

. and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, income taxes receivable, accounts payable, accrued

expenses, stock redemption and patronage payable, and customer deposils approximates their
individual carrying amounts due to the relatively short period of time between their arigination

and expected realization. The fair value of the line of credit is estimated based on current rates

offered to the Cooperative for similar debt of the same remaining maturities. The carrying value
of the fixed rate long-term debt approximates fair value due to its proximity to current market
rates for similar debt issues.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at net realizable value. Management determines the
allowance far doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual custormer receivables and
considering a customer’s financial condition, credit history, and current economic conditions.
The allowance is reviewed periodically and adjusted for accounts deemed uncoliectible by
management. After all attempts to collect have failed, the receivable is written off against the
allowance. The allowance for doublful accounts totaled $843,432 and $868,165 as of Aprit 30,
2017 and 2018, respectively.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 ~ ORGANIZATION DATA AND SIGNIFICANT POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

- Inventories e : o
- Inventories are priced at the lower of average cost (which approximates the first-in, first-out
- method) or market,

" The Cooperative @Vélﬂété‘s‘its ihvantory value at the end of each year to ensure that it is carried

at the lower of cost or market. This evaluation includes a review of potential obsolete and slow-

~maving stock, based on historical product sales and forecasted sales, and an overall

" consolidated analysis of potential excess inventories. Events which could affect the amount of
. reserves for obsolete or siow moving inventories include a decrease in demand for the products
- due to economic conditions, price decreases by competitors on specific products or systems, or
the discontinuance by a vendor. To the extent historical physical inventory results are not

indicative of future results and if future events impact, either favorably or unfavorably, the .

. salabllity of the Cooperative’s products or its relationship with certain key vendors, the

. Cooperative’s inventory reserves could differ significantly, resulting in either higher or lower
future inventory provisions.

Property, Plant, and Equibiﬁeht

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful -

*lives using the straight-line method. Routine maintenance and repairs are charged to expense
. when incurred. When an asset is disposed of, the asset and related accumulated depreciation
are written off and any gain or loss on the disposal is recognized. Major replacements and
- improverents are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives,

. Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

" indicate that an asset may not be recoverable and are grouped with other assets to the lowest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups
- of assets and liabilities, If the sum of the projected undiscounted cash flows is less than the
cartying value of the assets, the assets are written down to the estimated fair value. Assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

No impairment of long-lived assets was recognized during the years ended April 30, 2017 and
2016,

10
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 ~ ORGANIZATION DATA AND SIGNIFICANT POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

- . Business Combinations — Valuation of Acquired Assets and Liabilities Assurmed

. The Cooperative allocates the purchase price for each business combination, or acquired
business, based upon (i) the fair value of the consideration paid and (i) the fair value of net
- assels acquired. The determination of the fair value of net asseis acquired requires estimates
- and judgments of future cash flow expectations for the acquired business and the allocation of

those cash flows to identifiable tangible and intangible assets. Fair values are calculated by

~incorporating expected cash flows into industry standard valuation techniques. For current
-assets and current liabilities, the book value is generally assumed to equal the fair value.
- Goodwill is the amount by which the purchase price consideration exceeds the fair valua of

~ tangible and intangible assets, less assumed liabilities. To the extent possible, the purchase

- price shouid be allocated o separate identifiable intangible assets, such as customer

Crelationships and brands, which are amortized to expense over their estimated useful lives,
Indefinite-lived intangible asseis are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, and if
- impaired, their value is reduced to fair value. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

. Due to the time requited to gather and analyze the necessary data for each acquisition, U.S.

GAAP provides a “‘measurament petiod” of up to one year in which to finalize such calculations.
- Most calculations are considersd preliminary untii the end of the measurement period. All

- subsequent adjustments to initial valuations and estimates during the measurement period that

_ reflect newly discovered information that existed as of the acquisition date are recorded as an
- adjustment to the acquired balance sheet; otherwise, those adjustments are reflected as income

-or expense, as appropriaie. The consolidated balance sheet for the period of acquisition is

- modified for subsequent measurement period adjustments when that period is presented in

- future consolidated financial stataments.

Income Taxes ..

| " Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences allributable to -

. differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabitities

and their respective tax bases and net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are

reduced by a vaiuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not
that some partion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expectad to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.

The Cooperative recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position anly if it is more likely

than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by taxing autherities, based on the
technical merils of the position. The {ax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial
statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Cooperative's policy is to

recognize interest and penalties related to income taxes in its income tax provision, The |

Cooperative has not accrued or paid interest or penalties which were material to its results of
operations for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016. As of April 30, 2017 and 2016, the
Cooperative had no material unrecognized tax benefits, The Cooperative files in the U.8, and
various state jurisdictions.

11
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 1 ~ ORGANIZATION DATA AND SIGNIFICANT POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

- Pension Plan § L . L
The Cooperative has & noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering all employees who
- qualify as to age and length of service, The plan was frozen effective July 31, 2010. The plan

- provides benefits through mutual funds invested in common stocks and bonds. The Cooperative

"~ is required to recognize in its consolidated halance sheet the funded status of a benefit plan
- measured as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and benefit obligations, net of
S

“Selfdnsurance . T
. The Company maintains a self-insured employee benefit plan which covers health care costs.
- Benefit costs are accrued based on the aggregate of the liability for reported claims and an

-~ estimated liabifity for claims incurred but not reported. The accompanying consolidated

statements of operations include expenses relating to self-insured plans.

.”Advertis‘irig Costs

Advertising costs are exbéﬁsed'as incurred, Advertising expenses of $583,316 and $291,138 for |

“the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are included In selling, general, and
- administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

~ Use of Estimates cT e

" The preparation of fihéncia['s’tatements in accordance with LS. GAAP requires management to .

" make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
-disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

~reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could

-differ from these estimates,

" Significant estimates include the- valuation of accounts receivable, inventories, trademarks, .-

- oustomer relationships, and the master setflement agreement grandfather exemption, Estimates
also include the useful lives of property, plant, and equipment and are used in determining the
master settlement agreement obligation, pension benefit obligations, accrued and deferred
income taxes, and litigation contingencies.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in these 2016 financial statements have been reclassified to conform 10 the

2017 presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on praviously reported net margin,

12 .
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 2 - BUSINESS COMBINATION

- .0n October 8, 2016, Premier entered into a stock purchase agreement to acquire 100% of the
~outstanding securities of KMM for a purchase price of approximately $23,895,000 financed by
- borrowings from a note payable. The acquisition was made to expand the number of consumer

C . product offerings of the Cooperative and is considered a business combination. All activily since

- the effective date of acquisition on November 15, 2016, is included in the consolidated

- statemnent of operations for the year ended April 30, 2017.

~and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

ERNRERTE Amount
CCash $ 1,330,000
Accounts Receivable 598,000
" Inventories 1,990,000
.~ Prepaid Expenszes 162,000
- Intangible Assets : 23,700,000
.. Total Assets Acquired 27,780,000
- Accounts Payable . 862,000
-~ . MSA Settlement Payable 2,667,000
- Accrued Expenses 102,000
o FDA Assessment Payable 264,000
~ Total Liabilities Assumed 3,885,000

- Net Assets Acquired $ 23,895,000

" The following table summarizes the approximate estimated fair values of the assets acquired '

" Costs related to the acquisition, which included legal, accounting, and transaction fees in the

- amount of approximately $1,290,000 were charged directly to operations and are included in
" other expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended April 30, 2017.

NOTE 3 ~ FAIR VAL.UE MEASUREMENTS

WUnder the accounting standards authoritative guidance on fair valua measurements, fair value is

the price that would be received io sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly -

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the
Cooperative uses various methods including market, income, and cost approaches. Based on
these approaches, the Cooperative often uses certain assumptions that market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and/or the risks
inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs ¢an be readily observable, market
corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Cooperative uses valuation techniques that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

13
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 3 -~ FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

.Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques the C{mpér‘ative i5
~ required to provide the following information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value
- -hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values.

o Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the

- following three categories:

o

“Level 1. - Quoted hfices"fOr identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange
. markets, such as the New York Stock Exchange.

corroborated by observable market data, Level 2 also includes derivative contracts

Level 3 ~ Uncbservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial

‘Level 2 - Obseérvable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets
. or liabilities, guoted prices in less active markets, or cther observable inputs that can be

. whose value is determined using a pricing model with observable market inputs or can
be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

- instruments whose value is determined using pricing madels, discounted cash flow

methodolagies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination

" of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation, also includes

" observable inputs for nonbinding single dealer quotes not corroborated by observable -
‘market data.

The foifowing tables summarize fair value measurements by level as of April 3¢, 2017 and 2016, .
- for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Case 5:12-cv-00729-D Document 228-7 Filed 01/11/18 Page 17 of 36

April 30, 2017
S e e Total Level 1 Lovel 2 Leawal 3
 Avaitable for sale securities = .
 Monsy market funds - ' 5 78207 % 78,207 % - $ -
Mutual funds 485,664 485,664 - -
Debt securities:
Goavernmeant agency (state ’tamblé} 31,363,785 - 31,363,785 -
Agency mortgage-backed securilies 28,521,778 “ 28,521,778 -
Carporate bonds 69,049,638 - 69,048,639 -
Total available for sale securiiies $ 120499073 & 563,871 § 128,935202 % -
April 30, 2016
Totat Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Available for sale securities
Mongy market funds $ 401,569  § 401,563 § . $ -
Deht securities:
Governmant agency (state faxable) 16,974,256 - 16,974,256 -
Agency mortgage-tacked securities 38,829,748 - 38,829,748 -
Corporate honds 71,523,967 - 71,523,967 -
Total availabla for sale securities $127,729540 % 401,569 § 127327971 % -
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 4 ~ INVESTMENT IN INTEREST-BEARING OBLIGATIONS

- Investments in interest-bearing obligations at April 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
S e Cost Gain Loss Market
CShortterm o 8 25120985 $ 35677 & (4,438) § 25152,224
colengeterm . L 104,603,386 137,110 (392,647) 104,346,849

$ 120,724,371 $ 172,787 §  (398,085) % 129,499,073

2016
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
C T e e Cost Gain Loss Market
U Shortterm T T8 20,049,910 § 145,045  § (240) $ 21,005,615
JLongderm L 105,774,274 950,310 (90,659) 106,633,925

Lo 3126724184 § 1095285  § 90,899)  § 127,720 540

 The. unrealized gains (losses) on the Cooperative’s investment in interest-bearing obligations
~were primarily due to changes in interest rates and not credit quality. There were 72 and 39 debt
securities in loss positions as of April 30, 2017 and 2018, respectively. It is unlikely that the
" Cooperative will be required to sell its investments before recovery of the amortized cost basis,

" which may be maturity. Accordingly, the Cooperative's investment in interest-bearing obligations

- are not considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired at April 30, 2017.

" Contractual maturities of interest-bearing obligations as of April 30, 2017, are summarized below.

Amortized Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 25,120,985 $ 25,152,224
Due after one year through five years 99,089,384 99,763,242
Due after five years through ten years 2,504,344 2,471,407
Due after ten years 2,109,654 2,112,200

$ 129,724,371 $ 129,499,073
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 5 ~ INVENTORIES

- Inventories consisted of the followihg at April 30, 2017 and 2016:

LT T e 201¢ 2016
- Procéssed tobacco $ 111,756,534 - § 133,469,619
. Materials and work in process . 5,696,223 5,152,423
" Tobacco products RTINS 13,374,347 11,909,432
T 130,827,104 150,531,474
" Reserve for obsolste and slow moving inventory (1,249,331) (1,339,383)

$ 129,577,773

$ 149,192,091

During the years ended April 30,2017 and 2016, the Cooperative determined that the market -
- value of various tobacco products had permanently declined in value. In response, the
~Cooperative recorded an inventory write-down of $11,509,147 and $4,096,413 for the
- years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, to present the impacted tobacco products

" at their net realizable value.

" NOTE 6 < PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

'li’i’rop@r'ty," plard, and “equipment; their estimated useful lives, and related accumulated

depraciation at April 30, 2017 and 2016, are summarized as follows:

Estimated
Useful Lives
S T In Years 2017 2016
Land - - $ 1748677 § 1,265,977
Buildings =~ | ' 5-20 17,196,370 14,408,143
Machinery and equipment 3-15 50,996,248 48,683,116
Furniture and fixtures 310 2,888,673 2,284 217
Automobiles and trucks 3-8 389,413 643,433
Construction in progress ‘ ' - 11,971,011 2,691,055
‘ 85,190,392 69,975,941
Less accumulated depreciationn {44 ,554,256) (40611.176)
: § 40,636,136 $§ 20,364,765

© For the years ended April 30, 20“i? and 2018, depreciation expense amounted to $4,209,075
and $3,919,780, respectively, of which $2,791,234 and $2,600,083 are included in cost of sales,
and $1,417,841 and $1,319,697 are included in selling, general, and administrative sxpenses,

respectively, in the accompanying consclidated statements of operations.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 6 ~ PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

- The Company entered info various confracts during 2017 and 2016 for the acquisition of
. property, equipment, and facility upgrades. The acquisitions and upgrades are expected 1o he
- completed at various dates through January 2018. Costs totaling $11,971,011 have been
~incurred and are included above as construction in progress at April 30, 2017. No interest has

been capitalized in association with these contracts, and the total additional cost upon

- complstion is estimated to be approximately $3,270,000.

- NOTE 7 ~ INTANGIBLE ASSETS '
" Intangible assets consisted of the fbllowing at April 30, 2017 and 2016:

Estimated ‘
e Lives 2017 .- 2016
. Master Settlement Agreement (MSA) -
- grandfather exemption Indefinite $ 149,930,020 § 127,785,379
" Trademarks Cee e 10 Year - Indefinite 5,864,000 5,064,000
~ ' Customer list and noncompete 5-10 Years 930,000 180,000
o 156,724,020 133,029,379
- Less accumulated amortization - - (260,000) (168,630)

$ 156,464,020 § 132,860,749

UL, GAAP réquif‘é that the unamortized value of indefinite lived intangible assets he svaluated
- annually to determine whether the amount reflecied above has been impairad. During 2017 and

- - 2016, no amounts were determined to be impaired.

CA previously - acquired customer - list and noncompete agreement totaling $180,000 was
amortized over five years on a straighi-ling basis, with final amortization of $11,370 recorded in
2017. As part of the acquisition of KMM, Premier acquired a customer list as well as a
noncompete agreement totaling $750,000. The customer list is being amortized over 10 years
with $35,000 recognized in 2017. The noncompete agreement is being amoriized over five years
with $5,000 recognized in 2017,

Premier carries $5,064,000 related to the Wildhorse, First Class, Ultra Buy, and Shield
trademarks which is considered to be an indefinite lived intangible asset, These frademarks
were available commercially prior fo February 15, 2007, the effective date of the FDA’s
Substantial Equivalence requirements. Premier also owns the 1839 and Traffic brands, which
have no costs associated with them. Premier also acquired the Ace, Gold Crest, Checkers, and
Hi-Val trademarks valued at $800,000 as part of the acquisition of KMM which are being
amortized over 10 years with $40,000 recognized in 2017,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 7 ~ INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

- Future amortization of the infangible assets is as follows:

“Year Ending
Co . April 30 Armount

2018 % 160,000
2019 160,000
2020 160,000
2024 160,000
2022 ‘ 155,000
“lLater years 675,000

o Ih_'IQQB',‘ thé"majdr‘ United ‘States cigarette manufacturers entered into the MSA with attoreys
. general representing 46 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam, the Virgin Islands,

1998, when final approval was achieved in 80% of the settling jurisdictions. The MSA settled all
. health care cost recovery actions brought by settling jurisdictions and contains releases of
- various additional present and future claims. To entice other cigarette manufacturers into joining

Amertican Samoa, and the Northern Marianas. The MSA became effective on November 23, ~

'the MSA, the agreement provided that if a subsequent participating manufacturer (SFPM) joined -

. within 80 days following the MSA’s "Execution Date," that SFM would be exempt from making
~annual payments to the settling states unless their share of the national cigarette market
~exceeded its 1998 market share or 125% of its 1997 market share.

. Premier became a signatory to thé MSA in 1999, and was granted an exemption in perpetuity

- from payment obligations under the MSA except o the extent that its market share exceeds

_appraximately 0.26% of the total cigarettes sold in the United States. KMM bacame a signatory

- to the MSA in 1999, and was granted an exemption in perpetuity from payment obligations under

-the MSA except o the extent that its market share exceads approximately 0.08% of the {otal
- gigarettes sold in the United States,

NOTE 8 —- MASTER SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT OBLIGATION

As a party to the MSA, Premier, USFC, and XMM are required to make certain payments to the
extent cigarettes sold exceed a specified level, The payment amounts are hased generally on
Premier's, USFC's, and KMM's relative market share and are subject to several adjusiments,
including inflation, United States cigarelte volume, and certain other factors. At April 30, 2017
an¢ 2016, the Cooperative's management estimated the liability to be $3,858,240 and
$1,553,150, respectively. The balances accrued at Aprit 30, 2017, are expected to be paid in
April 2018, along with the accumulated abligation from April 30, 2017, through the end of the

2017 calendar year. The balance accrued at Aprit 30, 2016, was paid in April 2017, along with . ..

the accumulated obligation from April 30, 2018, through the end of the 2016 calendar year.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 9 ~ ACCRUED EXPENSES

- The components of accrued expenses at April 30, 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows:

EETTE T 2017 2016
© - Acerued tobaceo product related takes $ 3,563,240 $ 3,291,647
- Other accrued expenses ‘ 8,571,266 4,908,848
" Accrued master settlement agreement obligation 3,652,826 1,343,830
. Accrued insurance 199,607 167,356
- Accrued salaries and related benefits 2,327,204 763,317

. Accrued interest _ ‘ 650,000 60,000
S e $ 18,374,143 § 10,534,998

'NOTE 10 — REVOLVING LINES OF CREDIT

‘_.Z'C)n November 15, 2016, the Cooperative entered into a second amended and restated
syndicated loan (Loan Agreement) with six financial institutions which consists of a term loan

| ~(Term Loan) and a revolving credit facility (Revolving Credit Facility). The Loan Agreement is

- collateralized by all assets of the Cooperative. The Cooperative is required to maintain a
minimum tangible net worth and fixed charge coverage ratio under the conditions of the Loan
Agreement. The Cooperative falled to aftain the required fixed charge coverage ratio for the

o quarter ended April 30, 2017, however the lender has subsequently waived the faillure as of
- April 30, 2017, as well as modified the covenant requirements for the first three quarters of fiscal

_ year ending April 30, 2018,

“The Revolving Credit Facility provides for up to $195,000,000 in funding through the use of two

. separate tranches (Tranche A and Tranche B) and a swing line {8wing Line), all of which mature . .

on March 24, 2021. Tranche A provides up to $95,000,000 in funding, subject to a borrowing
- base limitation as defined in the L.oan Agreement, Interest-only payments are due monthly at the

“one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) rate pius 1.00% (1.9828% at Aprit 30, o

2017). Tranche B provides up fo $100,000,000 in funding, subject to a borrowing base limitation
as defined in the Agreement, and requires a zero balance for 60 consecutive days within each
fiscal year. Interest-only payments are due monthly at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.50%
(2.4828% at April 30, 2017). The Swing Line provides up to $10,000,000 in funding. Interest-only
payments are due monthly at the prime rate plus 1.00% (5.00% at April 30, 2017). At Aprit 30,
2017 and 2016, Tranche A had an outstanding balance of $89,888,023 and $95,000,000,
respectively. Tranche B had an cutstanding balance of $-0- and $2,500,000 as of April 30, 2017
and 2016, respactively, There was no balance outstanding on the Swing Line at April 30, 2017
or 2016,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 11 = LONG-TERM DEBT
- Long-term debt consisted of the following as of April 30, 2017 and 2016, .
2017 2016

. Note payable to financial institutions, payable in monthly
 interest payments and quarterly principal payments of

. §$2,000,000 at a variable interest rate equal to the

" ong-month LIBOR rate plus 1.00%, refinanced '
- on November 15, 2016, $ ~ $ 20,000,000

" Note payable to financial institutions, payable in monthly
interest payments and quarterly principal payments of -
.. $2,208,333 at a variable interest rate equal to the
- ong-month LIBOR rate plus 1.10% (2.0828% at . - '
-~ Aprit 30, 2017}, maturing March 24, 2021, , 48,583,333 -

" Warehouse financing contract payable in monthly
. payments of $13,438, including imputed interest at 2.00% : ,
- through May 24, 2021. - 1,709,017 ‘ =

. Equipment financing contracts payabie in various monthly ‘ o ‘

- payments including interest, through 2021, . 66,388 . 83,925
*Loanh origination fees and costs '_: o (888,519) (920,285)
. o 49,470,219 19,154,640
- Less current portion of long-term debt ‘ (8,980,688) (8,008,524)

" Long-tarm debt, less current portion | . 40489531 § 11146116

Remaining maturities of long-term debt subsequent to April 30, 2017 are as follows:

Year Ending

April 30, Amount
2018 § 80980688
2019 8,983,043
2020 8,981,560
2021 8,991,268
2022 10,014,524

Theraafter 4,407 6585

$ 50,358,738

Loan origination fees and costs were $1,132,897 and $961,329 at April 30, 2017 and 20186,
respectively, and accumulated amortization was $244,378 and $32,044 at April 30, 2017 and
2016, respectively. The cosis and fees are amortized over the lives of the applicable debt
securities. Total amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 20186, was
$412,334 and $293,565, respectively, and is included as part of interest expense.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 11 - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

- The Cooperative entered into an interest rate swap agreement effective November 30, 2018, to
. effectively fix the interest rate on the $48,583,333 term note above from a variable interest rate
~note to a fixed rate of 2.67%. The interest rate swap agreement matures March 24, 2021. The

Cooperative’s purpose in entering info the swap agreement was to hedge against the risk of

“interest rate increases on the related variable rate debt. The derivative financial instrument is

reflected on the consolidated balance sheet at its fair value which was insignificant as of

- April 30, 2017, During 2017, the Cooperative closed out previous interest rate swap agreemenis

. due 1o a refinancing of debt during the year. The Cooperative has not adopled hedge accounting

for any of these financial instruments. The cash flow effects of the swap agreements are
“lincluded in interest expense on the consolidated statement of operations. The effect for the

years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, was to increase interest expense by $140,178 and

- $186,010, respectively.

" NOTE 12 -~ OPERATING LEASES

During the: fiscai years ended April 30, 2017 and 2018, the Cooperalive entered into year-to-year

. operating leases for purposes of operating tobacco marketing centers and office space for the -

2016 and 2015 crop years. Total lease expense for the centers amounted to $915 437 and

- $990,000 for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

.‘Thea"‘Cm)perza‘tive has noncancelable operating leases, primarily for certain equipment and
vehicles, that provide for renewal options for varying periods.

- Total lease and rental expenses for operating leases amounted to $1,118,108 and $1,348,783

~for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, respactively, and are included as a component of . -

-selling, general, and other adminisirative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
-~ statements of operations.

Commitments for m1nimunﬁ future leasa payments, by year and in aggregate, to be paid under
noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess of une year as of
April 30, 2017, are as follows:

Year Ending
April 30, Amount
2018 $ 1,437,201
2019 748,626
2020 406,378
2021 216,911
2022 4,777

§ 2,813,893
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 13 - STOCK REDEMPTION PAYABLE

- Cooperative membership requires participation in the crop year, which runs May 1 through
- April 30. Beginning in May 2004, the hoard of directors approved a plan {o terminate stock
- ownership of members who did not enter into marketing agreements with the Cooperative for the
- subsequent year,

During the year ended April 30, 2017, the Cooperative offered an open call for redemption of the
1967 1o 1973, capital equity credits, from December 1, 2016 through February 28, 2017,

“‘,','The amounts of capital equity credits offered for redemption and called for redemption are as
Cfollows: ‘

L Offered for Called for
. Crop year .- fedemption Redemption
S 1967 $ 4,168,283 $ 85,638
Lo 1868 1,924 076 38,515
L1869 2,645,548 68,430
1870 e 7,744,198 201,880

RO 74 a - 3,063,424 90,529
Coer2 L ‘ ' 1,543,179 41,244
Se73 : - 753,610 23,635

§ 21842318 § 549,871

The balance of stack redemption payable comprises the following at April 30, 2017 and 2016:

L e e e 2017 2016
Terminated stock balances payable $ 4,024,075 $ 4,024,080
Balance due on 1967 to 1973 capital credits
called for redemption - 38,578

$ 4,024,075 4,062,668

NOTE 14 - CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

Cash paid for interest and income taxes for the'years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016 were as
follows:

2017 2016
Interest $ 2,089,735 $ 1,744,450
Income taxes 137,691 421,446

© Noncash investing and financing activities consisted of acquisition of property, plant, and
equipment by notes pavable of $1,848,158 and $100,611 at April 30, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. In addition, the Cooperative acquired KMM using new long-term horrowings of
$24,584,309.
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NOTE 15 -~ INCOME TAXES

U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

April 30, 2017 and 2016

- . The provision (credit) for income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended ‘Aprii 30,

- 2017 and 2016:

 Federal

state -

‘ 'F’édef*%al"j_.‘-“ o

State

2017
Current Deferred Total
$ - 5 (2,051,816) 5 (2,051,918)
164,271 (412,165) (247 ,894)
$ 164,271 3§ (2,464,081) S (2,299810)
2016
Current Deferred Total
$ (19,413) $  (1,805,347) $  (1,824,760)
104,887 (369,133) (264,246)
$ 85,474 $  (2.174,480) $  (2,089,006)

. The ac':tﬁeal brb\i’isioh“ (c?edit)‘fdr‘ income taxes for 2017 and 2016 differs from' the "expected"
taxes (computed by applying the .8, federal corporate income tax rate of 34%) to the margin

- before income taxes as follows:

" “Computed "expected" tax expense

- Change in income tax expense (benefit) resufting from;
C. State income taxes, net of federal income tax benafit

.- Patronage dividends

-Cancellation of 2014 nongualified equity credits

" Nondeductible expenses
Valuation allowance

. Other, net

L 23

2017 2016
§ (5,000,000 §T2536.900
154,400 318,840
) (3,178,100)
1,929,557 -
94,500 103,000
212,183 38,150
309,550 (1,897 805)

§ . (2,299,810) §  (2,089,006)
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 15 - INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

- The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the net deferred tax liabilities at ‘Aprii 30,
- 2017 and 2016 are presented below:

' 2017 20186
D@f@rmd tax dSSSGBtS ‘ o

.- Recognition of certain retlrement coms $ 2977878 $ 2,901,326

- Nef operating losses and credits 10,077,919 3,904,407

o Master settlement agreement 1,477,228 593,495

. Allowances and reserves . ‘ B 322,950 332,421

- Inventories L N : 2,996,899 2,643,040

- Accrued expenses o L ' - 1,826,899 1,411,678

" Capital loss R o 77,288 83,411

- Nonqualified vaaqmty crodits SO o 1,452,089 - 3,705,954
. Less valuation allowance S o . (1,064 986) (852,803) -

. R o 20,144,144 14,722 929

wo Deferred tax liabilities -~ e - ‘

Property, plant, and equlpmént 2,710,056 3,185,980

. Intangibles - 19,254,546 15,269,676

- T . 21964602 18,465,656

$ (1820458 8 (3732727)

s of April 30, 2017 and 2016, the Cooperative has $22,203,.918 and $4,716,746, respectively,

‘ of federal net operating loss carry forwards, which expire in 2035 through 2037.

“As of April 30, 2017 &nd 2016, the Cooperative had state net operating loss carryovers of
. $33,181,927 and $26,501,024, respectively, which expire in 2018 through 2037. A valuation
. allowance is required 1o reduce the deferred tax assets reported if, based on the weight of the
- evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. After consideration of all the evidence, both positive and negative, management has
determined that $1,064,986 and $852,803 valuation allowance at April 30, 2017 and 20186,
respectively, is necaessary to reduce the deferred tax asset related to the state net operating
losses that will not be realized. The change in the valuation allowance for 2017 and 2016 was
$212,183 and $38,159, respectively. After taking intc account the valuation allowance, the
Cooperative has a net deferred tax asset relating to state net gperaling losses for the years
ending April 30, 2017 and 2016 of $358,518 and $284,091, respectively.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 16 - RETIREMENT PLANS

" Defined Benefit Pension Plan: The Cooperative sponsors a defined benefit pensib‘n plan.
-~ Under the terms of the plan, employees of the Cooperative were eligible to participate after one
" year of service, which is the completion of 1,000 or more hours of service within a period in

. which the employee is employed for 12 consecutive months. Pension benefits are based on the

employee’s compensation during the highest three consecutive years of employment and the -

 number of yeats of service. On May 31, 2010, the Cooperative’s board of directors approved a
. Certificate of Resolution 1o freeze benelits after July 31, 2010,

- The Coapérative’s funding policy requires a contribution in the amount necessary to satisfy the
S minimum required contributions under the Employse Retirement income Security Act of 1974

(ERISA) and the Internat Revenue Code (IRC), subject to the Cooperative’s long-term funding
" strategy. The Cooperative's funding policy is 1o contribute funds to the trust for the plan as
- necessary to provide for current service and for any unfunded projected benefit obligation over a
- reasonable period. To the extent that these requirements are fuily covered by assets in the frust,
- the Cooperative may elect not to make a contribution in a particular year. The Cooperative made
- contributions of $384,255 and $632,719 to the plan for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2018,
" rgspectively. The Cooperative anticipates making contributions of $381,000 to the plan for the
year ending April 30, 2018,

. The - following table sets forth .the plan's funded status and amounts recognized in the

. Cooperative’s consolidated halance sheets at April 30, 2017 and 2018, as follows:

Pension Benefits

T e e e 2017 2016
- Change in projected benedit obligation:
" Projected benefit obligation » beginning of year $ 24,195,266 $ 23,251,553
- Interest cost 942,983 905,666
o Actuarialloss . e T (581,600) 1,452,512
- Benefit payment o Lo (1,622 875) (1,414,468)

Projected benefit obligation - end of year ' 22,933,774 24,195 266

Change in plan assets:

Fair vaiue of plan assets - beginning of year 16,618,026 17.478,442
Actual return on plan assets o 1,712,609 (78,670)
Employer contributions - . 384,255 632,719
Benefit payments : (1,622,875) {1,414,465)

Fair value of plan assets - end of year o - 17,002,015 16,618,026

Funded status - end of year, and noncurrent liability
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets ‘ $ (5,841,759 $ (7,677.240)

The accumulated benefit abligation as of April 30, 2017 and 2016 was $22,933,774 and
$24,195,266, respectively,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 16 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

- -Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of April 30, 2017 and 2018,
R not vet reflected in net periodic benefit cost, consist of;

Pension Benefits

T P 2017 2016
~Netloss™ . .0 e $ 7,774,754 $ 9,489,799
- Less defarfed tax benefit  ” ' (2,977,879) (3,801,891)

$ 4796,875 % 5667908

"‘Th@f hét"pario‘déc‘: cost (crédit) of the plan was $343,819 and ($52,455) for 2017 and 20186, |
respectively. These amounts  included the following reclassification adjustments of other
- comprehensive income:

e e 2017 2016
' Amortization of netgain. 3 605,980 $ 396,206

- The estimated gain that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive 10ss into net
- periodic benefit cost during 2018 is $461,000.

- The following table provides the weighted average actuarial assumptions at April 30, 2017 and |
L2016

Pension Benefits
2017 2016

. Weightéd%i\x&rég}é assumpt'ibns'uaed to determine
benefit obligations as of April 30: ‘
Discount rate _ 4.3% 4.0%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine
Net periodic benefit cost for years ended April 30:
Biscount rate ‘ 4.0% 4.0% -
Expected long-term return on plan assets ‘ 7.5% B.0%

During 2018, the Cooperative changed from the RP-2000 Mortality Table to the RP-2014
" Mortality Table, 1o better reflect current and expectad future mortality improvemeants.

Management determines the expected return on plan assets based on historical performance of
the plan's invesiments. Management compares thelr expected rate of retumn with other
companies to ensure that it Is in line with broad market expectations.

The plan holds investments in various equities and mutual funds covering a wide range of
investment opportunities. The various mutual funds are valued at fair vaiue based on guotad

market prices,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 16 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

- The fair values of the Cooperative’s pension plan assets at April 30, 2017 and - 2016,
. respectively, are as follows:

. April 30, 2017
Total Level 1 Level 2 lLeaveal 3

* Shares of registered investment
. Companiss (mutual funds)
~ Domestic equities % 4876876 $ 4878876 § - $ -
International equities ... 2,591,324 2,501 324 . -
" Real estate L 263,731 263,731 - -
. Fixed incomé ...~ ... 7781875 7,781,875 T -
- Commodities - .. 273008 273,008 - : -
- Hedgefunds .o - 933485 933485 - - - o
“Money market account. v 371,716 371716 S
| Total S8 17092015 3 17,0920156  § - 3 -
April 30, 2016

e Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

- Shares of registered investment

' Companies (mutual funds) ‘
. Domestic equites - '$. 5262887 $ 5262687 § - § .
- International equiies . . 2,712,910 2,712,910 - -
. Realestate . .. 343,233 343,233 - -
- Fixedincome . ... . 8568244 6,568,244 . .
Commodities -~ . - . 348,779 348,779 - -
Hedge funds 917,770 917,770 , - -
Money market account 464,403 464,403 ‘ - -
Total § 16,618,026 § 16618026 § - $ -

The investment policy guidelines outling risk tolerance, goals, permissible and prohibited
investments, and target investment allocations.

Risk tolerance as defined by the policy guidelines identify that historical capital market refurns
allow for the assumption of short run investment risks in favor of greater returns provided by
capital markets over the longer term.

Permissible investments as defined by the policy guidelines are individual securities, separate

accounts, mutual funds, trusts, private placements, partnerships, commingled funds, pooled
funds, contracts and other legally constituted means of buying and selling investments including
domestic equities, fixed income investments, cash equivalents, international equities, and real
astate.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 16 - RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED)

" Prohibited investments as defined by the policy guidelines are short sales, margin pufc‘:hames,
- securities lending, borrowings of plan assets, puschase of letter stock (restricted stock), oplions,
~futures, loans, investments requiring pledging of plan assets as collateral and any other

Coinvestment not oullingd as a permissible investment under the policy guidelines uniess

“authorized in writing by the committes.

. The current investment policy target mix is as follows:

CCasho e 2.50%
. Fixed income oo o 45.12%
U8 equiies . 28.62%
~ International equities -~ ' - 1512%
*Real estate e ‘ 1.62%
© Commodities. : - C1.62%
- Hedge funds . e o o - BAQ%

" Benefits expected to b paid in each of the next five fiscal years, and in the aggregaie for the
. five fiscal years thereafter, are as follows:

- Year Ending

AR 30, Amount
2018 $ 1,604,078
2019 ' 1,550,838
S o20200 - 1,496,923
Lor021 o | 1,517,490
L RORe - o ‘ 1,472,636
2023-2027 | 7,491,959

Defined Contribution Plans: The Cooperative maintains a 401(k) plan for all of its eligible
employees. The plan year is January 1 to Dacember 31, and allows eligible employees to defer

a partion of their compensation up to the maximum allowed by law ($18,000 in 2017 and 2016
with catch-up contributions of $6,000 in 2017 and 2016 for age 50 and older). The plan aliows
for a 100% maich of the first 3% of an employee’s elective contribution and a 50% match of an
additional 2% of an employee’s elactive contribution. The Cooperative may make discretionary
matching and profit sharing contributions to the plan. The board of directors did not elect to
make either of these additional contributions for the vears ended April 30, 2017 and 2016.

The Cooperative also provides a deferred compensation plan for certain executive positions,
with defined terms and amounts.

For the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, total employer contributions made to these
defined contribution plans were §705,104 and $337,598, respectively.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 17 ~ COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
- . The Cooperative is currently engaged in several lawsuits.

“In 2005, two class-action lawsuits (Lewis v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization
".Corp. & Fisher v. Flue-Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corp.) were filed against the
- Cooperative in North Carolina Superior Court in Wake County, North Carolina seeking to
" dissolve the Cooperative and distribute its assels based on allegations that the Cooperative

has no valid business purpose following termination of the Federal Tobacco Loan Program,

- These lawsuits have since been consolidated into a single action. The claim for dissolution
“has been dropped. Plaintiffs are nonatheless still advancing claims seeking to force the

. Cooperative to distribute a substantial portion of its reserves. In February 2014, the North

- Carolina Superior Court (state trial court) issued an order certifying named plaintiffs as
©orepresentatives for a class consisting of all former and present members of the

. Cooperative from 1946 through 2004, plus heirs and assigns, resulting in members of this -

- certified class well in excess of 800,000. The North Carclina Superior Court’s order was
Caffirmed on appeal by the North Carolina Supreme Court in December 2016, The case is
. now proceeding before the trial court. The trial court has sef trial for September 2018, and
. the parties are now in the early stages of discovery. The Cooperative intends to continue

vigorously defending itself in this case. That said, as described below, the Cooperative -

- has conducted a two-day mediation in the paralle! class action hrought by an overlapping
" set of plaintiffs in federal court. The Cooperative has reached a provisional setttement to

- resolve the parallel class action litigation in federal court, which, if approved, may aid in

. defending against this state court action.

o In Qctober 2012, a civil, class-action lawsuit (Speaks v, United States Tobacco Cooperative Ing.)
.~ was filed against the Cooperative in the United States District Court for the Eastern District

- of North Carolina. Those plaintiffs seek to dissolve the Cooperative and distribute its assets

. to the Cooperative’s members based on allegations that the Cooperative no longer serves a

- valid business purpose following the termination of the Federal Tobacco Loan Program. In

" .-May 2017, the Cooperative participated in a two-day mediation with the Speaks plaintiffs,

which led to a provisichal agreement o settle the Speaks action. The Cooperative is in the
process of memorializing the terms of the settlement for presentation to the Federal Court for
preliminary and, eventually final approval. if the tentative setflement dogs not gain
acceptance, the Cooperative will continue to vigorausly defend itself in this case alongside
the others,

In May 2007, certain individual plaintiffs (all former members of the Cooperative)
representad by the same counsel filed a series of individual lawsuits against the
Cooperative in the Superior Court of Georgia in Berrien County, Georgia. The
presiding state court judge has stayed all cases while the lead case, Rigby v. Flue-
Cured Tobacco Cooperative Stabilization Corp. (in which seven individual plaintiffs, all former
members of the Cooperative, initially joined in filing suit), proceeded to final resoiution. In an
earlier round of the Rigby littgation, the trial judge sided with the Cooperative in dismissing
all claims. On a prior appeal, the Georgia Court of Appeals reversed in part by reinstating
two claims (one for breach of fiduciary duty and the other for potential recovery of attorney’s
fees in connection with that claim) for further merits proceedings, while otherwise affirming
dismissal of all other claims by the plaintiffs,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 17 -« COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

. Following the partial reversal and remand back 1o the trial court, the trial afforded the

- Cooperative discovery into the two remaining claims as well as opportunity to seek summary

judgment. The Cooperative then obtained that discovery, moved for summary judgment, and

- obtained summary judgment dismissing plaintiffs’ two remaining claims. On appeal, the

. Geargia Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s dismissal in November 2016. In June

- 2017, the Georgia Supreme Court denied the plaintiffs’ petition for ceriorari, thereby

-effectively ending the case. Now that the Rigby case has heen finally resolved in favor of the

.. Cooperalive, the Cooperative will be pursuing simitar dismissal of the parallel actions in
- Georgia that have been stayed.

nduly 2013, the Cooperative filed a lawsuit (US Tobacco Cooperative, st al v. Big South
Wholesale Virginia, et. al,,) in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of North
. Carolina. The Cooperative’s lawsuit states claims for RICO violations breach of contract,
-unfair trade practices, fraud in the inducement, fraud and other legal violations. The
sdefendants include the former Chalmman of the Board, two former executives, a former
"~ consultant, and several entities that they owned or controlied and unnamed co-conspirators.
- Bome of the defendants have filed counter-claims against the plaintiffs. Additionally, the
“Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau (TTB) is considering levying a civil tax |
- assessment against USFC for failing to pay excise taxes on certain cigarettes manufactured
. by USFGC in 2011-2013 which directly corresponds to the circumstances in the Big South
case. The TTB has not yet sought to levy an assessment and is aware of our Big South suit.
. The TTB and the Company are currently in negotiations as USFC is vigorously denying any
- liability. The judge presiding over the case, the Honorable James C. Fox, recently retired -
and was replaced by the Honorable Terrence W. Boyle. Judge Boyle held a status -
. conference on May 17, 2017 where he indicated he wouid make decisions quickly on
“several pending motions, including summary judgment. in the last several months, the facts
underlying this case and the government’s role in the allegations have been the subject of a
. series of articles in The New York Times and are now being investigated by the Committee
--on Qversight and Government Reform of the LS. House of Representatives and the U.8,
Senate's Committee on the Judiciary. Judge Boyle has indicated he would partially grant the
Cooperative’s motion to lift the current seal in the proceedings in this case which will allow
the press and Congress material access to the previously sealed pleadings and documents.

Ruring July 2009, the State of California {(California Board of Equalization — BOE) performed a
Cigarette and Tobacco Products tax audit of Franchise. During the audit period (June 2006
through June 2009), Franchise routinely soid both stamped and unstamped product into
California. Al the conclusion of the audit, Franchise was notified that California statutes
preciude Franchise from shipping unstamped product into California, which was in
contradiction of guidance the State of California had previously provided Franchise. The
Cooperative has recorded an accrued expense for $1,380,000 related 1o this ongoing
dispute. This dispute occurred prior to the Cooperative's acquisition of Franchise, but was
known and accourted for as part of that transaction.
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 17 -« COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

. On November 10, 2016, USTC filed suit against three (3) growers from South Carolina (US
“ Tobacco Cooperative Inc. v. Phillip Owens, Chad Owens, and Charles Cultino) in Wake
. County, North Carolina Superior Court alleging these growers sold muliiple bales of tobaceo to
CUSTC that were intentionally laced and/or nested with old, cigaretie-beetle infested tobacco, in
direct violation of their Marketing Agreements and as a result of which USTC incurred

T significant damages to mitigate the infestation. USTC seeks o collect $371,289 in out-of-

- pocket damages from the three defendants. The defendants deny that they sold old or infested
tobacco to USTC. USTC had the bales at issue inspected by a neutral 3 party at the USDA

- who issued a report concluding that the “bales appeared to have been prepared or arranged to

~conceal leaves of inferior grades, distinctly different stalk positions, beetle infested, carry-over-
crop year and condition (fermented), any of which could not have been readily detected upon

" inspection”, Written discovery has been exchanged and responded to by both sides, and the

- Court has issued a Case Management Order requiring the case be mediated by September 7,
-~ 2017 with the case to be set for trial on November 6, 2017 if not resolved.

On February 16, 2017, USTC and USFC filed sult against former USTC Chairman of the

- Board, Albert Johnson and others (LS Tobacco Cooperative inc. and US Flue-Cured Tobacco
v Growers, Inc. v. Albert M. Johnson, &, al.,) in Wake County, North Carolina Superior Court
“alleging that Mr. Johnson had abused his position as Chairman of the USTC Board of
- Directors to arrange for unauthorized, illegal, and secretive kick-backs to Mr. Johnson
“from the other defendants in the case. USTC and USFC seek damages relating to at least
- $424,322 in Kick-backs received by Mr. Johnson and intend to investigate via written
~discovery request, depositions, and subpoenas whether additional kick-backs and/or
- unauthorized payments were made to Mr, Johnson or the other defendants as a result of
- business dealings orchestrated by Mr. Johnson during his tenure as Chairman of the
. Board for USTC. All defendants have filed motions to dismiss the lawsuit. USTC and
S USKFC are in the process of responding to those motions 1o dismiss, and will subsequently

_send discovery requests and subpoenas to defendants seeking further information needed .

" to investigate and/or support the claims asserted against the defendants in this lawsuit,

USFC and Premier were also recently named as defendants in a suit filed in Miami,

Floricda by VIBO Corporation (VIBO Corporation, Inc. d/b/a General Tobacco v. U.S. Flue- .~

Cured Tobacco Growers, Inc., Premier Manufacturing, Inc., Hobart Anderson and
Unknown Unnamed Confidential Informant). The plaintiff has asserted two common law
claims against USFC and Premier for unjust enrichment and unfair competition. This suit
and the claims asserted arise from substantially the same facts underpinning the claim
against Big South Wholesale of Virginia, as described above, USFC and Premier remaved
the case to federal court and recently filed a motion to dismiss the claims against it.

The Cooperative is also party to legal actions arising in the ordinary course of its business.
Management asserted that these cases are without merit and will be defended vigorously.
While the results cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes it is not possible
to form an assessment of potential outcome or an estimate of liability, if any, and that the
final outcome of such legal actions will not have a material adverse effect on the
Cooperative’s financial position,
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 18 — BUSINESS CONCENTRATIONS

- Gustomer Concentrations

~ The Cooperative has one customer which accounts for over 10% of total sales and fotal
- accounts receivable. For the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016, sales to this customer

. customer's account balance accounted for 83% and 93% of total receivables, respectively.
'NOTE 19 - ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

- Accumulated other comprehiensive loss consisted of the following at April 30, 2017 and 2016:
April 30, 2017

Unrealized Gains

(Losses) on
Available-For-Sale Defined Benefit

‘ ‘ - Total Investments Pansion Plan
" Balance, beginnirig of year . §  (5,396,558) $ 271,350 $  (5667,908)
. Qther comprahensive incotme (loss) 54,937 (504,701) 569,638
", Reclassification adjustments L 390,347 78,9562 311,395
‘ Balance,endofyear - .. - §  (4,951274) 3 {154,399) $  {4,796,875)
April 30, 2016

Unraalized Gains
Available-For-3ale Defined Benefit

Total Investments Pension Plan
" ‘Balance; beginning of year - §  (4,118642) $ 123439  §  (4,242,081)
- Qther comprehensive Income (loss) {1,509,295) 143,471 (1,852,766)
Reclassification adjustments 231,379 4,440 226,939
Balance, end of year §  (5,396,558) % 271.350 § (5,887,908
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U.S. TOBACCO COOPERATIVE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
April 30, 2017 and 2016

NOTE 19 -« ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE L.OSS (CONTINUED) - -

- . The allocation on income tax benefit (expense) for each component of other c;ompmhenéivce
- income (loss) was as follows for the years ended April 30, 2017 and 2016.

April 30, 2017

Tax
Before-tax (Expense) Neat-of tax
Amount Benefit Amount

Available-for-sale investments
~ Unrealized holding losses arising during the year § (827,379) & 322878 % (504,701)
. Add reclassification adjustrment for losses included ‘

in net margin - other revente, net 129,430 {50,478) 78,952

o Defined benefit pension plan

Net gain arising during the year ‘ 1,089,085 (528 ,427) 559,638
- Add reclassification adjustment for amortization of

" net gain on pension included in net margin - - ‘

... selling, general, and administrative expenses . 605,930 . (204 535) 311,395

$ 997006  § (551812) § 445284

April 30, 2016

Tax
Before-tax (Expense) Net-of tax
L e Amacunt Benefit Amount
' Available-for-sale investments .- S
- Unrealized holding gains arising during the year $ 250,482 $ (107,011)  $ 143471
. Add reclassification adjustment for losses included
‘ in het margin - other revenue, net 7,751 {3,311) 4,440
. Defined benefit pension plan _
. Net loss arising during the year . (2,885,509) 1,232,743 (1,652,768)

Add reclassification adjustment for amortization of
net gain on pension included in net margin -
selling, general, and administrative expenses 398,206 (188.2687) 228,938
$(2231,070) $ 953154 $(1,277,916)

NOTE 20 ~ SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management evaiuated and noted no additional subsequent events requiring recagnition or
disclosure through July 11, 2017, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were
available 10 be issued.

This information is an integral part of the accompanying consclidated financial statements.
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NORTH CAROLINA IN THE GENERAL COURT OF JUSTICE
WAKE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

KAY W. FISHER, ORVILLE WIGGINS,
DALE C. BONE, THOMAS N. RHOAD,
LINWOOD SCOTT, JR., ROBERT C.
BOYETTE, RICHARD RENEGAR, AND
KENDALL HILL AND OTHER SIMILARLY
SITUATED,

Plaintiffs,

V.
NO. 05-Cvs-1938
FLUE-CURED TOBACCO STABILIZATION
CORPORATION, KEITH BEAVERS,
MCDANIEL WYNNE, BRUCE L. FLYE,
RICHARD J. JENKS, CLAUDE B.
FRENCH, AND ANDREW Q. SHEPARD,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF

PENDER SHARP

LAW OFFICES OF SMITH, ANDERSON, BLOUNT, DORSETT,
MITCHELL & JERNIGAN, L.L.P.
2500 WACHOVIA CAPITOL CENTER
RALEIGH, NORTH CAROLINA

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2006
10:07 A.M.
VOLUME I

PAGES 1 THROUGH 293
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PENDER SHARP

ATTORNEYS OF RECORD PRESENT

C. ALAN RUNYAN, ESQ.
ATTORNEY FOR FISHER PLAINTIFFS
SPEIGHTS & RUNYAN
200 JACKSON AVENUE EAST
P.0. BOX 685
HAMPTON, SC 29924
(803) 943-4444
(803) 943-4599 (fax)
ARunyan@speightsrunyan.com

DONALD H. TUCKER, JR., ESQ.
JACKSON W. MOORE, ESQ.
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

SMITH, ANDERSON, BLOUNT, DORSETT, MITCHELL &
JERNIGAN, L.L.P.

2500 WACHOVIA CAPITAL CENTER
P.0. BOX 2611
RALEIGH, NC 27602-2611
(919) 821-1220
(919) 821-6800 (fax)
dtucker@smithlaw.com
jmoore@smithlaw.com
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PENDER SHARP

INDEX

REPORTER'S NOTE: This transcript may contain quoted
material. If so, such material 1is reproduced as read
or spoken.

EXAMINATION
DIRECT - by Mr. Tucker 5
CROSS - by Mr. Runyan 269
REDIRECT - by Mr. Tucker 273
ADJOURNMENT 289
REPORTER CERTIFICATE 292
EXHIBITS
NUMBER | IDENTIFIED
[1] website page of Fisher vs. Flue-Cured 89
Tobacco Stabilization Corporation
[2] "Dear Fellow Tobacco Farmers" letter 113
[3] November 29, 2004, letter from 148
Lioniel S. Edwards with attachment
[4] December 20, 2004, letter from 148
Lioniel S. Edwards with attachment
£5] Complaint 172
(6] Plaintiffs' Responses to Defendants' 172

First Interrogatories and First Request
for Production
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Court Reporters
5813 Shawood Drive
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PENDER SHARP 4

STIPULATIONS

Pursuant to notice and/or consent of the parties,
the deposition hereon captioned was conducted at the
time and location indicated and was conducted before
Ranae McDermott, Notary Public in and for the County of
wake, Sstate of North Carolina at large.

Notice and/or defect in notice of time,.p1ace,
purpose and method of taking the deposition was waived.
Formalities with regard to sealing and filing the
deposition were waived and it is stipulated that the
original transcript, upon being certified by the
undersigned court reporter, shall be made available for
use in accordance with the applicable rules as amended.

It was stipulated that objections to questions
and motions to strike answers are reserved until the
testimony, or any part thereof, is offered for
evidence, except that objection to the form of any
question shall be noted herein at the time of the
taking of the testimony, and that objections based on
questions calling for privileged information or work
product may be made and the witness may defer answer
until he or she may be instructed to answer by the
Court after motion to compel by the questioning party.

Reading and signing of the deposition was

requested by the witness.

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
court Reporters
5813 Shawood Drive
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PENDER SHARP

1 PROCEEDTINGS

2 ‘Whereupon, PENDER SHARP, was

3 called as a witness, duly sworn,

4 and testified as follows:

5 Direct Examination 10:07 a.m.
6 BY MR. TUCKER:

7 Q. Mr. Sharp, my name is Don Tucker. I

8 represent Stabilization. Wwe've -- we've met before.
9 The purpose of the deposition today is to take your
10 sworn testimony on certain topics related to the
11 | Titigation against Stabilization.
12 I'm going to be asking you a series of

13 questions. The court reporter will take down my
14 questions and your answers, so I want to make sure
15 that you understand my question clearly before you
16 answer. If you don't, please ask me to rephrase it,
17 and I'11 do my best to do that.
18 A. Okay.
19 Q. And if you can answer with a yes or no
20 rather than a nod, just so she can get that down on
21 the transcript.
22 A. okay .

23 Q. If you need to take a break at any time,
24 Tet me know. Generally, I'11l take a break about
25 every hour or hour and 15 minutes. But if you need

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Ccourt Reporters
5813 shawood Drive
*Copy* Raleigh, NC 27609 (919) 847-5787
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PENDER SHARP 14

interest in Sharp Farms?

A. Because I wanted to at the time.

Q. Did you -- do you -- do you currently have
an interest in Sharp Farms, Inc.?

A. I do not.

Q. Have you ever had an interest in Sharp
Farms, Inc.?

A. I have not.

Q. Have you been involved in farming since you
relinquished your interest in Sharp Farms Partnership
sometime in the mid to late 1990s?

A I manage the farming operation for Sharp
Farms, Inc., and the properties for Sharp Farms,
Incorporated -- for Sharp Farms Partnership.

Q. How long have you managed the farming
operations for Sharp Farms, Inc.?

A. Since 1its origination in the mid to late
'90s.

Q. And before Sharp Farms, Inc., was formed,
did you manage the farming operations for Sharp Farms
Partnership?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Are you currently an employee of Sharp
Farms, Inc.?

A. Yes, I am.

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Court Reporters
5813 shawood Drive
*Copy* Raleigh, NC 27609 (919) 847-5787
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PENDER SHARP 15

Q. Are you employed as well by Sharp Farms
Partnership?

A. It has no employees.

Q. Okay. Tell me about the types of farming
activities that Sharp Farms Partnership was involved
in while it was still the farming operation and then
sort of take me through the transition to present.
And I understand presently that the farming

operations are limited to Sharp Farms, Inc.

A. That's correct.
Q. okay.
A. The general farming operation primarily

focused on flue-cured tobacco, also corn, wheat,
soybeans, sweet potatoes, some vegetable crops, and a
swine operation.

Q. okay. I'm not sure I asked you: who are
the shareholders of Sharp Farms, Inc.?

A. My father and my brother.

Q. Have they always been the only two
shareholders?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. How much tobacco quota did Sharp Farms,

Inc., hold or sharp Farms Partnership hold at the
time of the buyout, how many pounds of quota?

A. Probably around 60,000 pounds.

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Court Reporters
5813 shawood Drive
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PENDER SHARP

16

Q. How many acres of tobacco does Sharp Farms,

Inc., farm currently?

A. In 20067

Q. Yeah, 2006.
A. 300.

Q. 300.

And how about 20057

A. I don't remember. Probably 150.

Q. I'm just trying to get a sense for how the
size of the flue-cured tobacco operation has changed
over the Tast five or ten years.

A. Um-hum.

Q. Has it been in the range of 150 to 300
acres over that time period, or has it changed?

A. In the peak of the quota in 1997, I
distinctly remember we were growing 200 acres. And
then as the quota declined, our acreage declined.

Q. Right.

A. And now without the program, the acreage is
beginning to climb again.

Q. And is that because you're putting existing
acres under cultivation, or are you acquiring
additional tobacco farms?

A. Some of both.

Q. And how many acres total all crops does

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Court Reporters
5813 Shawood Drive

*Copy* - Raleigh, NC 27609 (919) 847-5787
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PENDER SHARP

17

Sharp Farms have under cultivation in 20067

A. Approximately 1,500.

Q. Okay. was that approximately the same in
20057

A. Yes.

Q. How many people does Sharp Farms have on

its payroll presently?
A. Approximately 12 full-time people and an

additional 20 part time.

Q. How about 1in 20057
A. Approximately the same.
Q. Have you ever individually been a member of

Stabilization?

A. Not individually.

Q. Has Sharp Farms or Sharp Farms, Inc., ever
been a member of stabilization?

A. Both have.

Q. Can you tell me when they first became
members? Let's start with Sharp Farms Partnership.

A Sharp Farms Partnership was formed when I
was in high school, which would have been in the late
'60s, and became members the first time they sold
tobacco.

Q. And when that happened in the late '60s,

what -- what was your role within the partnership?

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Court Reporte rs
5813 shawood Drive

*Copy™ Raleigh, NC 27609 (919) 847-5787
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PENDER SHARP 18

what were your responsibilities?

A. I was basically a laborer for the
partnership in those years.

Q. Would your father have been the person
responsible for decision-making and management of the
partnership?

A. Forty years ago, yes, sir.

Q. And do you recall the -- the
circumstances -- the actual circumstances of when
Sharp Farms became a member of Stabilization?

A. when Sharp Farms --

Q. When sharp Farms Partnership became a
member of Stabilization.

A. I do not.

Q. Do you recall whether Sharp Farms
Partnership received a certificate of stock in
Stabilization at the time it first became a member?

A. I'm certain it did, but I don't know.

Q. That would have -- that would be something
that your father would have been responsible for at
the time?

A. Right. Right.

Q. And to the extent that Sharp Farms
Partnership received any written communications or

information concerning membership issues at the time

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
Court Reporters
5813 Shawood Drive
*Copy* Raleigh, NC 27609 (919) 847-5787
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PENDER SHARP 27

Q. Is -- is your father still alive?
A. Yes, he is.
Q. Is he still actively involved in the

farming operation?

A. My father is 75 years old, and he -- he
enjoys going to the bank and he enjoys going to the
marketplace. And he picked up a golfing habit when
he turned 70.

Q. A what kind of habit?

A. A golfing habit. He never played until he
turned 70, and now he plays twice a week.

Q. It's an addictive habit. My father suffers
from the same addiction.

A.  Yeah.

Q. How about your brother; is he actively
involved in the farming operation?

A. He is. My brother manages the hog
operation and assists in the row crop operation.

Q. Are you familiar with the No-Net Cost Act?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. Can you explain to me generally how you
understood that program to operate?

A. The No-Net Cost program was to ensure that
the taxpayers did not have to subsidize the tobacco

program at any point in the future. And it was
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A Yes, sir.

Q. Going back to the No-Net Cost program, do
you know whether a profit was ever made on any of the
tobacco delivered to Stabilization during the era of
the No-Net Cost program?

A. Ask that again, please, sir.

Q. Yeah. Do you know -- maybe I need to
establish a little background first.

You understood that Stabilization was
responsible for processing and then selling loan
tobacco, tobacco that was placed under the Federal
Price Support Program?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And my question is: Do you know whether
any of the loan crops that were delivered to
Stabilization during the time of the No-Net Cost
program were resold for amounts above the CCC loan
amounts for a profit?

A. I do not know.

Q. Do you know mechanically how the No-Net
Cost Account operated; who was responsible for those

monies and how they were administered?

A. To some extent.

Q. Tell me what you know about that.

A. It was basically Stabilization's
9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
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responsibility to operate that with Commodity Credit.
Q. Do you remember that there was a -- a
No-Net Cost Fund initially and then Stabilization
transitioned to using the CCC's No-Net Cost Account?
A. Um-hum.
Q. How did you learn about that?
A. It became common knowledge back through the

years. You know, I think you're referring to '82, '3

and '4.
Q. There was a period of time --
A. Yeah.
Q. -- when Stabilization used something called

the No-Net Cost Fund, and then later it went to
something called the No-Net Cost Account.

A. It became public knowledge through the
years. The information was disseminated at meetings
and through the printed press about how that change
had come back.

Q. Do you remember generally being aware at
the time that there was a change made from how the
No-Net Cost assessment fees were being handled?

A. Yes. There was a change, and there was
$110 million left in that account originally.

Q. Tell me what you -- explain what you mean

about that.

9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
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A. In the '82, '3 and "4 in that account when
the transition was made, there was $110 million that

was supposed to be certificates issued on that.

Q. what's the source of your information about
that?

A. well, that was common knowledge throughout
the industry and -- and through the printed press at

the time back during the -- the late '80s and early
'90s.

Q. what was your understanding as to the
source of the $110 million?

A. It would have been a part of the change
from the No-Net Cost program, the -- the assessments
that we were paying in that were being maxed by the
companies.

Q. Do you remember when the companies first
began paying No-Net Cost fees?

A. The same year that we did.

Q. And you're not aware that the manufacturers
didn't begin paying No-Net Cost assessment fees until
approximately 19857

A. No, not exactly. Maybe the first year, we
paid 25 cents as a grower.

Q. Do you remember what -- you believe that

was the first year of the program?
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and that's what's left.

Q. what is -- what's the source of your
information about any monies that are currently 1in
Stabilization's accounts? Have you reviewed the
financial statements of Stabilization?

A. Yes. I looked at the financial statement
every year.

Q. And you're referring to the financial
statement that is included in the annual report
that's sent to members?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that identifies the amount of assets
that are maintained by Stabilization?

A. Um-hum.

Q. other than information provided in the
annual reports, do you have -- do you have any
information concerning the amount of Stabilization's
assets or liabilities?

A. No. I assumed that's all I needed.

Q. okay. 1I'm just trying to determine whether
you have access to any other information,
conversations with any Stabilization directors,
access to audited financial statements or any

information other than what's contained in the annual

report.
9/7/06 VIVIAN TILLEY & ASSOCIATES
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1 A. I've had conversations with -- with Jimmy
2 Hi11, the public director.

3 Q. okay.

4 A. Looking at the financial statement. I

5 assume the financial statement that Stabilization

6 prints is true and accurate in their annual report.
7 At least I -- I took it to be true and accurate.

8 over the -- the $110 million as a separate
9 Tine item, it's listed as an asset --
10 Q. Right. Right.
11 A. -- that belongs to Stabilization, just Tlike
12 buildings and everything else is listed as an asset
13 and the $26 million.
14 Q. Right. Do you know what the $26 million
15 relates to?
16 A. Yeah. That's money from '67 to '72 that
17 should have been sent out 30 years ago.
18 Q. Do you -- does Sharp Farms, Inc., have a
19 certificate of interest relating to any of the monies
20 from '67 through '727
21 A. Don't have any paperwork on it, but I'm
22 sure that Sharp Farms has got some.
23 Q. That would have been Sharp Farms
24 Partnership at the time?
25 A. Partnership.
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Q. You've never seen a certificate of interest
to Sharp Farms?

A. NO.

Q. Have you asked your father about that?

A. No, I have not.

Q. Have you reviewed the records to see
whether or not Sharp Farms holds a certificate of
interest?

A. No. I've just said I've never seen one. I
don't know that we have one. But no doubt during
those years we were putting tobacco under loan with
Stabilization.

Q. And I'm really just trying to determine
whether or not you've made any effort to go back and
see if there is a certificate somewhere that relates
to the tobacco from those years.

A. Stabilization's got those records.

Q. Have you ever asked anyone at Stabilization
to check its records and determine --

A. I have not.

Q. -- determined whether Sharp Farms
Partnership has a certificate of interest?

A. I have not.

Q. You mentioned that you had reviewed or

discussed the financial statements with Jimmy Hill.
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PENDER SHARP 60

crops? Do you have any information about that?

A. why they retained that?

Q. Um-hum. Um-hum. Rather than distributing
it.

A. I Cannot imagine why they did not
distribute that.

Q. Do you -- do you recall discussion about
the reasons in any of the newsletters or annual
reports that you received or that Sharp Farms may
have received in that time period?

A. Bruce Flye's comment to me was several
years ago over the $26 million, "why send it out,
because most of those people are dead? It would go
into the escheats fund. You couldn't get it to the
people.”" That's a lame excuse 30 years later. It
could have been sent out 30 years ago to the people
that it belonged to.

Q. And you're aware that a portion of the
profits from the '67 through '72 crops were
distributed to farmers, correct? Or let me ask it a
different way.

Were you aware that 60 percent of the

profits on those crop years had been distributed to

farmers?
A. I was not.
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Q. okay. So you weren't aware that the $26
million represents 40 percent of the profits from
those 'years that was retained by Stabilization as a
reserve?

A. A11T I know is they still got $26 million
that belongs to somebody else.

Q. Do you -- are -- are you -- have you ever
read the bylaws of Stabilization?

A. I think I probably have over time.

Q. Were you aware that Stabilization's
articles and bylaws authorize the board of directors
to retain money as reserves for the operation of the
cooperative?

A. I would suspect that's true.

Q. Let's go back to the first meeting that you
had with Mr. williams and Mr. Runyan, just to make
sure I have my chronology right.

You had a conversation with a minister that
you knew independently. He mentioned that his
nephew, Charles williams, was a lawyer --

A. Um-hum.

Q. -- and was involved in some 1litigation
involving the burley co-op in Kentucky, correct?

A. Um-hum.

Q. And did -- did he tell you that
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Mr. williams would like to meet with you or did you
request a meeting with Mr. williams? How did that
come about?

A. He said, "He's coming to my house to visit
and I thought he might 1like to meet you."
| Q. okay. So then -- then the minister invited
you to his home for a meeting with Mr. williams?

A. Yes.

Q And did you -- did you attend that meeting?

A. Yes, I did.

Q Do you remember when that meeting occurred?

A Sometime around December '04.

Q. okay. who -- who was present for that
meeting?

A. Mr. williams. Neither the minister nor his
wife stayed in there. She had prepared a -- drinks
and cookies and everything and -- but they didn't
stay out on the patio with us. It was the first time
I had met him. And I had invited several tobacco
growers to go with me.

Q. Do you remember the names of the growers
who accompanied you to that meeting?

A. I know Jerome vick went, Sonny Scott. I
don't remember the others.

Q. Do you recall that there were other farmers
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